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With our commitment to preserving the environment and all of its natural resources,
this report is printed with soy ink on paper certified to the FSC standards.

100 Best companies to Work For and the Most 
admired company in the lodging industry
FORTUNE®

World’s Most ethical companies
ethisphere institute

Member company
Financial Times and London Stock Exchange  
4 Good Index 

Best places to Work
Human rights campaign

top 50 companies for Women 
national association for Female executives

World’s Best Multinational Workplace
Great places to Work institute®

50 top employers for college Grads
Bloomberg Businessweek 

2011 awards and recognition

100 Best companies Hall of Fame and Best companies 
for Hourly Workers
Working Mother

informationWeek 500, Marriott among top  
technology innovators
InformationWeek 

Highest ranked hospitality company
climate counts

50 Best companies for latinas
LATINA Style 

top 50 companies for Diversity
DiversityInc 

Marriott rewards — program of the Year
Frequent traveler awards
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Bethesda, Maryland 20817
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Corporate Headquarters
Marriott International, Inc.
10400 Fernwood Road
Bethesda, MD 20817
301/380-3000
Internet: Marriott.com

Common stoCk Listings
The company’s Class A Common Stock 
(ticker symbol: MAR) is listed on the 
New York Stock Exchange and the 
Chicago Stock Exchange.

sHareHoLders of reCord
At January 27, 2012, there were 
333,866,753 shares of Class A  
Common Stock outstanding held  
by 42,086 shareholders of record.

investor reLations
For information, call: 301/380-6500
Internet: Marriott.com/investor

independent registered pubLiC  
aCCounting firm
Ernst & Young LLP
McLean, VA

annuaL meeting of sHareHoLders
May 4, 2012—10:30 a.m.
JW Marriott Hotel Washington, DC
1331 Pennsylvania Avenue, NW
Washington, DC 20004

registrar and transfer agent
Shareholder inquiries regarding stock 
transfers, dividend payments, address 
changes, enrollment in the company’s 
direct investment plan, lost stock  
certificates, or other stock account  
matters should be directed to:

Computershare Shareowner Services 
(formerly BNY Mellon Shareowner 
Services)
480 Washington Blvd., 29th Floor
Jersey City, NJ 07310
800/311-4816 (U.S. and Canada)
+1 201/680-6693 (International)
Internet: https://m1.melloninvestor.com/ 
mellonone/index.jsp

Corporate Information

internet users: We invite you to learn more about Marriott’s business and growth opportunities at Marriott.com/investor.  
Our investor site includes an electronic version of this report, investor presentations, earnings conference calls, press  
releases, SEC filings, company history, and information about the company’s governance and Board of Directors. You may  
also enroll in our dividend reinvestment plan.

Shareholders may also elect to receive notices of shareholder meetings, proxy materials and annual reports electronically through the 
Internet. If your shares are registered in your own name, and not in “street name” through a broker or other nominee, simply log in to 
the Internet site maintained by our transfer agent, Computershare Shareowner Services (formerly BNY Mellon Shareowner Services),  
at https://m1.melloninvestor.com/mellonone/index.jsp and the step-by-step instructions will prompt you through enrollment.

Common stoCk priCes and 
dividends(1)

   Cash
   Dividends
   Declared
 Stock Price Per
 High Low Share
2010
First quarter ..........  $31.24 $25.63 $0.0400
Second quarter ....  38.15 30.44 0.0400
Third quarter .........  36.39 28.94 0.0400
Fourth quarter ......  42.68 34.51 0.0875

2011
First quarter ..........  $42.78 $36.24 $0.0875
Second quarter ....  38.52 32.92 0.1000
Third quarter .........  37.90 25.92 0.1000
Fourth quarter ......  33.57 25.49 0.1000

(1) The range of prices of our common stock and 
cash dividends declared per share for each quar-
terly period within the last two years are shown 
in the table above and have not been adjusted 
for the impact of the spin-off. See Footnote 
17, “Spin-off,” of the Notes to our Financial 
Statements included in this Annual Report for 
additional information on the spin-off.

teLepHone numbers
For reservations or information, call:
AC Hotels by Marriott ..............  800/228-9290
Autograph Collection...............  877/829-2429
Bulgari Hotels & Resorts ......  800/6BULGARI
Courtyard .......................................  800/321-2211
EDITION ..........................................  800/466-9695
Fairfield Inn & Suites .................  800/228-2800
Grand Residences by 

Marriott ........................................  888/220-2058
JW Marriott ...................................  800/228-9290
Marriott ExecuStay ....................  888/340-2565
Marriott Executive  

Apartments ...............................  800/800-5744
Marriott Hotels & Resorts .......  800/228-9290
Marriott Vacation Club ............  866/300-3032
Renaissance Hotels ...................  800/468-3571
Residence Inn ...............................  800/331-3131
The Ritz-Carlton  

Destination Club ......................  800/941-4386
The Ritz-Carlton Hotel 

Company, L.L.C. .......................  800/241-3333
SpringHill Suites ..........................  888/287-9400
TownePlace Suites .....................  800/257-3000

Lodging deveLopment inquiries

antHonY Capuano
Executive Vice President and 
Chief Development Officer ....  301/380-4137

Laurent de kousemaeker
Chief Development Officer
Caribbean and  

Latin America ...........................  301/380-2340

CarLton ervin
Chief Development Officer
Europe ......................................... 41-44-723-5100

pauL foskeY
Chief Development Officer
Asia Pacific .................................. 852-2918-6230

tim grisius
Senior Vice President
Mixed Use Development ........  301/380-4137

Jean-marC grosfort
Chief Development Officer
Middle East and Africa ........ 33-1-4099-8792

riCHard Hoffman
Executive Vice President
Mergers, Acquisitions and 

Business Development ........  301/380-1670

eriC JaCobs
Chief Development Officer
Select-Service and  

Extended-Stay Brands .........  301/380-6066

sCott meLbY
Executive Vice President
Development, Planning  

and Feasibility ..........................  301/380-4137

kevin montano
Senior Vice President
EDITION 

Global Development .............  301/380-7588

noaH siLverman
Chief Development Officer
North America  

Full-Service Hotels .................  301/380-2372

internet
MarriottDevelopment.com

otHer information
Any shareholder who would like a copy of the company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for fiscal year 2011 may obtain one,  
without charge, by addressing a request to the  Secretary,  Marriott International, Inc., Department 52/862, 10400 Fernwood Road,  
Bethesda, MD 20817. The company’s copying costs will be charged if copies of exhibits to the Annual  Report on Form 10-K are  
requested. You may also obtain a copy of the Annual Report on Form 10-K for fiscal year 2011, including exhibits, from the  
company’s website at Marriott.com/investor, clicking on “SEC Filings.”

What’s in a name? For us, marriott represents the name of our founders and our 

CEO of the past 40 years — J.W. “Bill” Marriott, Jr. But the name marriott means 

so much more. It represents the standards of excellence and genuine hospitality 

that you’ll find in our 3,700 hotels in 73 countries and territories. The name is 

synonymous with the core values that have propelled our success and innovation 

for nearly 85 years. Values such as putting people first and serving our world. 

marriott is also about embracing change and investing in the future. In 2011, 

we welcomed major transitions in our company, as we announced the spin-off 

of our timeshare business as well as the third CEO in our company’s history. 

We remain marriott to our core. And for us, that means being the world’s best 

hospitality company to our guests, owners and franchisees, shareholders and our 

associates while remaining true to a purpose that we believe will deliver success:  

Opening Doors to a World of Opportunity. 

For more information go to http://www.marriott.com/marriott/aboutmarriott.mi

Marriott® to Our Core



A New Chapter in Marriott’s History

J.W. Marriott, Jr., Executive Chairman and Chairman of the Board arne M. SorenSon, President and Chief Executive Officer

BRAND NEW WORLD
2011 was a year of moving forward with new leadership 
and innovation for our brands while drawing upon 
our rich legacy. In November, we completed the 
spin-off of our timeshare business, resulting in two 
strong companies with solid core businesses and 
opportunities for growth. A month later, we announced 
that Bill Marriott was handing the chief executive 
officer responsibility to Arne Sorenson while continuing 
to serve as chairman of the board, effective March 31.  
Both of us have been preparing for this transition for  
some time, and Arne will continue to drive our 
company toward dramatic global growth, while 
remaining grounded in our heritage and core values.

Since our founding nearly 85 years ago, Marriott 
has never been as focused on its lodging management 
and franchise business as it is now. With the spin-off, 
Marriott Vacations Worldwide Corporation (NYSE: VAC)  
is now an independent, publicly traded company. 
Wall Street can better value both companies given 
their focus on distinct businesses — Marriott Vacations 
Worldwide on the vacation ownership business, and 
Marriott International on managing and franchising the 
best lodging products in the world. We believe this 

will foster growth and potentially attract new investors 
to both companies. We look forward to a mutually 
beneficial relationship for years to come.

While 2011 was a year of change, it also delivered 
strong performance across our company. Business 
travel rebounded, our meetings segment showed signs 
of strength, leisure demand grew during the year, and 
each of our 18 lodging and timeshare brands benefited 
from the economic recovery. Revenue Per Available 
Room (RevPAR) grew and we aggressively opened 
new hotels globally.

With our competitive advantages — strong brands, 
customer preference, a proven business model of 
managing and franchising hotels rather than owning 
them, and most importantly, outstanding associates 
worldwide — we feel confident that our business will 
perform well in 2012.

2011  PERFORMANCE HIGHLIGHTS
In 2011, reported revenue totaled more than $12 billion  
and diluted earnings per share totaled $0.55. Adjusted  
revenue was nearly $11 billion and adjusted diluted 
earnings per share totaled $1.31, a 28 percent increase 



VISION
TO be The #1 

hOSpITalITy COmpaNy

IN The wOrld

STRATEGY
Invest in our:

 Brands
Growth

Performance
People

SuccESS MEASuRES
Loyalty
Profitability
Growth

PuRPOSE
Open Doors to a 

World of  
Opportunity

VALuES
Put People First 
Pursue Excellence 
Embrace Change 
Act With Integrity 
Serve Our World

PuRPOSE

We Open Doors to a World of 
Opportunity for our:

peOple  
Personal and professional 
growth

CuSTOmerS  
Rewarding travel experiences

OwNerS & FraNChISeeS  
Profitable investments

INVeSTOrS  
Financial achievement 

buSINeSS allIaNCeS  
Collaboration with suppliers 
and other key relationships

COmmuNITIeS  
A more sustainable future  
in the places where we live 
and work

VALuES

Our enduring Core Values 
set us apart from the 
competition:

puT peOple FIrST  
Take care of associates  
and they will take care of  
the customers

purSue exCelleNCe  
Dedication to the customer 
through service excellence 

embraCe ChaNge  
Success is never final

aCT wITh INTegrITy  
How we do business is as 
important as the business 
we do

SerVe Our wOrld  
Our “spirit to serve®” makes 
our culture more vibrant, our 
business stronger, and the 
world a better place

STRATEGY

We have a four-part strategy  
to invest in our:

braNdS  
Brand differentiation and 
portfolio power

grOwTh  
Strategic global growth

perFOrmaNCe  
Peak performance to drive 
business value 

peOple  
Empowering our high-
performing team

SuccESS MEASuRES

Our vision is to be the 
#1 hospitality company 
in the world, leading on 
three success measures:

lOyalTy 

prOFITabIlITy 

grOwTh
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over the prior year. Total adjusted fee revenue 
increased 10 percent to more than $1.3 billion, 
reflecting the increase in worldwide RevPAR and  
unit growth. The adjustments reflect the timeshare 
spin-off and timeshare impairments, and certain  
other charges and tax items.1

With the spin-off of the timeshare business,  
the strengths of our core lodging management  
and franchise business will become more focused.  
Our adjusted pretax margin should increase and  
we expect return on invested capital to improve 
dramatically. Looking ahead, Marriott International  
will continue to benefit from the expected growth  
in Marriott Vacations Worldwide while we focus  
on growing the industry’s best lodging brand  
portfolio globally.

RevPAR for the company’s worldwide comparable 
systemwide properties increased 6.4 percent in 2011 
and average daily rates rose 3.4 percent. We saw  
rapid RevPAR growth in Asia and Latin America. In 
North America, a strengthening economy and modest 
industry supply growth pushed RevPAR higher. 
Approximately two-thirds of incentive management 
fees came from hotels outside North America.
Our balance sheet remains strong. At year-end our 
total debt was $2,171 million and our cash balances 
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totaled $102 million. We are proud of our investment-
grade credit rating.

glObal grOwTh
In 2011, we opened 210 properties with nearly  
32,000 new rooms around the world — including  
The Ritz-Carlton,® Dubai International Financial 
Centre; the JW Marriott® Indianapolis; the Courtyard 
by Marriott® Moscow Paveletskaya in Russia; the 
Residence Inn by Marriott® Manama Juffair in 
Bahrain — the first Residence Inn to open in the Middle 
East; the Renaissance® Baton Rouge Hotel in Louisiana, 
the first full-service hotel to be built there in more 
than 40 years; and 80 hotels flying our new AC Hotels 
by MarriottSM flag in Europe. At year-end, our lodging 
portfolio totaled 3,718 properties across 18 brands in  
73 countries and territories.

As we grow our portfolio around the world, we 
strive to attract local customers to our hotels, as  
well as international travelers. New hotel and brand 
development reflect robust in-country consumer 
research as part of our design and planning. We  
want to understand and represent local tastes,  
customs and traditions, even while meeting the  
quality standards defined by our global expertise  
in hotel design and development.

Residence Inn® Manama Juffair in Bahrain is the first of the brand in the Middle East. The property features a mix of 

spacious and stylish studios and one-, two- and three-bedroom suites. These rooms allow guests to relax, work, eat, 

and sleep in their suites, while maintaining their routines at their own pace when traveling.

For more information go to http://www.marriott.com/residence-inn/travel.mi

1  See page 96 for additional information on these adjustments, including reconciliations with reported results, our reasons for providing adjusted 
results, and limitations on their use.



Our development pipeline of hotels under 
construction, awaiting conversion or approved  
for development grew to more than 110,000  
rooms, including more than 52,000 rooms outside 
North America.

China, host to our 2012 Analyst Meeting in June, 
continues to be our largest market outside North 
America. We signed our 100th hotel there — the  
JW Marriott Hotel Shenyang. Our growing pipeline 
should allow us to open one new hotel a month in 
China for the next three years. China is an exciting 
market and we believe our products there beat the 
competition in design, style and service. In India, we 
expect to grow to about 100 hotels.

We are also focused on growth in Brazil, where we 
expect to build 50 environmentally sustainable Fairfield 
by MarriottSM hotels. And in Europe, we’re on track for 
80,000 rooms open or in the pipeline by 2015.

In the Middle East and Africa, we expect to double 
our portfolio to more than 70 hotels by 2016 adding 
hotels in places such as Iraq, Rwanda, and Ghana. We 
just announced what will be the tallest dedicated hotel 
building in the world, the JW Marriott Marquis Dubai, 
which is expected to open in the fourth quarter of 2012.

We continue to pursue management contracts in 
North America, such as the 1,175-room Washington 
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Recognized as one of the city’s greatest landmarks and hailed as the most romantic building in London, the  

St. Pancras Renaissance London Hotel, which opened in 2011, features beautifully restored architecture, art,  

design and décor. Travelers far and wide will be steeped in British history with every corner they turn.

Marriott Marquis set to open in 2014. And our 
franchisees continue to develop new hotels with our 
brands through both ground-up development and 
conversions from other brands. In fact, our pipeline 
includes over 50,000 rooms under development by 
franchisees in North America. As a result of their 
efforts and the strength of our brands, while overall 
industry supply growth remains modest, Marriott 
is taking market share with more rooms under 
construction in North America than any other brand  
in the industry.

reVeNue geNeraTION
Our industry-leading loyalty programs, website  
and reservation management systems lead the  
way in revenue generation.

In 2011, more than 38 million members of  
Marriott Rewards,® our award-winning guest loyalty 
program, and The Ritz-Carlton Rewards® booked  
half our total room nights. Marriott.com, one of the 
top 10 consumer sites in the world and the only hotel 
company listed, accounted for nearly $7 billion in 
Marriott’s annual property-level gross revenues in  
2011. Marriott.com is also the third largest mobile 
commerce site in the world based on sales, after 
Amazon.com® and Apple.®

For more information go to http://www.marriott.com/renaissance-hotel/travel.mi



J.W. Marriott, Jr.  
ExECuTIVE CHAIRMAN AND CHAIRMAN OF THE BOARD

Arne M. Sorenson  
PRESIDENT AND CHIEF ExECuTIVE OFFICER
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We also completed the reorganization of our 
lodging group into a continental structure. While we 
continue to leverage reservations, marketing and other 
systems on a global basis, each of our four continental 
divisions has its own leadership and operators. This 
puts us closer to our customers, aligns us better with 
our hotel owners, driving even better operating results 
and growth.

Marriott is a founding partner of RoomKey.com, 
a new lodging and lead generation website. With 
RoomKey.com, consumers can objectively compare 
hotel brands for a given destination and still earn loyalty 
points and other benefits — because RoomKey.com 
ultimately allows them to book directly with each hotel 
company’s website, such as Marriott.com.

Our dIVerSe braNd pOrTFOlIO
From urban centers to resorts, from lifestyle to long 
stays, our brands have something for everyone. We 
continue to invest in our brands so that they are always 
fresh, appealing and relevant, and continue to meet the 
needs of our guests and owners.

The Ritz-Carlton, Hong Kong opened in 2011 and 
dominates the skyline. Located at the top of the 
International Commerce Centre (ICC) in Hong Kong, 
the hotel is the pinnacle of luxury. It’s the newest 
addition to the brand’s growing global portfolio of  
78 properties.

The lifestyle segment has become increasingly 
important as guests desire unique travel experiences 
which reflect the local culture of their destination. 
Since its introduction in 2010, the Autograph Collection® 
has grown to approximately 30 upper upscale and 
independent hotels worldwide, including Scrub Island 
Resort, Spa & Marina in the British Virgin Islands.

We’re tremendously confident in the EDITION® 
brand, developed with lifestyle visionary Ian Schrager. 
Despite a slow start due to the economic downturn, 
we’re excited about the future of the brand, and  
expect to open five hotels on three continents by  
2015, including the famed Clock Tower building in  
New York City.

Courtyard, our largest brand with more than 900 
hotels in 36 countries outside the u.S., now has its 
Refreshing Business Lobby in more than half of its 
portfolio in North America. Offering comfort, function 
and opportunities to socialize, these refreshed Courtyard 
hotels are earning rave reviews and revenue premiums.

Marriott Hotels & Resorts announced a global 
pipeline of nearly 90 new properties to open by 
2015, representing a multi-billion dollar investment 
by owners and franchisees worldwide. Currently in 
nearly 60 countries, we are excited about our signature 
brand’s future.

gOldeN age OF TraVel
With the number of international arrivals having 
doubled in the past 20 years — expected to reach  
1 billion in 2012 — we are entering a new “Golden Age 
of Travel.” As the middle classes grow in places such 
as Brazil, China and India, the travel industry expects 
to create 100 million jobs globally in 2012 — and one 
American job is created for every 35 international 
visitors to the u.S. We’re enthusiastic about recent 
progress to attract more of the millions of international 
visitors to the u.S. by expediting the visa process.

We recognize it’s more important than ever to 
embrace the cultural differences of all our customers, 
so we can offer the warmest welcome to everyone. 
We strive to embed diversity and inclusion into our 
organization so it is integral to how we do business.

We are committed to building a more sustainable 
future. Marriott now has five brands with pre-certified 
LEED® (Leadership in Energy and Environmental 
Design) hotel prototypes, which saves our owners 
design and operational costs while conserving 
resources. We have multiple initiatives to reduce 
water and energy use, waste, and carbon emissions 
enterprise-wide.

A more sustainable future means creating more jobs 
and stronger communities. We plan to hire 60,000 
people globally this year. We have also launched our 
latest “World of Opportunity” initiative in the u.S. and 
in Europe to help young people from disadvantaged 
backgrounds reach their full potential by providing life 
and vocational skills.

marrIOTT ON The mOVe
“Marriott on the Move” — the name of Bill’s blog — is 
emblematic of how the company is always moving 
forward. Yet this is also a time of continuity and a  
time to remain true to what we’ve done best for nearly 
85 years: putting people first. With strong leadership 
and a record of innovation, we look forward to a 
successful 2012.

On behalf of our hotels and associates around the 
world, we invite you to stay with us. Safe travels.



Pictured left to right: Associates at the JW Marriott Hotel Shenzhen; guests enjoy the pool at the Aruba Marriott Resort & Stellaris® Casino;  

the lobby at the Miami Marriott Biscayne Bay; and a guest room at the Courtyard Mumbai International Airport.
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Leading Brands
With more than 3,700 properties and 18 brands in 73 countries and territories,  
Marriott International offers the most powerful brand portfolio in the world. 
Each brand has been designed to deliver a unique travel experience  
across a range of customer segments. We have a relentless focus on  
innovation and continue to reinvent and refresh our classic brands for our  
loyal customers, while introducing new brands to attract additional guests.
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For more information go to http://www.marriott.com/corporateinfo/glance.mi
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The Ritz-Carlton, Hong Kong  
welcomes guests into a sanctuary 
of refined ambiance and elegance. 
The hotel features six dining venues, 
including The Lounge and Bar 
(pictured), which features unrivaled 
views of Victoria Harbour.

For more information go to http://www.ritzcarlton.com
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Risk Factors.

Forward-Looking Statements 

We make forward-looking statements in Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of 
Operations and elsewhere in this report based on the beliefs and assumptions of our management and on information currently 
available to us. Forward-looking statements include information about our possible or assumed future results of operations, 
which follow under the headings “Business and Overview,” “Liquidity and Capital Resources,” and other statements 
throughout this report preceded by, followed by or that include the words “believes,” “expects,” “anticipates,” “intends,” 
“plans,” “estimates” or similar expressions.

Forward-looking statements are subject to a number of risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ 
materially from those we express in these forward-looking statements, including the risks and uncertainties described below 
and other factors we describe from time to time in our periodic filings with the SEC. We therefore caution you not to rely 
unduly on any forward-looking statements. The forward-looking statements in this report speak only as of the date of this 
report, and we undertake no obligation to update or revise any forward-looking statement, whether as a result of new 
information, future developments or otherwise.

Risks and Uncertainties 

We are subject to various risks that could have a negative effect on us or on our financial condition. You should 
understand that these risks could cause results to differ materially from those expressed in forward-looking statements 
contained in this report and in other Company communications. Because there is no way to determine in advance whether, or to 
what extent, any present uncertainty will ultimately impact our business, you should give equal weight to each of the following:

Our industry is highly competitive, which may impact our ability to compete successfully with other hotel properties for 
customers. We generally operate in markets that contain numerous competitors. Each of our hotel brands competes with major 
hotel chains in national and international venues and with independent companies in regional markets. Our ability to remain 
competitive and to attract and retain business and leisure travelers depends on our success in distinguishing the quality, value, 
and efficiency of our lodging products and services from those offered by others. If we cannot compete successfully in these 
areas, this could limit our operating margins, diminish our market share, and reduce our earnings.

General economic uncertainty and weak demand in the lodging industry could continue to impact our financial results 
and growth. Weak economic conditions in the United States, Europe and much of the rest of the world and the uncertainty over 
the duration of these conditions could continue to have a negative impact on the lodging industry. As a result of current 
economic conditions, we continue to experience weakened demand for our hotel rooms, particularly in some markets. Recent 
improvements in demand trends globally may not continue, and our future financial results and growth could be further harmed 
or constrained if the recovery stalls or conditions worsen.

Operational Risks

Premature termination of our management or franchise agreements could hurt our financial performance.  Our hotel 
management and franchise agreements may be subject to premature termination in certain circumstances, such as the 
bankruptcy of a hotel owner or franchisee, or a failure under some agreements to meet specified financial or performance 
criteria that are subject to the risks described in this section, which the Company fails or elects not to cure. A significant loss of 
agreements due to premature terminations could hurt our financial performance or our ability to grow our business.

Our lodging operations are subject to global, regional and national conditions. Because we conduct our business on a 
global platform, our activities are susceptible to changes in the performance of both global and regional economies. In recent 
years, our business has been hurt by decreases in travel resulting from weak economic conditions and the heightened travel 
security measures that have resulted from the threat of further terrorism. Our future economic performance could be similarly 
affected by the economic environment in each of the regions in which we operate, the resulting unknown pace of business 
travel, and the occurrence of any future incidents in those regions.

The growing significance of our operations outside of the United States also makes us increasingly susceptible to the 
risks of doing business internationally, which could lower our revenues, increase our costs, reduce our profits or disrupt our 
business. We currently operate or franchise hotels and resorts in 73 countries, and our operations outside the United States 
represented approximately 16 percent of our revenues in 2011. We expect that the international share of our total revenues will 
increase in future years. As a result, we are increasingly exposed to a number of challenges and risks associated with doing 
business outside the United States, including the following, any of which could reduce our revenues or profits, increase our 
costs, result in significant liabilities or sanctions or otherwise disrupt our business: (1) compliance with complex and changing 
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laws, regulations and policies of governments that may impact our operations, including foreign ownership restrictions, import 
and export controls, and trade restrictions; (2) compliance with laws that affect the activities of companies abroad including 
U.S. and other jurisdictions' anti-corruption laws, currency regulations and laws affecting dealings with certain nations; 
(3) limitations on our ability to repatriate non-U.S. earnings in a tax effective manner; (4) the difficulties involved in managing 
an organization doing business in many different countries; (5) uncertainties as to the enforceability of contract and intellectual 
property rights under local laws; (6) rapid changes in government policy, political or civil unrest, including in the Middle East, 
acts of terrorism or the threat of international boycotts or U.S. anti-boycott legislation; and (7) currency exchange rate 
fluctuations.

Our new programs and new branded products may not be successful. We cannot assure that our recently launched 
EDITION, Autograph Collection and AC Hotels by Marriott brands or any new programs or products we may launch in the 
future will be accepted by hotel owners, potential franchisees, or the traveling public or other customers. We also cannot be 
certain that we will recover the costs we incurred in developing the brands or any new programs or products, or that the brands 
or any new programs or products will be successful. In addition, some of our new brands involve or may involve cooperation 
and/or consultation with one or more third parties, including some shared control over product design and development, sales 
and marketing, and brand standards. Disagreements with these third parties could slow the development of these new brands 
and/or impair our ability to take actions we believe to be advisable for the success and profitability of such brands. 

Risks relating to natural or man-made disasters, contagious disease, terrorist activity, and war could reduce the demand 
for lodging, which may adversely affect our revenues. So called “Acts of God,” such as hurricanes, earthquakes, tsunamis, and 
other natural disasters, man-made disasters such as the recent oil spill in the Gulf of Mexico and, more recently, the aftermath 
of the earthquake and tsunami in Japan, and the spread of contagious diseases, such as H1N1 Flu, Avian Flu, and SARS, in 
locations where we own, manage or franchise significant properties, and areas of the world from which we draw a large number 
of customers could cause a decline in the level of business and leisure travel and reduce the demand for lodging. Actual or 
threatened war, terrorist activity, political unrest or civil strife, such as recent events in Egypt, Libya and Bahrain, and other 
geopolitical uncertainty could have a similar effect. Any one or more of these events may reduce the overall demand for hotel 
rooms and corporate apartments or limit the prices that we can obtain for them, both of which could adversely affect our 
profits.

Disagreements with the owners of the hotels that we manage or franchise may result in litigation or may delay 
implementation of product or service initiatives. Consistent with our focus on management and franchising, we own very few 
of our lodging properties. The nature of our responsibilities under our management agreements to manage each hotel and 
enforce the standards required for our brands under both management and franchise agreements may be subject to 
interpretation and will from time to time give rise to disagreements, which may include disagreements over the need for or 
payment for new product or service initiatives. Such disagreements may be more likely when hotel returns are weaker. We seek 
to resolve any disagreements in order to develop and maintain positive relations with current and potential hotel owners and 
joint venture partners but are not always able to do so. Failure to resolve such disagreements has resulted in litigation, and 
could do so in the future. If any such litigation results in a significant adverse judgment, settlement or court order, we could 
suffer significant losses, our profits could be reduced, or our future ability to operate our business could be constrained.

Our business depends on the quality and reputation of our brands, and any deterioration in the quality or reputation of 
these brands could have an adverse impact on our market share, reputation, business, financial condition or results of 
operations.  Events that may be beyond our control could affect the reputation of one or more of our properties or more 
generally impact the reputation of our brands.  If the reputation or perceived quality of our brands declines, our market share, 
reputation, business, financial condition or results of operations could be affected.

Actions by our franchisees and licensees could adversely affect our image and reputation.  We franchise and license 
many of our brand names and trademarks to third parties in connection with lodging, timeshare and residential services.  Under 
the terms of their agreements with us, our franchisees and licensees interact directly with customers and other third parties 
under our brand and trade names.  If these franchisees or licensees fail to maintain or act in accordance with applicable brand 
standards, experience operational problems, or project a brand image inconsistent with ours, our image and reputation could 
suffer.  Although our franchise and license agreements provide us with recourse and remedies in the event of a breach by the 
franchisee or licensee, including termination of the agreements under certain circumstances, pursuing any such recourse, 
remedy or termination could be expensive and time consuming.  In addition, while we believe that our contractual termination 
rights are strong, we cannot assure you that a court would ultimately enforce those rights in every instance.

Damage to, or losses involving, properties that we own, manage or franchise may not be covered by insurance. We have 
comprehensive property and liability insurance policies with coverage features and insured limits that we believe are 
customary. Market forces beyond our control may nonetheless limit the scope of the insurance coverage we can obtain or our 
ability to obtain coverage at reasonable rates. Certain types of losses, generally of a catastrophic nature, such as earthquakes, 
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hurricanes and floods, or terrorist acts, or liabilities that result from breaches in the security of our information systems may be 
uninsurable or too expensive to justify obtaining insurance. As a result, we may not be successful in obtaining insurance 
without increases in cost or decreases in coverage levels. In addition, in the event of a substantial loss, the insurance coverage 
we carry may not be sufficient to pay the full market value or replacement cost of our lost investment or that of hotel owners or 
in some cases could result in certain losses being totally uninsured. As a result, we could lose some or all of the capital we have 
invested in a property, as well as the anticipated future revenue from the property, and we could remain obligated for 
guarantees, debt, or other financial obligations related to the property.

Development and Financing Risks

While we are predominantly a manager and franchisor of hotel properties, our hotel owners depend on capital to buy, 
develop, and improve hotels, and our hotel owners may be unable to access capital when necessary. In order to fund new hotel 
investments, as well as refurbish and improve existing hotels, both the Company and current and potential hotel owners must 
periodically spend money. The availability of funds for new investments and improvement of existing hotels by our current and 
potential hotel owners depends in large measure on capital markets and liquidity factors, over which we can exert little control. 
Instability in the financial markets and the difficulty of obtaining financing on attractive terms, or at all, continues to constrain 
the capital markets for hotel and real estate investments. In addition, owners of existing hotels that we franchise or manage may 
have difficulty meeting required debt service payments or refinancing loans at maturity.

Our growth strategy depends upon third-party owners/operators, and future arrangements with these third parties may be 
less favorable. Our present growth strategy for development of additional lodging facilities entails entering into and 
maintaining various arrangements with property owners. The terms of our management agreements, franchise agreements, and 
leases for each of our lodging facilities are influenced by contract terms offered by our competitors, among other things. We 
cannot assure you that any of our current arrangements will continue or that we will be able to enter into future collaborations, 
renew agreements, or enter into new agreements in the future on terms that are as favorable to us as those that exist today.

Our ability to grow our management and franchise systems is subject to the range of risks associated with real estate 
investments. Our ability to sustain continued growth through management or franchise agreements for new hotels and the 
conversion of existing facilities to managed or franchised Marriott brands is affected, and may potentially be limited, by a 
variety of factors influencing real estate development generally. These include site availability, financing, planning, zoning and 
other local approvals, and other limitations that may be imposed by market and submarket factors, such as projected room 
occupancy, changes in growth in demand compared to projected supply, territorial restrictions in our management and franchise 
agreements, costs of construction, and anticipated room rate structure.

Our development activities expose us to project cost, completion, and resale risks. We develop new hotel and residential 
properties, and previously developed timeshare interval and fractional ownership properties, both directly and through 
partnerships, joint ventures, and other business structures with third parties. As demonstrated by the 2009 and 2011 impairment 
charges associated with our former Timeshare business, our ongoing involvement in the development of properties presents a 
number of risks, including that: (1) continued weakness in the capital markets may limit our ability, or that of third parties with 
whom we do business, to raise capital for completion of projects that have commenced or for development of future properties; 
(2) properties that we develop could become less attractive due to further decreases in demand for residential, increases in 
mortgage rates and/or decreases in mortgage availability, market absorption or oversupply, with the result that we may not be 
able to sell such properties for a profit or at the prices or selling pace we anticipate, potentially requiring additional changes in 
our pricing strategy that could result in further charges; (3) construction delays, cost overruns, lender financial defaults, or so 
called “Acts of God” such as earthquakes, hurricanes, floods or fires may increase overall project costs or result in project 
cancellations; and (4) we may be unable to recover development costs we incur for these projects that are not pursued to 
completion.

Development activities that involve our co-investment with third parties may result in disputes that could increase project 
costs, impair project operations, or increase project completion risks. Partnerships, joint ventures, and other business structures 
involving our co-investment with third parties generally include some form of shared control over the operations of the 
business and create additional risks, including the possibility that other investors in such ventures could become bankrupt or 
otherwise lack the financial resources to meet their obligations, or could have or develop business interests, policies or 
objectives that are inconsistent with ours. Although we actively seek to minimize such risks before investing in partnerships, 
joint ventures or similar structures, actions by another investor may present additional risks of project delay, increased project 
costs, or operational difficulties following project completion. Such disputes may also be more likely in the current difficult 
business environment.

Risks associated with development and sale of residential properties that are associated with our lodging properties or 
brands may reduce our profits. In certain hotel and timeshare projects we participate, through noncontrolling interests and/or 



5

licensing fees, in the development and sale of residential properties associated with our brands, including luxury residences and 
condominiums under our Ritz-Carlton and Marriott brands. Such projects pose additional risks beyond those generally 
associated with our lodging businesses, which may reduce our profits or compromise our brand equity, including the following:

• The continued weakness in residential real estate and demand generally will continue to reduce our profits and could 
result in losses on residential sales, increase our carrying costs due to a slower pace of sales than we anticipated, and 
could make it more difficult to convince future hotel development partners of the value added by our brands;

• Increases in interest rates, reductions in mortgage availability, or increases in the costs of residential ownership could 
prevent potential customers from buying residential products or reduce the prices they are willing to pay; and

• Residential construction may be subject to warranty and liability claims, and the costs of resolving such claims may be 
significant.

Technology, Information Protection, and Privacy Risks

A failure to keep pace with developments in technology could impair our operations or competitive position. The lodging 
industry continues to demand the use of sophisticated technology and systems, including those used for our reservation, 
revenue management and property management systems, our Marriott Rewards and The Ritz-Carlton Rewards programs, and 
technologies we make available to our guests. These technologies and systems must be refined, updated, and/or replaced with 
more advanced systems on a regular basis. If we are unable to do so as quickly as our competitors or within budgeted costs and 
time frames, our business could suffer. We also may not achieve the benefits that we anticipate from any new technology or 
system, and a failure to do so could result in higher than anticipated costs or could impair our operating results.

An increase in the use of third-party Internet services to book online hotel reservations could adversely impact our 
business. Some of our hotel rooms are booked through Internet travel intermediaries such as Expedia.com®, Travelocity.com®, 
and Orbitz.com®, as well as lesser-known online travel service providers. These intermediaries initially focused on leisure 
travel, but now also provide offerings for corporate travel and group meetings. Although Marriott’s Look No Further® Best 
Rate Guarantee has greatly reduced the ability of intermediaries to undercut the published rates at our hotels, intermediaries 
continue to use a variety of aggressive online marketing methods to attract customers, including the purchase, by certain 
companies, of trademarked online keywords such as “Marriott” from Internet search engines such as Google®, Bing® and 
Yahoo® to steer customers toward their websites (a practice currently being challenged by various trademark owners in federal 
court). Although Marriott has successfully limited these practices through contracts with key online intermediaries, the number 
of intermediaries and related companies that drive traffic to intermediaries’ websites is too large to permit us to eliminate this 
risk entirely. Our business and profitability could be harmed if online intermediaries succeed in significantly shifting loyalties 
from our lodging brands to their travel services, diverting bookings away from Marriott.com, or through their fees increasing 
the overall cost of Internet bookings for our hotels.

Failure to maintain the integrity of internal or customer data could result in faulty business decisions, operational 
inefficiencies, damage of reputation and/or subject us to costs, fines, or lawsuits. Our businesses require collection and 
retention of large volumes of internal and customer data, including credit card numbers and other personally identifiable 
information of our customers in various information systems that we maintain and in those maintained by third parties with 
whom we contract to provide services, including in areas such as human resources outsourcing, website hosting, and email 
marketing. We also maintain personally identifiable information about our employees. The integrity and protection of that 
customer, employee, and company data is critical to us. If that data is inaccurate or incomplete, we could make faulty decisions. 
Our customers and employees also have a high expectation that we and our service providers will adequately protect their 
personal information. The regulatory environment as well as the requirements imposed on us by the payment card industry 
surrounding information, security and privacy is also increasingly demanding, in both the United States and other jurisdictions 
in which we operate. Our systems may be unable to satisfy changing regulatory and payment card industry requirements and 
employee and customer expectations, or may require significant additional investments or time in order to do so. Our 
information systems and records, including those we maintain with our service providers, may be subject to security breaches, 
system failures, viruses, operator error or inadvertent releases of data. A significant theft, loss, or fraudulent use of customer, 
employee, or company data maintained by us or by a service provider could adversely impact our reputation and could result in 
remedial and other expenses, fines, or litigation. A breach in the security of our information systems or those of our service 
providers could lead to an interruption in the operation of our systems, resulting in operational inefficiencies and a loss of 
profits.

Early in 2011, we were notified by Epsilon, a marketing vendor used by the Company to manage customer emails, that an 
unauthorized third party gained access to a number of Epsilon’s accounts including the Company’s email list. Epsilon has stated 
that the unauthorized person(s) had access only to names and email addresses of the Company’s customers and did not have 
access to other customer information, such as physical addresses, loyalty program point balances, account logins and 
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passwords, credit card information or other personal data. We have informed our affected customers of the breach and that it 
may result in receiving unsolicited emails.

Changes in privacy law could adversely affect our ability to market our products effectively. We rely on a variety of direct 
marketing techniques, including email marketing, online advertising, and postal mailings. Any further restrictions in laws such 
as the CANSPAM Act, and various U.S. state laws, or new federal laws, regarding marketing and solicitation or international 
data protection laws that govern these activities could adversely affect the continuing effectiveness of email, online advertising, 
and postal mailing techniques and could force further changes in our marketing strategy. If this occurs, we may not be able to 
develop adequate alternative marketing strategies, which could impact the amount and timing of our sales of certain products. 
We also obtain access to potential customers from travel service providers or other companies with whom we have substantial 
relationships and market to some individuals on these lists directly or by including our marketing message in the other 
company’s marketing materials. If access to these lists was prohibited or otherwise restricted, our ability to develop new 
customers and introduce them to our products could be impaired.

Other Risks

Changes in tax and other laws and regulations could reduce our profits or increase our costs. Our businesses are subject 
to regulation under a wide variety of laws, regulations and policies in jurisdictions around the world. In response to the recent 
economic crisis and the recent recession, we anticipate that many of the jurisdictions in which we do business continue to 
review tax and other revenue raising laws, regulations and policies, and any resulting changes could impose new restrictions, 
costs or prohibitions on our current practices and reduce our profits. In particular, governments may revise tax laws, regulations 
or official interpretations in ways that could have a significant impact on us, including modifications that could reduce the 
profits that we can effectively realize from our non-U.S. operations, or that could require costly changes to those operations, or 
the way in which they are structured. For example, most U.S. company effective tax rates reflect the fact that income earned 
and reinvested outside the United States is generally taxed at local rates, which are often much lower than U.S. tax rates. If 
changes in tax laws, regulations or interpretations significantly increase the tax rates on non-U.S. income, our effective tax rate 
could increase and our profits could be reduced. If such increases resulted from our status as a U.S. company, those changes 
could place us at a disadvantage to our non-U.S. competitors if those competitors remain subject to lower local tax rates.

The spin-off could result in significant tax liability to us and our shareholders. Although we received  a private letter 
ruling from the IRS and an opinion from our tax counsel confirming that the distribution of Marriott Vacations Worldwide 
Corporation ("MVW") common stock will not result in the recognition, for U.S. federal income tax purposes, of income, gain 
or loss to us or our shareholders (except to the extent of cash received in lieu of fractional shares of MVW common stock), the 
private letter ruling and opinion that we received are subject to the continuing validity of any assumptions and representations 
reflected therein. In addition, an opinion from our tax counsel is not binding on the IRS or a court. Moreover, certain future 
events that may or may not be within our control, including certain extraordinary purchases of our stock or MVW's stock, could 
cause the distribution not to qualify as tax-free. Accordingly, the IRS could determine that the distribution of the MVW 
common stock is a taxable transaction and a court could agree with the IRS. If the distribution of the MVW common stock is 
determined to be taxable for U.S. federal income tax purposes, we and our shareholders who received shares of MVW common 
stock in the spin-off could incur significant tax liabilities. Under the tax sharing and indemnification agreement that we entered 
into with MVW, we are entitled to indemnification from MVW for certain taxes and related losses resulting from the failure of 
the distribution of MVW common stock to qualify as tax-free as a result of (i) any breach by MVW or its subsidiaries of the 
covenants regarding the preservation of the tax-free status of the distribution, (ii) certain acquisitions of equity securities or 
assets of MVW or its subsidiaries, and (iii) any breach by MVW or its subsidiaries of certain representations in the documents 
submitted to the IRS and the separation documents relating to the spin-off.  If, however, the distribution fails to qualify as a tax-
free transaction for reasons other than those specified in the indemnification provisions of the tax sharing and indemnification 
agreement, liability for any resulting taxes related to the distribution will be apportioned between us and MVW based on our 
relative fair market values.

The spin-off might not produce the cash tax benefits we anticipate. In connection with the spin-off, we completed an 
internal reorganization, which included transactions that have been structured in a manner that are expected to result, for U.S. 
federal income tax purposes, in our recognition of built-in losses in properties used in the North American and Luxury 
segments of the Timeshare division. The recognition of these built-in losses and corresponding tax deductions are expected to 
generate significant cash tax benefits for us. Although we received a private letter ruling from the IRS and an opinion from our 
tax counsel confirming that these built-in losses will be recognized and deducted by us, the private letter ruling and opinion that 
we received are subject to the continuing validity of any assumptions and representations reflected therein. Accordingly, the 
IRS could determine that the built-in losses should not be recognized or deductions for such losses should be disallowed and a 
court could agree with the IRS. If we are unable to deduct these losses for U.S. federal income tax purposes, and, instead, the 
tax basis of the properties that is attributable to the built-in losses is available to MVW and its subsidiaries, MVW has agreed, 
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pursuant to the tax sharing and indemnification agreement, to indemnify us for certain tax benefits that we otherwise would 
have recognized if we were able to deduct such losses. For additional information on the cash tax benefits anticipated, see the 
"Liquidity and Capital Resources" caption within Part II Item 7. "Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial 
Condition and Results of Operations" of this report. 

If we cannot attract and retain talented associates, our business could suffer. We compete with other companies both 
within and outside of our industry for talented personnel. If we cannot recruit, train, develop, and retain sufficient numbers of 
talented associates, we could experience increased associate turnover, decreased guest satisfaction, low morale, inefficiency, or 
internal control failures. Insufficient numbers of talented associates could also limit our ability to grow and expand our 
businesses.

Delaware law and our governing corporate documents contain, and our Board of Directors could implement, anti-
takeover provisions that could deter takeover attempts. Under the Delaware business combination statute, a stockholder 
holding 15 percent or more of our outstanding voting stock could not acquire us without Board of Director consent for at least 
three years after the date the stockholder first held 15 percent or more of the voting stock. Our governing corporate documents 
also, among other things, require supermajority votes in connection with mergers and similar transactions. In addition, our 
Board of Directors could, without stockholder approval, implement other anti-takeover defenses, such as a stockholder’s rights 
plan.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

BUSINESS AND OVERVIEW

Under numerous brand names in 73 countries and territories, we are a worldwide operator, franchisor, and licensor of 
hotels, corporate housing properties, and timeshare properties. We also develop, operate, and market residential properties and 
provide services to home/condominium owner associations.  At year-end 2011, our system was comprised of 3,718 properties 
(643,196 rooms). The figures in the preceding sentence include 32 home and condominium products (3,838 units) for which we 
manage the related owners’ associations. In addition, we provided 2,166 furnished corporate housing rental units, which are not 
included in the totals. At year-end 2011, our operations are grouped into four business segments: North American Full-Service 
Lodging, North American Limited-Service Lodging, International Lodging, and Luxury Lodging. 

On November 21, 2011 ("the spin-off date"), we completed a spin-off of our timeshare operations and timeshare 
development business through a special tax-free dividend to our shareholders of all of the issued and outstanding common 
stock of our wholly owned subsidiary Marriott Vacations Worldwide Corporation ("MVW"). In connection with the spin-off, 
we entered into several agreements with MVW, and, in some cases, certain of its subsidiaries, that govern our post-spin-off 
relationship with MVW, including a Separation and Distribution Agreement and two License Agreements for the use of 
Marriott and Ritz-Carlton marks and intellectual property. Under license agreements with us, MVW is both the exclusive 
developer and operator of timeshare, fractional, and related products under the Marriott brand and the exclusive developer of 
fractional and related products under The Ritz-Carlton brand. We receive license fees under  these license agreements.

Because of our significant continuing involvement in MVW future operations (by virtue of the license and other 
agreements between us and MVW), our former Timeshare segment's historical financial results prior to the spin-off date will 
continue to be included in our historical financial results as a component of continuing operations. Please see Footnote No. 17, 
“Spin-off,” of the Notes to our Financial Statements and “Part I, Item 1A – Risk Factors; Other Risks” for additional 
information. 

We earn base, incentive, and franchise fees based upon the terms of our management and franchise agreements. We earn 
revenues from the limited number of hotels we own or lease.  We also earn fees from credit card endorsements, the sale of 
branded residential real estate, and licensing the Marriott timeshare and fractional and Ritz-Carlton fractional brands to MVW.  
Prior to the spin-off of our Timeshare business, we also generated revenues from the following sources: (1) selling timeshare 
interval, fractional ownership, and residential properties; (2) operating the resorts and residential properties; (3) financing 
customer purchases of timesharing intervals; and (4) rentals, all of which we included in our Timeshare segment.

We sell residential real estate either in conjunction with luxury hotel development or on a stand-alone basis under The 
Ritz-Carlton brand (The Ritz-Carlton Residences). Residences are typically constructed and sold by third-party developers with 
limited amounts, if any, of our capital at risk. While the worldwide residential market is very large, the luxurious nature of our 
residential properties, the quality and exclusivity associated with our brands, and the hospitality services that we provide, all 
serve to make our residential properties distinctive.

Lodging 

Conditions for our lodging business improved in 2011 reflecting generally low supply growth, a more favorable 
economic climate in most developed markets around the world, albeit at a generally low growth rate, and stronger economic 
growth in emerging markets, strong unit growth, and the impact of operating efficiencies across our company. While economic 
growth in Europe slowed in the later part of 2011 and the level of economic growth is uncertain in the United States, we remain 
focused on doing the things that we do well; that is, selling rooms, taking care of our guests, and making sure we control our 
costs. In 2011, as compared to 2010, worldwide average daily rates increased 3.4 percent on a constant dollar basis to $133.26 
for comparable systemwide properties, with RevPAR increasing 6.4 percent to $92.69 and occupancy increasing 2.0 percentage 
points to 69.6 percent.

For properties in North America in 2011, markets in the West reflected strong demand, while properties in the East and 
South reflected more moderate demand. In Washington, D.C., a shorter Congressional calendar and government spending 
concerns reduced lodging demand. For properties in China and Brazil, demand was particularly strong during 2011, while for 
properties in Europe, demand was more moderate reflecting the financial crisis and related economic concerns. Demand at 
properties in the Middle East remained weak reflecting continued unrest in that region, and demand outside of the more 
metropolitan regions in Britain remained weak as a result of government austerity measures. While demand in Japan was weak 
in the first quarter of 2011 reflecting the impact of the aftermath of the earthquake and tsunami, domestic demand began to 
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improve in the 2011 second quarter and continued throughout the rest of 2011, but remained below 2010 levels. 

We monitor market conditions continuously and carefully price our rooms daily to meet individual hotel demand levels. 
We modify the mix of our business to increase revenue as demand changes. Demand for higher rated rooms improved in 2010 
and that improvement continued in 2011, which allowed us to reduce discounting and special offers for transient business. This 
mix improvement benefited average daily rates.

The hotels in our system serve both transient and group customers. Overall, business transient and leisure transient 
demand was strong in 2011, while group demand continues to improve. Group customers typically book rooms and meeting 
space with significant lead times, sometimes several years in advance of guest arrival. Typically, two-thirds of group business is 
booked prior to the year of arrival and one-third is booked in the year of arrival. During an economic recovery, group pricing 
tends to lag transient pricing due to the significant lead times for group bookings.  Group business booked in earlier periods at 
lower rates continues to roll off, and with improving group demand, is being replaced with bookings reflecting generally higher 
rates.

Negotiated corporate business (“special corporate business”) represented 14 percent of our full-service hotel room nights 
for 2011 in North America. We typically negotiate and fix room rates associated with special corporate business in advance of 
the year to which they apply, which limits our ability to raise these rates quickly. For 2012, we expect to complete negotiations 
with our special corporate business clients in the first quarter, and we expect rates to be higher than the prior year. In 
negotiating pricing for this segment of business, we do not focus strictly on volume, but instead carefully evaluate the 
relationship with our customers, including for example, stay patterns (day of week and season), locations of stays, non-room 
spend, and aggregate spend. 

Properties in our system continue to maintain very tight cost controls. Where appropriate for market conditions, we have 
maintained many of our 2009 property-level cost saving initiatives regarding menus and restaurant hours, room amenities, 
cross-training personnel, and utilizing personnel at multiple properties where feasible. We also control above-property costs, 
which we allocate to hotels, by remaining focused on systems, processing, and support areas. In addition, we continue to 
require (where legally permitted) or encourage employees to use their vacation time accrued during the year.

Our brands remain strong as a result of superior customer service with an emphasis on guest and associate satisfaction, 
the worldwide presence and quality of our brands, our Marriott Rewards and The Ritz-Carlton Rewards loyalty programs, a 
multichannel central reservations system, and desirable property amenities. We, along with owners and franchisees, continue to 
invest in our brands by means of new, refreshed, and reinvented properties, new room and public space designs, and enhanced 
amenities and technology offerings. We also remove hotels from our system that no longer meet our standards. We continue to 
enhance the appeal of our proprietary, information-rich, and easy-to-use website, Marriott.com, through functionality and 
service improvements, and we expect to continue capturing an increasing proportion of property-level reservations via this 
cost-efficient channel. 

We completed the roll out of our sales deployment strategy in 2011, which aligns our sales efforts around customer needs, 
reducing duplication of sales efforts, and enabling coverage for a larger number of accounts. We now have the systems, 
training, and incentives for sales associates to sell our represented hotels as a portfolio rather than solely on a hotel-by-hotel 
basis. Our largest properties continue to have sales staff assigned on property. In 2011, we also implemented innovative 
technology solutions, including our Retail Pricing Optimizer tool ("RPO") and our High Performance Pricing tool ("HPP"). 
RPO determines optimal transient retail (benchmark) rates for hotels using an analytically-driven and market-based 
methodology. We believe this technology provides a competitive advantage in pricing decisions, increases efficiency in analysis 
and decision making, and produces increased property level revenue for transient retail and associated segments. HPP enables 
hotels to more effectively manage the rate set up and modification processes using web-based functionality. The streamlined 
process provides for greater pricing flexibility, reduces time spent on rate program creation and maintenance, and increases the 
speed to market of new products and services. 

Our lodging business model involves managing and franchising hotels, rather than owning them. At year-end 2011, we 
operated 44 percent of the hotel rooms in our worldwide system under management agreements, our franchisees operated 53 
percent under franchise agreements, we owned or leased 2 percent, and 1 percent were operated or franchised through 
unconsolidated joint ventures. Our emphasis on long-term management contracts and franchising tends to provide more stable 
earnings in periods of economic softness, while the addition of new hotels to our system generates growth, typically with little 
or no investment by the company. This strategy has allowed substantial growth while reducing financial leverage and risk in a 
cyclical industry. In addition, we believe we increase our financial flexibility by reducing our capital investments and adopting 
a strategy of recycling the investments that we make.

We consider RevPAR, which we calculate by dividing room sales for comparable properties by room nights available to 
guests for the period, to be a meaningful indicator of our performance because it measures the period-over-period change in 
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room revenues for comparable properties. RevPAR may not be comparable to similarly titled measures, such as revenues. 
References to RevPAR throughout this report are in constant dollars, unless otherwise noted. Constant dollar statistics are 
calculated by applying exchange rates for the current period to the prior comparable period.

Company-operated house profit margin is the ratio of property-level gross operating profit (also known as house profit) to 
total property-level revenue. We consider house profit margin to be a meaningful indicator of our performance because this 
ratio measures our overall ability as the operator to produce property-level profits by generating sales and controlling the 
operating expenses over which we have the most direct control. House profit includes room, food and beverage, and other 
revenue and the related expenses including payroll and benefits expenses, as well as repairs and maintenance, utility, general 
and administrative, and sales and marketing expenses. House profit does not include the impact of management fees, furniture, 
fixtures and equipment replacement reserves, insurance, taxes, or other fixed expenses.

Timeshare 

As noted previously, on November 21, 2011, we completed a spin-off of our timeshare operations and timeshare 
development business through a special tax-free dividend to our shareholders of all of the issued and outstanding common 
stock of our wholly owned subsidiary MVW. 

In preparing our former Timeshare segment to operate as an independent, publicly traded company following the spin-off 
of the stock of MVW management assessed the Timeshare segment's intended use of excess undeveloped land and built 
inventory and the current market conditions for those assets. On September 8, 2011, management approved a plan for our 
former Timeshare segment to accelerate cash flow through the monetization of certain excess undeveloped land and excess 
built luxury inventory.  As a result, we recorded a pre-tax non-cash impairment charge of $324 million ($234 million after-tax) 
in our 2011 Income Statement under the "Timeshare strategy-impairment charges" caption. We discuss these charges in more 
detail under the caption "Timeshare Strategy-Impairment Charges" later in this Management's Discussion and Analysis section. 
Also see the "Timeshare" caption later in this Management's Discussion and Analysis section, for additional information on the 
results of operations.

CONSOLIDATED RESULTS

The following discussion presents an analysis of results of our operations for 2011, 2010, and 2009. The results for 2011 
include the results of the former Timeshare segment prior to the spin-off date while 2010 and 2009 included the former 
Timeshare segment for the entire fiscal year. See the Timeshare segment discussion later in this report for additional 
information.

Revenues 

2011 Compared to 2010

Revenues increased by $626 million (5 percent) to $12,317 million in 2011 from $11,691 million in 2010, as a result of 
higher: cost reimbursements revenue ($604 million); base management and franchise fees ($105 million); owned, leased, 
corporate housing, and other revenue ($37 million); and incentive management fees ($13 million (all from properties outside of 
North America)). These favorable variances were  partially offset by lower Timeshare sales and services revenue ($133 
million).

The increases in base management fees, to $602 million in 2011 from $562 million in 2010, and in franchise fees, to $506 
million in 2011 from $441 million in 2010, primarily reflected stronger RevPAR and, to a lesser extent, the impact of unit 
growth across the system and favorable foreign exchange rates. Base management fees in 2011 included $51 million associated 
with the timeshare business compared to $55 million in the prior year. Franchise fees in 2011 included $4 million associated 
with MVW license fees. The increase in incentive management fees from $182 million in 2010 to $195 million in 2011 
primarily reflected higher net property-level income resulting from higher property-level revenue and continued property-level 
cost controls and, to a lesser extent, new unit growth in international markets and favorable foreign exchange rates.

The increase in owned, leased, corporate housing, and other revenue, to $1,083 million in 2011, from $1,046 million in 
2010, reflected $21 million of higher total branding fees, $7 million of higher corporate housing revenue, $4 million of higher 
hotel agreement termination fees, and $3 million of higher other revenue. Combined branding fees associated with credit card 
endorsements and the sale of branded residential real estate by others totaled $99 million and $78 million in 2011 and 2010, 
respectively.

The decrease in Timeshare sales and services revenue to $1,088 million in 2011, from $1,221 million in 2010, primarily 
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reflected: (1) $49 million of lower development revenue which reflected the spin-off and, to a lesser extent, lower sales 
volumes, partially offset by favorable reportability primarily related to sales reserves recorded in 2010; (2) $45 million of lower 
financing revenue from lower interest income as a result of the transfer of the mortgage portfolio to MVW in conjunction with 
the spin-off as well as a lower mortgage portfolio balance prior to the spin-off date; (3) $32 million of lower other revenue, 
which primarily reflected the spin-off and lower resales revenue; and (4) $7 million of lower services revenue which reflected 
the spin-off, partially offset by increased rental occupancies and rates prior to the spin-off date. See “BUSINESS SEGMENTS: 
Timeshare” later in this report for additional information on our former Timeshare segment.

Cost reimbursements revenue represents reimbursements of costs incurred on behalf of managed and franchised 
properties and relates, predominantly, to payroll costs at managed properties where we are the employer. As we record cost 
reimbursements based upon costs incurred with no added markup, this revenue and related expense has no impact on either our 
operating income or net income. The increase in cost reimbursements revenue, to $8,843 million in 2011 from $8,239 million 
in 2010, reflected the impact of higher property-level demand and growth across the system.

2010 Compared to 2009
Revenues increased by $783 million (7 percent) to $11,691 million in 2010 from $10,908 million in 2009, as a result of 

higher: cost reimbursements revenue ($557 million); Timeshare sales and services revenue ($98 million); base management and 
franchise fees ($73 million); incentive management fees ($28 million (comprised of a $12 million increase for North America 
and a $16 million increase outside of North America)); and owned, leased, corporate housing, and other revenue ($27 million).

The increase in Timeshare sales and services revenue to $1,221 million in 2010, from $1,123 million in 2009, primarily 
reflected higher financing revenue due to higher interest income and to a lesser extent higher services revenue reflecting 
increased rental occupancy levels and rates. These favorable impacts were partially offset by lower development revenue 
reflecting lower sales volumes primarily associated with tough comparisons driven by sales promotions begun in 2009, a $20 
million increase in reserves (we now reserve for 100 percent of notes that are in default in addition to the reserve we record on 
notes not in default), and lower sales to new customers in our initial launch of the MVCD Program. See “BUSINESS 
SEGMENTS: Timeshare” later in this report for additional information on our Timeshare segment.

The increases in base management fees, to $562 million in 2010 from $530 million in 2009, and in franchise fees, to 
$441 million in 2010 from $400 million in 2009, primarily reflected stronger RevPAR and the impact of unit growth across the 
system. The increase in incentive management fees, to $182 million in 2010 from $154 million in 2009, primarily reflected 
higher property-level revenue and continued tight property-level cost controls that improved 2010 margins compared to 2009 
and, to a lesser extent, new unit growth.

The increase in owned, leased, corporate housing, and other revenue, to $1,046 million in 2010, from $1,019 million in 
2009, largely reflected $14 million of higher hotel agreement termination fees associated with six properties that exited our 
system, $8 million of higher branding fees, $6 million of higher revenue for owned and leased properties, and $5 million of 
higher other revenue. Partially offsetting these favorable variances was a one-time $6 million transaction cancellation fee 
received in 2009. The increase in owned and leased revenue primarily reflected increased RevPAR and occupancy levels. 
Combined branding fees associated with credit card endorsements and the sale of branded residential real estate totaled $78 
million and $70 million in 2010 and 2009, respectively.

The increase in cost reimbursements revenue, to $8,239 million in 2010 from $7,682 million in 2009, reflected the impact 
of growth across the system, partially offset by lower property-level costs in response to cost controls. Net of hotels exiting the 
system, we added 4,287 managed rooms and 17,024 franchised rooms to our system in 2010.

Timeshare Strategy-Impairment Charges

 2011 Charges

In preparing our former Timeshare segment to operate as an independent, publicly traded company following our spin-off 
of the stock of MVW (see Footnote No. 17, "Spin-off" for additional information), management assessed the Timeshare 
segment's intended use of excess undeveloped land and built inventory and the current market conditions for those assets. On 
September 8, 2011, management approved a plan for the Timeshare segment to accelerate cash flow through the monetization 
of certain excess undeveloped land in the U.S., Mexico, and the Bahamas over the next 18 to 24 months and to accelerate sales 
of excess built luxury fractional and residential inventory over the next three years.  As a result, in accordance with the 
guidance for accounting for the impairment or disposal of long-lived assets, because the nominal cash flows from the planned 
land sales and the estimated fair values of the land and excess built luxury inventory were less than their respective carrying 
values, we recorded a pre-tax non-cash impairment charge of $324 million ($234 million after-tax) in our 2011 Income 
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Statement under the “Timeshare strategy-impairment charges” caption. 

2009 Charges
In 2009 we recorded pretax charges totaling $752 million in our Income Statement ($502 million after-tax), including 

$614 million of pretax charges that impacted operating income under the “Timeshare strategy-impairment charges” caption, 
and $138 million of pretax charges that impacted non-operating income under the “Timeshare strategy-impairment charges 
(non-operating)” caption. The $752 million of pretax impairment charges were non-cash, other than $27 million of charges 
associated with ongoing mezzanine loan fundings and $21 million of charges for purchase commitments.

For additional information related to the 2009 and 2011 impairment charges, including how these impairments were 
determined, the impairment charges grouped by product type and/or geographic location, and a table showing the composition 
of the charges, see Footnote No. 18, “Timeshare Strategy - Impairment Charges.”

Restructuring Costs and Other Charges 
As part of the restructuring actions we began in 2008, we initiated further cost savings measures in 2009 associated with 

our former Timeshare segment, hotel development, above-property level management, and corporate overhead. These further 
measures resulted in additional restructuring costs of $51 million in 2009. For additional information on the 2009 restructuring 
costs, including the types of restructuring costs incurred in total and by segment, please see Footnote No. 21, “Restructuring 
Costs and Other Charges,” of the Notes to the Financial Statements in our 2009 Form 10-K. For the cumulative restructuring 
costs incurred since inception, please see Footnote No. 19, “Restructuring Costs and Other Charges,” of the Notes to our 
Financial Statements in this Annual Report.

As a result of our restructuring efforts, we realized the following annual cost savings in 2010 and 2009, respectively, 
which were primarily reflected in our Income Statement under the expense captions noted: (i) $113 million ($73 million after-
tax) and $80 million to $85 million ($48 million to $52 million after-tax) for our former Timeshare segment, under “Timeshare-
direct” and “General, administrative, and other”; (ii) $12 million ($8 million after-tax) and $9 million ($5 million after-tax) for 
hotel development across several of our Lodging segments, primarily under “General, administrative, and other”; and (iii) $10 
million ($8 million after-tax) and $8 million ($5 million after-tax) for reducing above property-level lodging management 
personnel under “General, administrative, and other.”

Operating Income (Loss)

2011 Compared to 2010

Operating income decreased by $169 million to $526 million in 2011 from $695 million in 2010. The decrease reflected 
Timeshare strategy-impairment charges of $324 million recorded in 2011 and $40 million of lower Timeshare sales and 
services revenue net of direct expenses, partially offset by a $105 million increase in base management and franchise fees, $49 
million of higher owned, leased, corporate housing, and other revenue net of direct expenses, a $28 million decrease in general, 
administrative, and other expenses, and $13 million of higher incentive management fees. We address the reasons for the 
increases in base management and franchise fees and in incentive management fees as compared to 2010 in the preceding 
“Revenues” section.

The $49 million (54 percent) increase in owned, leased, corporate housing, and other revenue net of direct expenses was 
primarily attributable to $21 million of higher branding fees, $15 million of net stronger results at some owned and leased 
properties due to higher RevPAR and property-level margins, $6 million of higher hotel agreement termination fees, net of 
2010 termination costs, $6 million of higher corporate housing and other revenue, net of expenses, and $5 million of decreased 
rent expense, partially offset by $4 million of lower results at a leased hotel in Japan that experienced lower demand as a result 
of the earthquake and tsunami earlier in the year.

General, administrative, and other expenses decreased by $28 million (4 percent) to $752 million in 2011 from $780 
million in 2010. The decrease primarily reflected favorable variances from the following items recorded in 2010: an $84 
million long-lived asset impairment charge associated with a capitalized revenue management software asset (which we did not 
allocate to any of our segments); a $13 million long-lived asset impairment charge (allocated to our former Timeshare 
segment); and a $14 million long-lived asset impairment charge (allocated to our North American Limited-Service segment).  
Also contributing to the decrease in expenses, was $9 million of lower former Timeshare segment expenses due to the spin-off 
and a $5 million reversal in 2011 of a loan loss provision related to one property with increased expected future cash flows. 
These favorable variances were partially offset by the following items recorded in 2011: $34 million of transaction-related 
expenses associated with the spin-off of the timeshare business; $17 million of higher compensation costs; $10 million of 
increased other expenses primarily associated with higher costs in international markets and initiatives to enhance and grow our 
brands globally, a $5 million impairment of contract acquisition costs and a $5 million accounts receivable reserve, both related 
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to one Luxury segment property whose owner filed for bankruptcy; a $5 million performance cure payment for a North 
American Full-Service property; and $7 million related to an increase in the guarantee reserves for one International and one 
North American Full-Service property, primarily due to cash flow shortfalls at the properties, and a $2 million write-off of 
contract acquisition costs associated with two other properties. Unfavorable variances from a $4 million reversal of excess 
accruals for net asset tax based on the receipt of final assessments from a taxing authority located outside the United States and 
a $6 million reversal of guarantee accruals, primarily related to a completion guarantee for which we satisfied the related 
requirements, both recorded in 2010, further offset the aforementioned favorable variances. 

The $28 million decrease in total general, administrative, and other expenses consisted of a $34 million decrease that we 
did not allocate to any of our segments; a $22 million decrease allocated to our former Timeshare segment; and a $12 million 
decrease allocated to our North American Limited-Service segment; partially offset by a $20 million increase allocated to our 
Luxury segment; a $15 million increase allocated to our International segment; and a $5 million increase allocated to our North 
American Full-Service segment.

Timeshare sales and services revenue net of direct expenses totaled $159 million in 2011 and $199 million in 2010. The 
decrease of $40 million as compared to 2010, primarily reflected $28 million of lower other revenue, net of expenses and $25 
million of lower financing revenue, net of expenses, partially offset by $8 million of higher development revenue net of product 
costs and marketing and selling costs and $5 million of higher services revenue, net of expenses. The $28 million decrease in 
other revenue, net of expenses primarily reflected a $15 million unfavorable variance from an adjustment to the Marriott 
Rewards liability in the prior year and, to a lesser extent in the current year reflected the impact of the spin-off as well as lower 
resales revenue, net of expenses due to lower closings. The $25 million decrease in financing revenue, net of expenses 
primarily reflected decreased interest income due to the spin-off as well as lower notes receivable balances prior to the spin-off 
date. Higher development revenue net of product costs and marketing and selling costs primarily reflected favorable 
reportability as well as a favorable variance from a net $12 million reserve in the prior year, partially offset by lower 2011 sales 
volumes as well as the impact of the spin-off. See “BUSINESS SEGMENTS: Timeshare,” later in this report for additional 
information on our former Timeshare segment prior to spin-off.

2010 Compared to 2009
Operating income increased by $847 million to operating income of $695 million in 2010 from an operating loss of $152 

million in 2009. The increase in operating income reflected a favorable variance of $614 million related to Timeshare strategy-
impairment charges recorded in 2009, $116 million of higher Timeshare sales and services revenue net of direct expenses, a 
$73 million increase in base management and franchise fees, a $51 million decrease in restructuring costs, $28 million of 
higher incentive management fees, and $23 million of higher owned, leased, corporate housing, and other revenue net of direct 
expenses, partially offset by a $58 million increase in general, administrative, and other expenses. We note the reasons for the 
increase of $73 million in base management and franchise fees as well as the increase of $28 million in incentive management 
fees as compared to 2009 in the preceding “Revenues” section.

Timeshare sales and services revenue net of direct expenses in 2010 totaled $199 million. The increase of $116 million as 
compared to 2009, primarily reflected $78 million of higher financing revenue, net of expenses, which largely reflected 
increased interest income associated with the impact of consolidating previously unconsolidated securitized notes under the 
new Transfers of Financial Assets and Consolidation standards, $33 million of higher development revenue net of product costs 
and marketing and selling costs, and $8 million of higher other revenue, net of expenses partially offset by $3 million of lower 
services revenue net of expenses. Higher development revenue net of product costs and marketing and selling costs primarily 
reflected both lower product costs due to lower sales volumes and lower marketing and selling costs in 2010, as well as 
favorable variances from both a $10 million charge related to an issue with a state tax authority and a net $3 million impact 
from contract cancellation allowances in 2009, partially offset by lower development revenue for the reasons stated in the 
preceding “Revenues” section. See “BUSINESS SEGMENTS: Timeshare,” later in this report for additional information on our 
former Timeshare segment prior to spin-off.

The $23 million (34 percent) increase in owned, leased, corporate housing, and other revenue net of direct expenses was 
primarily attributable to $12 million of higher hotel agreement termination fees net of property closing costs, $8 million of 
higher branding fees, a $4 million reversal of a liability related to a hotel that closed in 2010, and net stronger results at some 
owned and leased properties due to higher RevPAR and property-level margins, partially offset by additional rent expense 
associated with one property and an unfavorable variance from a one-time $6 million transaction cancellation fee received in 
2009.

General, administrative, and other expenses increased by $58 million (8 percent) to $780 million in 2010 from $722 
million in 2009. The increase primarily reflected the following 2010 charges: an $84 million long-lived asset impairment 
charge associated with a capitalized revenue management software asset (which we did not allocate to any of our segments); a 
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$13 million long-lived asset impairment charge (allocated to our former Timeshare segment); and a $14 million long-lived asset 
impairment charge (allocated to our North American Limited-Service segment). See Footnote No. 7, “Property and 
Equipment,” of the Notes to our Financial Statements for additional information on these three impairment charges. In addition, 
we recorded a $4 million contract acquisition cost impairment charge (allocated to our North American Full-Service segment) 
in 2010. See the North American Full-Service segment discussion for additional information on this impairment charge. Also 
contributing to the year-over-year increase was $35 million of higher compensation costs, $14 million of increased other 
expenses primarily associated with initiatives to enhance our brands globally, $7 million of increased currency exchange losses, 
and $2 million of increased legal expenses. These unfavorable variances were partially offset by an $8 million reversal in 2010 
of guarantee accruals, primarily related to a completion guarantee for which we satisfied the related requirements, and a $4 
million reversal of excess accruals for net asset tax based on the receipt of final assessments from a taxing authority located 
outside the United States. In addition, the comparison reflects the following 2009 expenses that we did not incur in 2010: $49 
million of impairment charges related to two security deposits that we deemed unrecoverable in 2009 due, in part, to our 
decision not to fund certain cash flow shortfalls, partially offset by an $11 million reversal of the 2008 accrual for the funding 
of those cash flow shortfalls; a $7 million write-off of Timeshare segment capitalized software costs; and $4 million of bad debt 
expense on an accounts receivable balance. The year-over-year comparison also reflected a $15 million favorable variance in 
deferred compensation expenses (with changes to our deferred compensation plan, general, administrative, and other expenses 
for 2010 had no deferred compensation impact, compared with $15 million of mark-to-market valuation expenses in 2009). The 
increase in general, administrative, and other expenses was also partially offset by the elimination of the loan loss provision in 
2010, compared with a $43 million provision in 2009, which reflected $29 million associated with one Luxury segment project 
and $14 million associated with a North American Limited-Service segment portfolio.

The $58 million increase in total general, administrative, and other expenses was comprised of: a $77 million increase 
that we did not allocate to any of our segments; a $5 million increase allocated to our former Timeshare segment; an $8 million 
decrease allocated to our North American Limited-Service segment; an $8 million decrease allocated to our Luxury segment; a 
$7 million decrease allocated to our North American Full-Service segment; and a $1 million decrease allocated to our 
International segment.

(Losses) Gains and Other Income (Expense)

We show our (losses) gains and other income for 2011, 2010, and 2009 in the following table: 

 

($ in millions)
Gain on debt extinguishment
Gains on sales of real estate and other
Gain/(loss) on sale of joint venture and other investments
Income from cost method joint ventures
Impairment of equity securities

2011
$ —

11
$ —

—
(18)

$ (7)

2010
$ —

34
$ 1

—
—

$ 35

2009
$ 21

10
$ 3

2
(5)

$ 31

2011 Compared to 2010

The $23 million decrease in gains on sales of real estate and other primarily reflected an unfavorable variance from an 
$18 million gain on the sale of one Timeshare segment property in 2010. The $18 million impairment of equity securities in 
2011 reflects an other-than-temporary impairment of marketable securities. For additional information on the impairment, see 
Footnote No. 4, “Fair Value of Financial Instruments.”  

2010 Compared to 2009

We did not extinguish any debt in 2010. In 2009, we repurchased $122 million principal amount of our Senior Notes in 
the open market, across multiple series. The $21 million gain on debt extinguishment in 2009 represents the difference between 
the $98 million purchase price and the $119 million net carrying amount of Senior Notes we repurchased during the period. The 
$5 million impairment of equity securities in 2009 reflected an other-than-temporary impairment of marketable securities in 
accordance with the guidance for accounting for certain investments in debt and equity securities. For additional information on 
the impairment, see Footnote No. 5, “Fair Value Measurements,” of the Notes to the Financial Statements in our 2009 Form  
10-K.
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Interest Expense

2011 Compared to 2010

Interest expense decreased by $16 million (9 percent) to $164 million in 2011 compared to $180 million in 2010. This 
decrease was primarily driven by: (1) a $12 million decrease in interest expense on securitized notes, which reflected the 
transfer of these notes to MVW on the spin-off date, as well as a lower average outstanding balance and a lower average 
interest rate on those notes prior to the spin-off date; (2) a $2 million increase in capitalized interest associated with 
construction projects; and (3) a $1 million decrease in interest expense associated with our revolving credit facility and 
commercial paper program, which reflected lower interest rates.  See the “LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES” caption 
later in this report for additional information on our credit facility.

2010 Compared to 2009

Interest expense increased by $62 million (53 percent) to $180 million in 2010 compared to $118 million in 2009. This 
increase was driven by: (1) the consolidation of $1,121 million of debt in the 2010 first quarter associated with previously 
securitized notes, which resulted in a $55 million increase in interest expense in 2010 related to that debt; (2) a $14 million 
unfavorable variance from 2009 as a result of lower capitalized interest in 2010 associated with construction projects; and 
(3) $12 million of higher interest expense in 2010 associated with our executive deferred compensation plan. These increases 
were partially offset by: (1) $12 million of lower interest expense associated with our repurchase of $122 million of principal 
amount of our Senior Notes in 2009, the maturity of our Series C Senior Notes in the 2009 fourth quarter and other net debt 
reductions; and (2) a $7 million decrease in interest expense associated with our previous $2.4 billion multicurrency revolving 
credit facility, which primarily reflected lower average borrowings.

Interest Income and Income Tax

2011 Compared to 2010

Interest income decreased by $5 million (26 percent) to $14 million in 2011 compared to $19 million in 2010, primarily 
reflecting a $3 million decrease associated with the repayment of certain loans. 

Our tax provision increased by $65 million (70 percent) to a tax provision of $158 million in 2011 from a tax provision of 
$93 million in 2010. The increase was primarily due to an unfavorable variance related to a prior year IRS settlement on the 
treatment of funds received from certain non-U.S. subsidiaries that resulted in an $85 million benefit to our income tax 
provision in 2010 and $34 million of income tax expense that we recorded in 2011 to write-off certain deferred tax assets that 
we transferred to MVW in conjunction with the spin-off of our timeshare operations and timeshare development business. We 
impaired these assets because we consider it "more likely than not" that MVW will be unable to realize the value of those 
deferred tax assets.  Please see Footnote No. 17, "Spin-off" of the Notes to our Financial Statements for additional information 
on the transaction. The increases were partially offset by lower pretax income in 2011.

2010 Compared to 2009
Interest income decreased by $6 million (24 percent) to $19 million in 2010, compared to $25 million in 2009, primarily 

reflecting a $4 million decrease associated with a loan that we determined was impaired in 2009. Because we recognize interest 
on impaired loans on a cash basis, we did not recognize any interest on this loan after its impairment. The decline in interest 
income also reflected a $2 million decrease due to a reduction in principal due associated with one loan.

Our income tax expense increased by $158 million (243 percent) to a provision of $93 million in 2010 from a benefit of 
$65 million in 2009. The increase was primarily due to pretax income in 2010 (as compared to a pretax loss in 2009) and $14 
million of higher tax expense associated with changes to our deferred compensation plan (there were no 2010 plan changes 
impacting deferred compensation expenses, compared with changes which had a $14 million favorable impact in 2009). The 
increase was partially offset by a lower tax rate in 2010, as 2009 reflected $52 million of income tax expense primarily related 
to the treatment of funds received from certain non-U.S. subsidiaries. In the 2010 fourth quarter, we settled issues with the 
Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”) on our treatment of funds received from certain non-U.S. subsidiaries. In conjunction with 
that settlement, we recorded an $85 million benefit to our income tax provision in 2010. Our 2010 income tax expense also 
reflected a $12 million benefit we recorded primarily associated with revisions to prior years’ estimated foreign tax expense.

Equity in (Losses) Earnings

2011 Compared to 2010

Equity in losses of $13 million in 2011 decreased by $5 million from equity in losses of $18 million in 2010 and 
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primarily reflected $9 million of increased earnings at two North American Limited-Service joint ventures and one 
International segment joint venture, primarily due to stronger property-level performance; $8 million of lower losses for a 
residential and fractional project joint venture (our former Timeshare segment stopped recognizing their share of the joint 
venture’s losses as their investment, including loans due from the joint venture, was reduced to zero in 2010); and a favorable 
variance from joint venture impairment charges in 2010 of $5 million associated with our North American Limited-Service 
segment. These favorable impacts were partially offset by $8 million of decreased earnings at two Luxury segment joint 
ventures.  Furthermore, in 2011 and 2010 we reversed $3 million and $11 million, respectively of the $27 million funding 
liability we initially recorded in the Timeshare strategy-impairment charges (non-operating) caption of our 2009 Income 
Statement (see Footnote No. 18, "Timeshare Strategy-Impairment Charges" of the Notes to our Financial Statements of this 
Annual Report for additional information). The $11 million reversal in 2010 and the $3 million reversal in 2011 were both 
recorded based on facts and circumstances surrounding a project related to our former Timeshare segment, including continued 
progress on certain construction-related legal claims and potential funding of certain costs by one of the partners. 

2010 Compared to 2009

Equity in losses of $18 million in 2010 decreased by $48 million from equity in losses of $66 million in 2009 and 
primarily reflected favorable variances from a $30 million impairment charge associated with a Luxury segment joint venture 
investment that we determined was fully impaired and a $3 million impairment charge for a joint venture that we did not 
allocate to one of our segments, both incurred in 2009. In the 2010 fourth quarter we also recorded an $11 million reversal of 
the $27 million funding liability initially recorded in 2009 (see preceding "2011 Compared to 2010" discussion). Increased 
earnings of $5 million for our International segment joint ventures and $3 million of lower cancellation reserves at our former 
Timeshare segment joint venture also contributed to the decrease in equity in losses. A 2010 impairment charge of $5 million 
associated with our North American Limited-Service segment joint venture partially offset the favorable impacts.

Net Losses Attributable to Noncontrolling Interests

2010 Compared to 2009
Net losses attributable to noncontrolling interests decreased by $7 million in 2010 to zero, compared to $7 million in 

2009. The benefit for net losses attributable to noncontrolling interests in 2009 of $7 million are net of tax and reflected our 
partners’ share of losses totaling $11 million associated with joint ventures we consolidate, net of our partners’ share of tax 
benefits of $4 million associated with the losses.

Net Income (Loss)

2011 Compared to 2010

Net income and net income attributable to Marriott decreased by $260 million (57 percent) to $198 million in 2011 from 
$458 million in 2010, and diluted earnings per share attributable to Marriott decreased by $0.66 per share (55 percent) to $0.55 
per share from $1.21 per share in 2010. As discussed in more detail in the preceding sections beginning with “Operating 
Income (Loss),” the $260 million decrease in net income compared to the prior year was due to Timeshare strategy-impairment 
charges ($324 million), higher income taxes ($65 million), lower gains and other income ($42 million), lower Timeshare sales 
and services revenue net of direct expenses ($40 million), and lower interest income ($5 million). Higher base management and 
franchise fees ($105 million), higher owned, leased, corporate housing, and other revenue net of direct expenses ($49 million), 
lower general, administrative, and other expenses ($28 million), lower interest expense ($16 million), higher incentive 
management fees ($13 million), and lower equity in losses ($5 million) partially offset these items.

2010 Compared to 2009
Net income of $458 million in 2010 increased by $811 million (230 percent) from a loss of $353 million in 2009, net 

income attributable to Marriott of $458 million in 2010 increased by $804 million (232 percent) from a loss of $346 million in 
2009, and diluted income per share attributable to Marriott of $1.21 per share increased by $2.18 (225 percent) from losses of 
$0.97 per share in 2009. As discussed in more detail in the preceding sections beginning with “Operating Income (Loss),” the 
$458 million increase in net income compared to the prior year was due to a favorable variance related to Timeshare strategy-
impairment charges in 2009 ($752 million), higher Timeshare sales and services revenue net of direct expenses ($116 million), 
lower restructuring costs ($51 million), higher base management and franchise fees ($73 million), lower equity in losses ($48 
million), higher incentive management fees ($28 million), higher owned, leased, corporate housing, and other revenue net of 
direct expenses ($23 million), and higher gains and other income ($4 million). These favorable variances were partially offset 
by higher income taxes ($158 million), higher general, administrative, and other expenses ($58 million), higher interest 
expense ($62 million), and lower interest income ($6 million).
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Earnings Before Interest Expense, Taxes, Depreciation and Amortization (“EBITDA”) and Adjusted EBITDA

EBITDA, a financial measure that is not prescribed or authorized by United States generally accepted accounting 
principles (“GAAP”), reflects earnings excluding the impact of interest expense, provision for income taxes, and depreciation 
and amortization. We consider EBITDA to be an indicator of operating performance because we use it to measure our ability to 
service debt, fund capital expenditures, and expand our business. We also use EBITDA, as do analysts, lenders, investors and 
others, to evaluate companies because it excludes certain items that can vary widely across different industries or among 
companies within the same industry. For example, interest expense can be dependent on a company’s capital structure, debt 
levels and credit ratings. Accordingly, the impact of interest expense on earnings can vary significantly among companies. The 
tax positions of companies can also vary because of their differing abilities to take advantage of tax benefits and because of the 
tax policies of the jurisdictions in which they operate. As a result, effective tax rates and provision for income taxes can vary 
considerably among companies. EBITDA also excludes depreciation and amortization because companies utilize productive 
assets of different ages and use different methods of both acquiring and depreciating productive assets. These differences can 
result in considerable variability in the relative costs of productive assets and the depreciation and amortization expense among 
companies.

We also evaluate Adjusted EBITDA, another non-GAAP financial measure, as an indicator of operating performance. Our 
Adjusted EBITDA reflects: 

(1) Timeshare Spin-off Adjustments ("Timeshare Spin-off Adjustments") as if the spin-off had occurred on the first day of 
2010. The Timeshare Spin-off Adjustments remove the results of our former Timeshare segment for 2011 and 2010, remove 
unallocated spin-off transaction costs of $34 million we incurred in 2011, and assume payment by MVW to us of estimated 
license fees of $60 million for 2011 and $64 million for 2010. We have also included certain corporate items not previously 
allocated to our former Timeshare segment in the Timeshare spin-off adjustments.  For additional information on the nature of 
the Timeshare Spin-off Adjustments, see the Form 8-K we filed with the SEC on November 21, 2011 upon completion of the 
spin-off; 

(2) an adjustment for $28 million of other charges for 2011 consisting of an $18 million charge for an other-than-
temporary impairment of marketable securities; a $5 million impairment of deferred contract acquisition costs and a $5 million 
accounts receivable reserve, both related to one Luxury segment property whose owner filed for bankruptcy; and 

(3) an adjustment for $98 million of other charges for 2010 consisting of an $84 million impairment charge related to a 
capitalized revenue management software asset and a $14 million impairment charge related to a land parcel.

We discuss the second and third of these items in greater detail in the preceding "(Losses) Gains and Other Income 
(Expense)" caption and the "2010 Compared to 2009" heading under the "Operating Income (Loss)" caption, respectively. 

We evaluate Adjusted EBITDA to make period-over-period comparisons of our ongoing core operations before material 
charges. EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA also facilitate our comparison of results from our ongoing operations before material 
charges with results from other lodging companies. 

 
EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA have limitations and should not be considered in isolation or as substitutes for 

performance measures calculated in accordance with GAAP. Both of these non-GAAP measures exclude certain cash expenses 
that we are obligated to make. In addition, other companies in our industry may calculate EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA 
differently than we do or may not calculate them at all, limiting EBITDA's and Adjusted EBITDA's usefulness as comparative 
measures. We provide Adjusted EBITDA for illustrative and informational purposes only and this measure is not necessarily 
indicative of and does not purport to represent what our operating results would have been had the spin-off occurred on the first 
day of 2010. This information also does not reflect certain financial and operating benefits we expect to realize as a result of the 
spin-off.

We show our 2011 and 2010 EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA calculations and reconcile those measures with Net Income 
in the following tables.
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($ in millions)
Net Income
Interest expense
Tax provision (benefit)
Depreciation and amortization
Less: Depreciation reimbursed by third-party owners
Interest expense from unconsolidated joint ventures
Depreciation and amortization from unconsolidated joint
ventures
EBITDA

($ in millions)
Net Income (Loss)
Interest expense
Tax provision (benefit)
Depreciation and amortization
Less: Depreciation reimbursed by third-party owners
Interest expense from unconsolidated joint ventures
Depreciation and amortization from unconsolidated joint
ventures
EBITDA

As Reported
2011

$ 198
164
158
168
(15)
18

30
$ 721

As Reported
2010

$ 458
180
93

178
(11)
19

27
$ 944

Timeshare
Spin-off

Adjustments
$ 260

(29)
40

(28)
—
—

—
$ 243

Timeshare
Spin-off

Adjustments
$ (47)

(43)
(29)
(35)
—
(3)

—
$ (157)

Other Charges
$ 17

—
11
—
—
—

—
$ 28

Other Charges
$ (25)

—
123
—
—
—

—
$ 98

2011 Adjusted 
EBITDA

$ 992

2010 Adjusted 
EBITDA

$ 885

Business Segments

We are a diversified hospitality company with operations in four business segments: North American Full-Service 
Lodging, North American Limited-Service Lodging, International Lodging, and Luxury Lodging. See Footnote No. 16, 
“Business Segments,” of the Notes to our Financial Statements for further information on our segments including how we 
aggregate our individual brands into each segment, the reclassification of certain 2010 and 2009 segment revenues, segment 
financial results, and segment assets to reflect our movement of Hawaii to our North American segments from our International 
segment, and other information about each segment, including revenues, net income (loss) attributable to Marriott, net losses 
attributable to noncontrolling interests, equity in earnings (losses) of equity method investees, assets, and capital expenditures. 

In addition to the segments noted previously, on November 21, 2011 we spun off our timeshare operations and timeshare 
development business as a new independent company, MVW, which was formerly our Timeshare segment.  See Footnote 
No. 16, “Business Segments,” of the Notes to our Financial Statements for historical financial results of our former Timeshare 
segment and Footnote No. 17, "Spin-off" of the Notes to our Financial Statements for additional information on the spin-off.
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 At year-end 2011, we operated, franchised, and licensed the following properties (excluding 2,166 corporate housing 
rental units associated with our ExecuStay brand):

 
 
 
North American Full-Service Lodging Segment (1)

Marriott Hotels & Resorts
Marriott Conference Centers
JW Marriott
Renaissance Hotels
Renaissance ClubSport
Autograph Collection

North American Limited-Service Lodging Segment (1)

Courtyard
Fairfield Inn & Suites
SpringHill Suites
Residence Inn
TownePlace Suites

International Lodging Segment (1)

Marriott Hotels & Resorts
JW Marriott
Renaissance Hotels
Autograph Collection
Courtyard
Fairfield Inn & Suites
Residence Inn
Marriott Executive Apartments

Luxury Lodging Segment
The Ritz-Carlton
Bulgari Hotels & Resorts
EDITION
The Ritz-Carlton-Residential(2)

The Ritz-Carlton Serviced Apartments

Unconsolidated Joint Ventures
Autograph Collection
AC Hotels by Marriott

Timeshare (3)

Total

Total Lodging and Timeshare Products
Properties

U.S.

322
10
21
78
2

17
450

805
667
285
597
200

2,554

—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—

39
—
—
29
—
68

—
—
—

50

3,122

Non-U.S.

14
—
1
2

—
—
17

17
11
2

17
1

48

156
31
72
5

91
2
3

23
383

39
2
1
3
4

49

5
80
85

14

596

Total

336
10
22
80
2

17
467

822
678
287
614
201

2,602

156
31
72
5

91
2
3

23
383

78
2
1

32
4

117

5
80
85

64

3,718

Rooms
U.S.

127,826
2,915

12,140
28,880

349
5,207

177,317

113,413
60,392
33,466
72,076
20,048

299,395

—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—

11,587
—
—

3,509
—

15,096

—
—
—

10,496

502,304

Non-U.S.

5,244
—

221
790
—
—

6,255

2,929
1,234

299
2,450

105
7,017

45,784
11,465
22,947

548
18,377

334
341

3,700
103,496

11,996
117
78

329
579

13,099

350
8,371
8,721

2,304

140,892

Total

133,070
2,915

12,361
29,670

349
5,207

183,572

116,342
61,626
33,765
74,526
20,153

306,412

45,784
11,465
22,947

548
18,377

334
341

3,700
103,496

23,583
117
78

3,838
579

28,195

350
8,371
8,721

12,800

643,196

 
(1) North American includes properties located in the United States and Canada. International includes properties located outside the United States and 

Canada.
(2) Represents projects where we manage the related owners’ association. We include residential products once they possess a certificate of occupancy.
(3) Timeshare properties licensed by MVW under the Marriott Vacation Club, The Ritz-Carlton Destination Club, The Ritz-Carlton Residences, and 

Grand Residences by Marriott brand names. Includes products that are in active sales as well as those that are sold out.
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Lodging (reflects all four of our Lodging segments and our former Timeshare segment, for periods prior to the spin-off date)

2011 Compared to 2010

We added 206 properties (30,856 rooms) and 30 properties (6,262 rooms) exited our system in 2011. These figures do not 
include residential or ExecuStay units. During that time we also added four residential properties (753 units) and no residential 
properties exited the system. These property additions include 80 hotels (8,371 rooms) which are operated or franchised as part 
of our unconsolidated joint venture with AC Hoteles, S.A. See Footnote No. 8, “Acquisitions and Dispositions,” for additional 
information about AC Hotels by Marriott.

Total segment financial results decreased by $218 million (22 percent) to $765 million in 2011 from $983 million in 
2010, and total segment revenues increased by $586 million to $12,197 million in 2011, a 5 percent increase from revenues of 
$11,611 million in 2010.

The year-over-year increase in revenues included a $604 million increase in cost reimbursements revenue, which does 
not impact operating income or net income. Total segment financial results, compared to 2010, primarily reflected $324 million 
of Timeshare strategy-impairment charges, a decrease of $40 million in Timeshare sales and services revenue net of direct 
expenses, a $24 million decrease in gains and other income, and a $6 million increase in general, administrative, and other 
expenses. Partially offsetting these unfavorable factors were: a $101 million increase in base management and franchise fees to 
$1,104 million in 2011 from $1,003 million in 2010,  an increase of $37 million in owned, leased, corporate housing, and other 
revenue net of direct expenses, $13 million of higher incentive management fees to $195 million in 2011 from $182 million in 
2010, $13 million of lower joint venture equity losses, and a $12 million decrease in interest expense. For more detailed 
information on the variances see the preceding sections beginning with “Operating Income (Loss).”

The $101 million increase in base management and franchise fees primarily reflected stronger RevPAR and the impact of 
unit growth across the system and favorable foreign exchange rates. In 2011, 29 percent of our managed properties paid 
incentive management fees to us versus 27 percent in 2010. In addition, in 2011, 67 percent of our incentive fees came from 
properties outside the United States versus 65 percent in 2010.

See “Statistics” below for detailed information on Systemwide RevPAR and Company-operated RevPAR by segment, 
region, and brand.

Compared to 2010, worldwide comparable company-operated house profit margins in 2011 increased by 60 basis points 
and worldwide comparable company-operated house profit per available room ("HP-PAR") increased by 7.6 percent on a 
constant U.S. dollar basis, reflecting higher occupancy, rate increases, and the impact of tight cost controls in 2011 at properties 
in our system, partially offset by higher property-level compensation. These same factors contributed to North American 
company-operated house profit margins increasing by 70 basis points compared to 2010 and HP-PAR at those same properties 
increased by 8.1 percent. International company-operated house profit margins increased by 40 basis points and HP-PAR at 
those properties increased by 6.7 percent reflecting increased demand and higher RevPAR in most locations and continued tight 
property-level cost controls, partially offset by higher property-level compensation and the effects of RevPAR declines in the 
Middle East.

2010 Compared to 2009

We added 154 properties (28,114 rooms) and 31 properties (6,072 rooms) exited the system in 2010. These figures do not 
include residential or ExecuStay units. We also added three residential properties (442 units) and one residential property (25 
units) exited the system in 2010.

Total segment financial results increased by $979 million to $983 million in 2010 from $4 million in 2009, and total 
segment revenues increased by $780 million to $11,611 million in 2010, a 7 percent increase from revenues of $10,831 million 
in 2009.

The year-over-year increase in revenues included a $557 million increase in cost reimbursements revenue, which does 
not impact operating income or net income attributable to Marriott. The results, compared to 2009, reflected a favorable 
variance from $685 million of 2009 Timeshare strategy-impairment charges, $614 million of which were reported in the 
“Timeshare strategy-impairment charges” caption and $71 million of which were reported in the “Timeshare strategy-
impairment charges (non-operating)” caption of our Income Statements, an increase of $116 million in Timeshare sales and 
services revenue net of direct expenses, $19 million of decreased general, administrative, and other expenses, a $73 million 
increase in base management and franchise fees to $1,003 million in 2010 from $930 million in 2009, a $48 million decrease in 
restructuring costs, $35 million of lower joint venture equity losses, $28 million of higher incentive management fees to $182 
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million in 2010 from $154 million in 2009, an increase of $21 million in owned, leased, corporate housing, and other revenue 
net of direct expenses, and a $21 million increase in gains and other income. These favorable variances were partially offset by 
$55 million of increased interest expense and an $11 million decrease in net losses attributable to noncontrolling interest 
benefit. For more detailed information on the variances see the preceding sections beginning with “Operating Income (Loss).”

In 2010, 27 percent of our managed properties paid incentive management fees to us versus 25 percent in 2009. In 
addition, in 2010, 65 percent of our incentive fees were derived from properties outside of the continental United States versus 
67 percent in 2009.

See “Statistics” below for detailed information on Systemwide RevPAR and Company-operated RevPAR by segment, 
region, and brand.

Compared to 2009, worldwide comparable company-operated house profit margins in 2010 increased by 50 basis points 
and worldwide comparable company-operated HP-PAR increased by 6.4 percent on a constant U.S. dollar basis, reflecting the 
impact of tight cost controls in 2010 at properties in our system and increased demand, partially offset by decreased average 
daily rates. North American company-operated house profit margins were nearly unchanged as compared to 2009 while HP-
PAR at those same properties increased by 3.8 percent reflecting increased demand and tight cost controls at properties, 
partially offset by decreased average daily rates and lower cancellation and attrition fees. International company-operated house 
profit margins increased by 120 basis points and HP-PAR at those properties increased by 10.6 percent reflecting increased 
demand and continued tight property-level cost controls.

Lodging Development 
We opened 206 properties, totaling 30,856 rooms, across our brands in 2011 and 30 properties (6,262 rooms) left the 

system, not including residential products or ExecuStay. We also added four residential properties (753 units) and no residential 
properties left the system. Highlights of the year included:

• Converting 34 properties (5,615 rooms), or 18 percent of our gross room additions for the year, to one of our brands 
including 13 properties joining our Autograph Collection brand. Seventeen of the properties converted were located 
in the United States;

• Becoming a partner in two new unconsolidated joint ventures formed for the operation, management and 
development of AC Hotels by Marriott, initially in Europe but eventually in other parts of the world. The hotels are 
managed by the joint ventures or franchised at the direction of the joint ventures.  There were 80 AC Hotels by 
Marriott at year-end 2011; 

• Opening approximately 62 percent of all the new rooms outside the United States; and
• Adding 68 properties (8,379 rooms) to our North American Limited-Service brands.

We currently have over 110,000 hotel rooms under construction, awaiting conversion, or approved for development in 
our hotel development pipeline and we expect to add approximately 30,000 hotel rooms (gross) to our system in 2012.

We believe that we have access to sufficient financial resources to finance our growth, as well as to support our ongoing 
operations and meet debt service and other cash requirements. Nonetheless, our ability to develop and update our brands and 
the ability of hotel developers to build or acquire new Marriott-branded properties, both of which are important parts of our 
growth plan, depend in part on capital access, availability and cost for other hotel developers and third-party owners. These 
growth plans are subject to numerous risks and uncertainties, many of which are outside of our control. See the “Forward-
Looking Statements” and “Risks and Uncertainties” captions earlier in this report and the “Liquidity and Capital Resources” 
caption later in this report.
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Statistics 

The following tables show occupancy, average daily rate, and RevPAR for comparable properties, for each of the brands 
in our North American Full-Service and North American Limited-Service segments, for our International segment by region, 
and the principal brand in our Luxury segment, The Ritz-Carlton. We have not presented statistics for company-operated 
Fairfield Inn & Suites properties in these tables because the brand is predominantly franchised and we operate very few 
properties, so such information would not be meaningful (identified as “nm” in the tables that follow). Systemwide statistics 
include data from our franchised properties, in addition to our owned, leased, and managed properties.

The occupancy, average daily rate, and RevPAR statistics we use throughout this report for 2011 include the 52 weeks 
from January 1, 2011, through December 30, 2011, for 2010 include the 52 weeks from January 2, 2010, through December 31, 
2010, and for 2009 include the 52 weeks from January 3, 2009, through January 1, 2010 (except in each case, for The Ritz-
Carlton brand properties and properties located outside of the United States, which for those properties includes the period from 
January 1 through December 31 for each year). 
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Marriott Hotels & Resorts(2)

Occupancy
Average Daily Rate
RevPAR

Renaissance Hotels
Occupancy
Average Daily Rate
RevPAR

Composite North American Full-Service (3)

Occupancy
Average Daily Rate
RevPAR

The Ritz-Carlton North America
Occupancy
Average Daily Rate
RevPAR

Composite North American Full-Service and 
Luxury (4)

Occupancy
Average Daily Rate
RevPAR

Residence Inn
Occupancy
Average Daily Rate
RevPAR

Courtyard
Occupancy
Average Daily Rate
RevPAR

Fairfield Inn & Suites
Occupancy
Average Daily Rate
RevPAR

TownePlace Suites
Occupancy
Average Daily Rate
RevPAR

SpringHill Suites
Occupancy
Average Daily Rate
RevPAR

Composite North American Limited-
Service (5)

Occupancy
Average Daily Rate
RevPAR

Composite North American (6)

Occupancy
Average Daily Rate
RevPAR

Comparable Company-Operated
North American Properties (1)

2011

71.0%
$ 164.08
$ 116.45

69.7%
$ 161.40
$ 112.55

70.7%
$ 163.59
$ 115.72

69.2%
$ 302.31
$ 209.11

70.6%
$ 178.65
$ 126.07

75.1%
$ 117.25
$ 88.09

67.2%
$ 111.42
$ 74.90

nm
nm
nm

71.9%
$ 75.52
$ 54.32

66.9%
$ 99.71
$ 66.69

69.7%
$ 110.34
$ 76.86

70.2%
$ 150.00
$ 105.28

Change vs.
2010

0.8%
3.4%
4.6%

2.3%
3.1%
6.7%

1.1%
3.3%
5.0%

2.4%
6.3%

10.2%

1.3%
4.0%
5.9%

1.2%
2.4%
4.0%

2.8%
3.2%
7.7%

nm
nm
nm

4.8%
3.3%

10.7%

2.5%
4.2%
8.3%

2.4%
3.0%
6.7%

1.8%
3.5%
6.2%

 

 

pts. 

pts. 

pts. 

pts. 

pts. 

pts. 

pts. 

pts. 
  
  

pts. 

pts. 

pts. 

pts. 

Comparable Systemwide
North American Properties (1)

2011

68.2%
$ 149.94
$ 102.28

69.0%
$ 146.74
$ 101.24

68.4%
$ 149.36
$ 102.10

69.2%
$ 302.31
$ 209.11

68.4%
$ 159.53
$ 109.14

76.7%
$ 115.41
$ 88.47

68.1%
$ 113.19
$ 77.03

65.8%
$ 89.57
$ 58.92

72.1%
$ 83.46
$ 60.15

68.5%
$ 99.21
$ 67.98

70.1%
$ 106.02
$ 74.29

69.5%
$ 125.67
$ 87.28

Change vs.
2010

1.1%
3.3%
5.0%

1.9%
3.3%
6.3%

1.3%
3.3%
5.2%

2.4%
6.3%

10.2%

1.3%
3.7%
5.8%

1.7%
2.9%
5.2%

2.5%
3.0%
7.0%

3.1%
3.9%
9.1%

3.7%
3.7%
9.3%

3.6%
2.5%
8.2%

2.6%
3.0%
7.0%

2.2%
3.2%
6.5%

 

 

pts. 

pts. 

pts. 

pts. 

pts. 

pts. 

pts. 

pts. 

pts. 

pts. 

pts. 

pts. 

(1) Statistics are for the 52 weeks ended December 30, 2011, and December 31, 2010, except for The Ritz-Carlton, for which the statistics are for the 12 
months ended December 31, 2011, and December 31, 2010. Statistics include only properties located in the United States.

(2) Marriott Hotels & Resorts includes JW Marriott properties.
(3) Composite North American Full-Service statistics include Marriott Hotels & Resorts and Renaissance Hotels properties.
(4) Composite North American Full-Service and Luxury includes Marriott Hotels & Resorts, Renaissance Hotels, and The Ritz-Carlton properties.
(5) Composite North American Limited-Service statistics include Residence Inn, Courtyard, Fairfield Inn & Suites, TownePlace Suites, and SpringHill 

Suites properties.
(6) Composite North American statistics include Marriott Hotels & Resorts, Renaissance Hotels, Residence Inn, Courtyard, Fairfield Inn & Suites, 

TownePlace Suites, SpringHill Suites, and The Ritz-Carlton properties.
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Caribbean and Latin America(2)

Occupancy
Average Daily Rate
RevPAR

Europe(2)

Occupancy
Average Daily Rate
RevPAR

Middle East and Africa(2)

Occupancy
Average Daily Rate
RevPAR

Asia Pacific(2)

Occupancy
Average Daily Rate
RevPAR

Regional Composite (3)

Occupancy
Average Daily Rate
RevPAR

International Luxury(4)

Occupancy
Average Daily Rate
RevPAR

Total International (5)

Occupancy
Average Daily Rate
RevPAR

Comparable Company-Operated
Properties (1)

2011

72.6%
$ 183.64
$ 133.29

73.2%
$ 175.20
$ 128.21

58.8%
$ 141.22
$ 83.11

73.1%
$ 137.80
$ 100.69

71.8%
$ 162.58
$ 116.67

63.8%
$ 312.52
$ 199.53

70.8%
$ 179.38
$ 129.96

Change vs.
2010

2.8 %
6.4 %

10.6 %

0.1 %
4.8 %
5.0 %

(11.0)%
7.6 %

(9.3)%

5.6 %
5.9 %

14.8 %

1.1 %
5.4 %
7.0 %

(0.5)%
7.0 %
6.2 %

0.9 %
5.5 %
6.9 %

 

 

pts. 

pts. 

pts. 

pts. 

pts. 

pts. 

pts. 

Comparable Systemwide
Properties (1)

2011

69.3%
$ 163.29
$ 113.14

72.3%
$ 171.34
$ 123.95

58.4%
$ 137.92
$ 80.55

72.6%
$ 147.36
$ 106.97

70.8%
$ 161.01
$ 114.03

63.8%
$ 312.52
$ 199.53

70.1%
$ 174.82
$ 122.59

Change vs.
2010

2.3 %
6.2 %
9.9 %

0.5 %
4.6 %
5.3 %

(9.7)%
6.7 %

(8.5)%

4.4 %
3.6 %

10.3 %

1.1 %
4.7 %
6.4 %

(0.5)%
7.0 %
6.2 %

0.9 %
4.9 %
6.3 %

 

 

pts. 

pts. 

pts. 

pts. 

pts. 

pts. 

pts. 

 
(1) We report financial results for all properties on a period-end basis, but report statistics for properties located outside the United States and Canada 

on a month-end basis. The statistics are for January 1 through December 31. For the properties located in countries that use currencies other than the 
U.S. dollar, the comparison to 2010 was on a constant U.S. dollar basis.

(2) Regional information includes Marriott Hotels & Resorts, Renaissance Hotels, and Courtyard properties.
(3) Regional Composite statistics include properties located outside of the United States and Canada for Marriott Hotels & Resorts, Renaissance Hotels, 

and Courtyard brands.
(4) Includes The Ritz-Carlton properties located outside the United States and Canada and Bulgari Hotels & Resorts properties.
(5) Total International includes Regional Composite statistics and statistics for The Ritz-Carlton International and Bulgari Hotels & Resorts brands.
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Composite Luxury (2)

Occupancy
Average Daily Rate
RevPAR

Total Worldwide (3)

Occupancy
Average Daily Rate
RevPAR

Comparable Company-Operated
Properties (1)

2011

66.9%
$ 306.45
$ 205.04

70.3%
$ 158.15
$ 111.26

Change vs.
2010

1.2%
6.5%
8.5%

1.5%
4.1%
6.4%

 

 

pts. 

pts. 

Comparable Systemwide
Properties (1)

2011

66.9%
$ 306.45
$ 205.04

69.6%
$ 133.26
$ 92.69

Change vs.
2010

1.2%
6.5%
8.5%

2.0%
3.4%
6.4%

 

 

pts. 

pts. 

 
(1) We report financial results for all properties on a period-end basis, but report statistics for properties located outside the United States and Canada 

on a month-end basis. For the properties located in countries that use currencies other than the U.S. dollar, the comparison to 2010 was on a constant 
U.S. dollar basis.

(2) Composite Luxury includes worldwide properties for The Ritz-Carlton and Bulgari Hotels & Resorts brands.
(3) Total Worldwide statistics include properties worldwide for Marriott Hotels & Resorts, Renaissance Hotels, Residence Inn, Courtyard, Fairfield 

Inn & Suites, TownePlace Suites, SpringHill Suites, and The Ritz-Carlton brands. Statistics for properties located in the United States (except for 
The Ritz-Carlton) represent the fifty-two weeks ended December 30, 2011, and December 31, 2010. Statistics for The Ritz-Carlton brand properties 
and properties located outside of the United States represent the 12 months ended December 31, 2011, and December 31, 2010.
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Marriott Hotels & Resorts(2)

Occupancy
Average Daily Rate
RevPAR

Renaissance Hotels
Occupancy
Average Daily Rate
RevPAR

Composite North American Full-Service (3)

Occupancy
Average Daily Rate
RevPAR

The Ritz-Carlton North America
Occupancy
Average Daily Rate
RevPAR

Composite North American Full-Service and 
Luxury (4)

Occupancy
Average Daily Rate
RevPAR

Residence Inn
Occupancy
Average Daily Rate
RevPAR

Courtyard
Occupancy
Average Daily Rate
RevPAR

Fairfield Inn & Suites
Occupancy
Average Daily Rate
RevPAR

TownePlace Suites
Occupancy
Average Daily Rate
RevPAR

SpringHill Suites
Occupancy
Average Daily Rate
RevPAR

Composite North American Limited-  
Service(5)

Occupancy
Average Daily Rate
RevPAR

Composite North American (6)

Occupancy
Average Daily Rate
RevPAR

Comparable  Company-Operated North 
American Properties (1)

2010

69.5%
$ 156.91
$ 109.05

67.2%
$ 152.57
$ 102.51

69.1%
$ 156.14
$ 107.86

67.6%
$ 280.17
$ 189.30

68.9%
$ 169.69
$ 116.92

74.0%
$ 113.52
$ 84.06

64.3%
$ 107.69
$ 69.26

nm
nm
nm

65.5%
$ 73.94
$ 48.47

64.7%
$ 96.04
$ 62.16

67.1%
$ 106.59
$ 71.51

68.1%
$ 143.85
$ 98.03

Change vs.
2009

3.0 %
0.2 %
4.6 %

1.9 %
(0.3)%
2.6 %

2.8 %
0.1 %
4.3 %

5.8 %
0.3 %
9.8 %

3.1 %
0.5 %
5.2 %

4.7 %
(2.2)%
4.4 %

3.1 %
(1.9)%
3.1 %

nm
nm
nm

4.2 %
(4.5)%
2.1 %

3.4 %
(1.2)%
4.3 %

3.6 %
(2.0)%
3.5 %

3.3 %
(0.4)%
4.7 %

pts.

pts.

pts.

pts.

pts.

pts.

pts.

pts.

pts.

pts.

pts.

Comparable Systemwide North American 
Properties (1)

2010

66.7%
$ 143.75
$ 95.93

67.2%
$ 139.71
$ 93.82

66.8%
$ 143.04
$ 95.56

67.6%
$ 280.17
$ 189.30

66.9%
$ 152.35
$ 101.86

75.3%
$ 112.06
$ 84.41

65.7%
$ 110.00
$ 72.27

63.1%
$ 84.54
$ 53.33

68.7%
$ 80.02
$ 55.01

65.7%
$ 97.32
$ 63.91

67.8%
$ 102.96
$ 69.85

67.5%
$ 121.85
$ 82.20

Change vs.
2009

3.5 %
(0.6)%
4.9 %

3.5 %
(1.0)%
4.4 %

3.5 %
(0.6)%
4.8 %

5.8 %
0.3 %
9.8 %

3.6 %
(0.3)%
5.4 %

4.8 %
(1.6)%
5.0 %

3.1 %
(1.0)%
4.0 %

2.9 %
(0.3)%
4.6 %

6.1 %
(3.7)%
5.6 %

3.7 %
(2.2)%
3.6 %

3.8 %
(1.4)%
4.4 %

3.7 %
(0.9)%
4.9 %

pts.

pts.

pts.

pts.

pts.

pts.

pts.

pts.

pts.

pts.

pts.

pts.

(1) Statistics are for the 52 weeks ended December 31, 2010, and January 1, 2010, except for The Ritz-Carlton for which the statistics are for the 12 
months ended December 31, 2010, and December 31, 2009.  Statistics include only properties located in the United States.

(2) Marriott Hotels & Resorts includes JW Marriott properties.
(3) Composite North American Full-Service statistics include Marriott Hotels & Resorts and Renaissance Hotels properties.
(4) Composite North American Full-Service and Luxury includes Marriott Hotels & Resorts, Renaissance Hotels, and The Ritz-Carlton properties.
(5) Composite North American Limited-Service statistics include Residence Inn, Courtyard, Fairfield Inn & Suites, TownePlace Suites, and SpringHill 

Suites properties.
(6) Composite North American statistics include Marriott Hotels & Resorts, Renaissance Hotels, Residence Inn, Courtyard, Fairfield Inn & Suites, 

TownePlace Suites, SpringHill Suites, and The Ritz-Carlton properties.
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Caribbean and Latin America (2)

Occupancy
Average Daily Rate
RevPAR

Continental Europe (2)

Occupancy
Average Daily Rate
RevPAR

United Kingdom (2)

Occupancy
Average Daily Rate
RevPAR

Middle East and Africa (2)

Occupancy
Average Daily Rate
RevPAR

Asia Pacific (2)

Occupancy
Average Daily Rate
RevPAR

Regional Composite (3)

Occupancy
Average Daily Rate
RevPAR

International Luxury (4)

Occupancy
Average Daily Rate
RevPAR

Total International (5)

Occupancy
Average Daily Rate
RevPAR

Comparable Company-
Operated Properties (1)

2010

70.7%
$ 178.59
$ 126.19

71.1%
$ 161.63
$ 114.92

76.4%
$ 159.27
$ 121.68

70.5%
$ 133.18
$ 93.86

66.7%
$ 125.88
$ 83.96

70.7%
$ 150.19
$ 106.16

64.0%
$ 310.46
$ 198.82

69.9%
$ 166.70
$ 116.58

Change vs.
2009

4.1 %
(0.5)%
5.5 %

4.0 %
1.6 %
7.6 %

3.1 %
3.3 %
7.8 %

2.4 %
(5.9)%
(2.6)%

11.7 %
1.7 %

23.3 %

5.9 %
0.3 %
9.4 %

6.0 %
0.4 %

10.7 %

5.9 %
0.4 %
9.7 %

pts.

pts.

pts.

pts.

pts.

pts.

pts.

pts.

Comparable Systemwide
Properties (1)

2010

67.9%
$ 161.09
$ 109.45

69.9%
$ 160.08
$ 111.95

75.9%
$ 158.75
$ 120.47

70.4%
$ 131.66
$ 92.74

67.2%
$ 134.90
$ 90.71

69.8%
$ 150.31
$ 104.91

64.0%
$ 310.46
$ 198.82

69.3%
$ 163.96
$ 113.57

Change vs.
2009

6.3 %
0.3 %

10.6 %

4.5 %
0.2 %
7.1 %

3.1 %
3.3 %
7.7 %

2.7 %
(6.0)%
(2.3)%

10.1 %
(1.0)%
16.5 %

6.0 %
(0.3)%
9.2 %

6.0 %
0.4 %

10.7 %

6.0 %
(0.1)%
9.4 %

pts.

pts.

pts.

pts.

pts.

pts.

pts.

pts.

 
(1) We report financial results for all properties on a period-end basis, but report statistics for properties located outside the continental United States 

and Canada on a month-end basis. The statistics are for January 1 through December 31. For the properties located in countries that use currencies 
other than the U.S. dollar, the comparison to 2009 was on a constant U.S. dollar basis.

(2) Regional information includes Marriott Hotels & Resorts, Renaissance Hotels, and Courtyard properties.
(3) Regional Composite statistics include all properties located outside of the United States and Canada for Marriott Hotels & Resorts, Renaissance 

Hotels, and Courtyard brands.
(4) Includes The Ritz-Carlton properties located outside of the United States and Canada and Bulgari Hotels & Resorts properties.
(5) Total International includes Regional Composite statistics and statistics for The Ritz-Carlton International and Bulgari Hotels & Resorts brands.
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Composite Luxury (2)

Occupancy
Average Daily Rate
RevPAR

Total Worldwide (3)

Occupancy
Average Daily Rate
RevPAR

Comparable  Company-Operated
Properties (1)

2010

66.1%
$ 292.11
$ 193.17

68.7%
$ 150.46
$ 103.30

Change vs.
2009

5.9%
0.4%

10.2%

4.1%
0.0%
6.3%

pts.

pts.

Comparable Systemwide
Properties (1)

2010

66.1%
$ 292.11
$ 193.17

67.8%
$ 128.82
$ 87.28

Change vs.
2009

5.9 %
0.4 %

10.2 %

4.1 %
(0.6)%
5.8 %

pts.

pts.

 
(1) We report financial results for all properties on a period-end basis, but report statistics for properties located outside the United States and Canada 

on a month-end basis. For the properties located in countries that use currencies other than the U.S. dollar, the comparison to 2009 was on a constant 
U.S. dollar basis.

(2) Composite Luxury includes worldwide properties for The Ritz-Carlton and Bulgari Hotels & Resorts brands.
(3) Total Worldwide statistics include properties worldwide for Marriott Hotels & Resorts, Renaissance Hotels, Residence Inn, Courtyard, Fairfield Inn 

& Suites, TownePlace Suites, SpringHill Suites, The Ritz-Carlton and Bulgari Hotels & Resorts brands. Statistics for properties located in the 
United States (except for The Ritz-Carlton) represent the fifty-two weeks ended December 31, 2010 and January 1, 2010. Statistics for The Ritz-
Carlton brand properties and properties located outside of the United States represent the 12 months ended December 31, 2010, and December 31, 
2009.
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North American Full-Service Lodging includes Marriott Hotels & Resorts, JW Marriott, Renaissance Hotels, and 
Autograph Collection.
 

($ in millions)

 
Segment revenues
Segment results

2011
$ 5,450
$ 351

2010
$ 5,159
$ 317

2009
$ 4,892
$ 268

Annual Change

2011/2010
6%

11%

2010/2009
5%

18%

2011 Compared to 2010

In 2011, across our North American Full-Service Lodging segment we added 10 properties (4,178 rooms) and seven 
properties (1,925 rooms) left the system.

In 2011, RevPAR for comparable company-operated North American Full-Service properties increased by 5.0 percent to 
$115.72, occupancy for these properties increased by 1.1 percentage points to 70.7 percent, and average daily rates increased by 
3.3 percent to $163.59.

The $34 million increase in segment results, compared to 2010, primarily reflected $26 million of higher management 
and franchise fees and $16 million of higher owned, leased, and other revenue net of direct expenses, partially offset by $5 
million of higher general, administrative, and other expenses.

Higher base management and franchise fees primarily reflected increased RevPAR and unit growth, including properties 
added to the Autograph Collection.

The $16 million increase in owned, leased, and other revenue net of direct expenses is primarily due to $7 million of net 
stronger results driven by higher RevPAR and property-level margins, $7 million of termination fees for two properties, and a 
$3 million favorable variance associated with prior year losses associated with a leased property that now is operated under a 
management agreement.

The $5 million increase in general, administrative, and other expenses primarily reflected the following 2011 items: a $5 
million performance cure payment for one property, a $2 million increase in the guarantee reserve for one property, and the 
write-off of contract acquisition costs totaling $2 million for two properties, partially offset by a favorable variance from the $4 
million contract acquisition cost impairment charge recorded in 2010, further detailed in the "2010 Compared to 2009" 
discussion that follows. 

Cost reimbursements revenue and expenses associated with our North American Full-Service Lodging segment properties 
totaled $4,862 million in 2011, compared to $4,587 million in 2010.

2010 Compared to 2009
In 2010, across our North American Full-Service Lodging segment we added 20 properties (7,591 rooms) and 5 

properties (1,541 rooms) left the system.

In 2010, RevPAR for comparable company-operated North American Full-Service properties increased by 4.3 percent to 
$107.86, occupancy for these properties increased by 2.8 percentage points to 69.1 percent, and average daily rates increased 
by 0.1 percent to $156.14.

The $49 million increase in segment results, compared to 2009, primarily reflected $22 million of higher base 
management and franchise fees, $10 million of higher incentive management fees, $8 million of lower general, administrative, 
and other expenses, and $8 million of higher owned, leased, and other revenue net of direct expenses.

The $22 million of higher base management and franchise fees primarily reflected increased RevPAR and unit growth as 
well as franchise fees from new properties added to the Autograph Collection. The $10 million increase in incentive 
management fees was largely due to higher property-level revenue and continued tight property-level cost controls favorably 
impacting house profit margins.

The $8 million increase in owned, leased, and other revenue net of direct expenses is primarily due to stronger results 
driven by higher RevPAR and property-level margins.
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The $8 million decrease in general, administrative, and other expenses primarily reflected favorable variances from an $8 
million impairment charge related to the write-off of contract acquisition costs for one property, a $7 million charge for a 
security deposit, both of which we deemed unrecoverable in 2009, and a $3 million reversal of a completion guarantee accrual 
because we satisfied the related guarantee release requirements in 2010. These favorable variances were partially offset by $7 
million in net 2010 other cost increases, primarily reflecting incentive compensation, as well as a $4 million contract 
acquisition cost impairment charge recorded in the 2010 fourth quarter because we expected that a management agreement 
associated with one property would be terminated early in 2011 in conjunction with a change in property ownership.

Cost reimbursements revenue and expenses associated with our North American Full-Service Lodging segment properties 
totaled $4,587 million in 2010, compared to $4,333 million in 2009.

North American Limited-Service Lodging includes Courtyard, Fairfield Inn & Suites, SpringHill Suites, Residence 
Inn, TownePlace Suites, and Marriott ExecuStay.
 

($ in millions)

 
Segment revenues
Segment results

2011
$ 2,358
$ 382

2010
$ 2,150
$ 298

2009
$ 1,986
$ 265

Annual Change
Change

2011/2010
10%
28%

Change
2010/2009

8%
12%

2011 Compared to 2010

In 2011, across our North American Limited-Service Lodging segment we added 68 properties (8,379 rooms) and 13 
properties (1,432 rooms) left the system. The majority of the properties that left the system were older Residence Inn and 
Fairfield Inn properties.

In 2011, RevPAR for comparable company-operated North American Limited-Service properties increased by 6.7 percent 
to $76.86, occupancy for these properties increased by 2.4 percentage points to 69.7 percent, and average daily rates increased 
by 3.0 percent to $110.34.

The $84 million increase in segment results, compared to 2010, primarily reflected $50 million of higher franchise and 
base management fees, $12 million of higher owned, leased, corporate housing, and other revenue net of direct expenses, $12 
million of lower general, administrative, and other expenses, and $11 million of decreased joint venture equity losses.

Higher franchise and base management fees primarily reflected higher RevPAR and new unit growth, as well as the 
favorable effect of property renovations.

The $12 million increase in owned, leased, corporate housing, and other revenue net of direct expenses primarily 
reflected $5 million of stronger results for owned and leased properties driven by higher RevPAR and property-level margins, 
$3 million of higher corporate housing revenue, net of expenses, and $2 million of higher termination fees.

The $12 million decrease in general, administrative, and other expenses primarily reflected a favorable variance from a 
$14 million long-lived asset impairment charge in 2010, partially offset by $2 million of other cost increases. 

The $11 million decrease in joint venture equity losses primarily reflected $5 million of increased earnings in 2011 
associated with two joint ventures primarily reflecting stronger property-level performance and a $5 million impairment charge 
recorded in 2010 associated with another joint venture.

Cost reimbursements revenue and expenses associated with our North American Limited-Service Lodging segment 
properties totaled $1,687 million in 2011, compared to $1,548 million in 2010.

2010 Compared to 2009
In 2010, across our North American Limited-Service Lodging segment, we added 103 properties (12,341 rooms) and 15 

properties (1,556 rooms) left the system. The majority of the properties that left the system were Residence Inn properties of 
poor quality.

In 2010, RevPAR for comparable company-operated North American Limited-Service properties increased by 3.5 percent 
to $71.51, occupancy for these properties increased by 3.6 percentage points to 67.1 percent, and average daily rates decreased 
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by 2.0 percent to $106.59.

The $33 million increase in segment results, compared to 2009, primarily reflected $33 million of higher base 
management and franchise fees, $8 million of lower general, administrative, and other expenses, and $2 million of higher 
incentive management fees, partially offset by $4 million of increased joint venture equity losses, $4 million of lower owned, 
leased, corporate housing, and other revenue net of direct expenses, and $2 million of lower gains and other income.

The $33 million of higher base management and franchise fees primarily reflected higher RevPAR and new unit growth. 
The $2 million increase in incentive management fees was due to higher property-level revenue and continued tight property-
level cost controls favorably impacting house profit margins.

The $8 million decrease in general, administrative, and other expenses primarily reflected a favorable variance from a net 
$31 million impairment charge recorded in 2009 related to two security deposits that we deemed unrecoverable due, in part, to 
our decision not to fund certain cash flow shortfalls, partially offset by a $14 million long-lived asset impairment charge in 
2010 and $9 million of other cost increases primarily driven by higher incentive compensation. See Footnote No. 7, “Property 
and Equipment,” of the Notes to our Financial Statements for more information on the impairment charge recorded in 2010.

The $4 million increase in joint venture equity losses primarily reflected an impairment charge associated with one joint 
venture. The $2 million decrease in gains and other income reflected the lack of dividends from one joint venture due to a 
decline in available cash flow.

The $4 million decrease in owned, leased, corporate housing, and other revenue net of direct expenses primarily reflected 
lower revenue and property-level margins associated with weaker demand at certain leased properties.

Cost reimbursements revenue and expenses associated with our North American Limited-Service Lodging segment 
properties totaled $1,548 million in 2010, compared to $1,419 million in 2009.
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International Lodging includes Marriott Hotels & Resorts, JW Marriott, Renaissance Hotels, Autograph Collection, 
Courtyard, AC Hotels by Marriott, Fairfield Inn & Suites, Residence Inn, and Marriott Executive Apartments located outside 
the United States and Canada.
 

($ in millions)

 
Segment revenues
Segment results

2011
$ 1,278
$ 175

2010
$ 1,188
$ 165

2009
$ 1,096
$ 128

Annual Change
Change

2011/2010
8%
6%

Change
2010/2009

8%
29%

2011 Compared to 2010

In 2011, across our International Lodging segment we added 121 properties (16,355 rooms) and eight properties (2,428 
rooms) left the system, largely due to quality issues. The properties added include 80 AC Hotels by Marriott properties (8,371 
rooms) that are operated or franchised as part of our new unconsolidated joint ventures.

In 2011, RevPAR for comparable company-operated international properties increased by 6.9 percent to $129.96, 
occupancy for these properties increased by 0.9 percentage points to 70.8 percent, and average daily rates increased by 5.5 
percent to $179.38. Comparable company-operated RevPAR improved significantly in South America, India, China, Thailand, 
and France, while Egypt experienced RevPAR declines.

The $10 million increase in segment results in 2011, compared to 2010, primarily reflected an $18 million increase in 
base management and franchise fees, an $8 million increase in incentive management fees, $3 million of lower joint venture 
equity losses and $1 million of higher owned, leased, and other revenue net of direct expenses, partially offset by $15 million of 
higher general, administrative, and other expenses and $5 million of lower gains and other income.

The $18 million increase in base management and franchise fees primarily reflected new unit growth, strong RevPAR 
and, to a lesser extent, favorable foreign exchange rates. The $8 million increase in incentive management fees primarily 
reflected new unit growth, favorable foreign exchange rates and, to a lesser extent, higher net property-level income resulting 
from higher property-level revenue at several properties, partially offset by lower property-level revenue at properties in the 
Middle East.  

The $15 million increase in general, administrative, and other expenses primarily reflected $7 million of increased 
expenses associated with initiatives to enhance and grow our brands globally and a $5 million increase in a guarantee reserve 
related to one property with projected cash flow shortfalls.

The $5 million decrease in gains and other income primarily reflected an unfavorable variance from a net gain associated 
with the sale of two properties and one joint venture in 2010.

The $3 million decrease in joint venture equity losses primarily reflected decreased losses at one joint venture.

The $1 million increase in owned, leased, and other revenue net of direct expenses primarily reflected $5 million of 
decreased rent expense and $2 million of stronger results at one property, partially offset by $5 million of lower income related 
to the conversion of two properties from owned to managed.  

Cost reimbursements revenue and expenses associated with our International Lodging segment properties totaled $621 
million in 2011, compared to $568 million in 2010.

2010 Compared to 2009

In 2010, across our International Lodging segment we added 26 properties (7,289 rooms) and 10 properties (2,626 
rooms) left the system, largely due to quality issues.

In 2010, RevPAR for comparable company-operated international properties increased by 9.7 percent to $116.58, 
occupancy for these properties increased by 5.9 percentage points to 69.9 percent, and average daily rates increased by 0.4 
percent to $166.70. Comparable company-operated RevPAR improved significantly in China, Brazil and Germany and, to a 
lesser extent, in France and the United Kingdom, while the United Arab Emirates experienced RevPAR declines.

The $37 million increase in segment results in 2010, compared to 2009, primarily reflected a $13 million increase in 
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incentive management fees, an $8 million increase in base management and franchise fees, a $5 million increase in owned, 
leased, and other revenue net of direct expenses, a $5 million increase in gains and other income, a $4 million decrease in joint 
venture equity losses, and a $2 million decrease in restructuring costs.

The $13 million increase in incentive management fees was largely due to higher property-level revenue and continued 
tight property-level cost controls that favorably impacted house profit margins, and to a lesser extent new unit growth. The $8 
million increase in base management and franchise fees primarily reflected stronger RevPAR and new unit growth, partially 
offset by increased currency exchange losses.

The $5 million increase in owned, leased, and other revenue net of direct expenses primarily reflected $11 million of 
stronger results at some owned and leased properties, and $7 million of higher termination fees partially offset by $12 million 
of additional rent expense associated with one property.

The $5 million increase in gains and other income primarily reflected a favorable variance associated with a net gain 
associated with the sale of two properties in 2010.

The $4 million decrease in joint venture equity losses primarily reflected increased earnings at our joint ventures, 
resulting from stronger property-level performance, and a favorable variance from a $3 million impairment charge recorded for 
one joint venture in 2009.

The $2 million decrease in restructuring costs primarily reflects a favorable variance from a $2 million severance and 
fringe benefit charge recorded in 2009 during our restructuring efforts. See Footnote No. 19, “Restructuring Costs and Other 
Charges,” of the Notes to our Financial Statements for more information.

Cost reimbursements revenue and expenses associated with our International Lodging segment properties totaled $568 
million in 2010, compared to $518 million in 2009.

Luxury Lodging includes The Ritz-Carlton, Bulgari Hotels & Resorts, and EDITION worldwide.
 

($ in millions)

 
Segment revenues
Segment results

2011
$ 1,673
$ 74

2010
$ 1,563
$ 77

2009
$ 1,413
$ 17

Annual Change
Change

2011/2010
7 %

(4)%

Change
2010/2009

11%
353%

2011 Compared to 2010

In 2011, across our Luxury Lodging segment we added seven properties (1,862 rooms) and two properties (477 rooms) 
left the system. In 2011, we also added four residential products (753 units) and no residential products left the system.

In 2011, RevPAR for comparable company-operated luxury properties increased by 8.5 percent to $205.04, occupancy 
increased by 1.2 percentage points to 66.9 percent, and average daily rates increased by 6.5 percent to $306.45.

The $3 million decrease in segment results, compared to 2010, primarily reflected $20 million of increased general, 
administrative, and other expenses and $8 million of increased joint venture equity losses, partially offset by an $11 million 
increase in base management fees, $8 million of higher owned, leased, and other revenue net of direct expenses, and a $5 
million increase in incentive management fees.

The $20 million increase in general, administrative, and other expenses primarily reflected a $5 million impairment of 
contract acquisition costs and a $5 million accounts receivable reserve, both related to one property whose owner filed for 
bankruptcy in 2011, a $5 million reversal in 2010 of a completion guarantee accrual, and $4 million in other cost increases in 
2011.

The $8 million increase in joint venture equity losses primarily reflected decreased earnings at two joint ventures.

The $11 million increase in base management fees was largely driven by RevPAR growth associated with stronger 
demand and, to a lesser extent, new unit growth.  The $5 million increase in incentive management fees primarily reflected 
higher net property-level income resulting from higher property-level revenue and continued property-level cost controls, new 
unit growth and, to a lesser extent, favorable foreign exchange rates.
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The $8 million increase in owned, leased, and other revenue net of direct expenses primarily reflected $12 million in 
increased branding fees associated with the sale of real estate by others, partially offset by a $4 million decline in income 
associated with our leased property in Japan, which experienced lower demand as a result of the earthquake and tsunami earlier 
in the year.

Cost reimbursements revenue and expenses associated with our Luxury Lodging segment properties totaled $1,350 
million in 2011, compared to $1,261 million in 2010.

2010 Compared to 2009

In 2010, across our Luxury Lodging segment we added three properties (763 rooms) and one property (349 rooms) left 
the segment becoming an Autograph Collection hotel. In 2010, we also added three residential products (441 units) and one 
product (25 units) left the system.

Compared to 2009, RevPAR for comparable company-operated luxury properties increased by 10.2 percent to $193.17, 
occupancy for these properties increased by 5.9 percentage points to 66.1 percent, and average daily rates increased by 0.4 
percent to $292.11. While Luxury Lodging was particularly hurt by weak demand associated with the financial services 
industry and other corporate group business in 2009, that business improved in 2010.

The $60 million increase in segment results, compared to 2009, reflected a $30 million decrease in joint venture equity 
losses, $12 million of higher owned, leased, and other revenue net of direct expenses, $8 million of decreased general, 
administrative, and other expenses, a $7 million increase in base management fees, and a $3 million increase in incentive 
management fees.

The $30 million decrease in joint venture equity losses primarily reflected a favorable variance from a $30 million 
impairment charge recorded in 2009 associated with a joint venture investment that we determined to be fully impaired.

The $12 million of higher owned, leased, and other revenue net of direct expenses primarily reflected a $6 million 
favorable variance from improved operating performance at three properties, as well as $4 million of higher branding fees 
primarily from one property, and $2 million of termination fees net of property closing costs, all in 2010.

The $8 million decrease in general, administrative, and other expenses primarily reflected a $5 million reversal in 2010 of 
a completion guarantee accrual for which we satisfied the related requirements and a $4 million favorable variance from bad 
debt expense recorded in 2009 on an accounts receivable balance we deemed uncollectible, partially offset by $1 million in 
other net 2010 cost increases primarily reflecting incentive compensation.

The $7 million increase in base management fees was largely driven by RevPAR growth associated with stronger demand 
and, to a lesser extent, new unit growth. The $3 million increase in incentive management fees primarily reflected fees earned 
and due from one property in 2010 that were calculated based on prior periods’ results.

Cost reimbursements revenue and expenses associated with our Luxury Lodging segment properties totaled $1,261 
million in 2010, compared to $1,143 million in 2009.
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Timeshare included Marriott Vacation Club, The Ritz-Carlton Destination Club and Residences, and Grand Residences 
by Marriott brands worldwide, prior to the spin-off. See Footnote No. 17, "Spin-off" of the Notes to our Financial Statements 
for additional information on the spin-off. The results for 2011 include the results of the former Timeshare segment prior to the 
spin-off date while results for 2010 and 2009 include the former Timeshare segment for those entire fiscal years.

 

($ in millions)
Segment revenues

Base fee revenue
Sales and services revenue

Development
Services
Financing revenue

Interest income non-
securitized notes
Interest income-
securitized notes
Other financing revenue

Total financing revenue
Other revenue

Total sales and services revenue
Cost reimbursements

Segment revenues
Segment Results

Base fee revenue
Timeshare sales and services, net
Timeshare strategy-impairment
charges
Restructuring costs
Joint venture equity losses
Gains and other income
Net losses attributable to
noncontrolling interests
General, administrative, and other
expense
Timeshare strategy-impairment
charges (non-operating)
Interest expense
Segment (losses) results

Contract Sales
Timeshare
Fractional
Residential

Total company
Fractional
Residential

Total joint venture
Total Timeshare segment
contract sales

2011

$ 51

577
344

27

116
6

149
18

1,088
299

$ 1,438

$ 51
159

(324)
—
—
3

(63)

—
(43)

$ (217)

$ 570
23
4

597
8

13
21

$ 618

(1) 2010

$ 55

626
351

40

147
7

194
50

1,221
275

$ 1,551

$ 55
199

—
—
(8)
20

(85)

—
(55)

$ 126

$ 651
28
9

688
5

(8)
(3)

$ 685

2009

$ 52

626
330

46

—
67

113
54

1,123
269

$ 1,444

52
83

(614)
(45)
(12)

2

11

(80)

(71)
—

$ (674)

$ 685
28
8

721
(21)
(35)
(56)

$ 665

Annual Change
Change

2011/2010

(7)%

(272)%

(10)%

Change
2010/2009

7%

119%

3%

(1)  2011 Activity is prior to the date of spin-off, November 21, 2011.
 

2011 Compared to 2010

Timeshare segment contract sales decreased by $67 million to $618 million in 2011 from $685 million in 2010 primarily 
reflecting an $81 million decrease in timeshare contract sales and a $2 million decrease in fractional contract sales, partially 
offset by a $16 million increase in residential contract sales. Timeshare contract sales decreased in 2011 primarily as a result of 
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the spin-off of the timeshare business resulting in fewer periods of Timeshare segment activity reflected in the 2011 fiscal year, 
as compared to a full fiscal year in 2010, as well as difficult comparisons driven by sales promotions in 2010 and the start-up 
impact of the shift from the sale of weeks-based to points-based products in the 2010 third quarter. Residential and fractional 
contract sales benefited from a net $19 million decrease in cancellation allowances that we recorded in 2010 in anticipation that 
a portion of contract revenue, previously recorded for certain residential and fractional projects would not be realized due to 
contract cancellations prior to closing.

The $113 million decrease in Timeshare segment revenues to $1,438 million from $1,551 million primarily reflected a 
$133 million decrease in Timeshare sales and services revenue and a $4 million decrease in base management fees, partially 
offset by a $24 million increase in cost reimbursements revenue. The decrease in Timeshare sales and services revenue 
primarily reflected: (1) $49 million of lower development revenue which reflected the spin-off and, to a lesser extent, lower 
sales volumes, partially offset by favorable reportability primarily related to sales reserves recorded in 2010; (2) $45 million of 
lower financing revenue from lower interest income as a result of the transfer of the mortgage portfolio to MVW in conjunction 
with the spin-off as well as a lower mortgage portfolio balance prior to the spin-off date; (3) $32 million of lower other revenue 
which primarily reflected the spin-off and lower resales revenue; and (4) $7 million of lower services revenue which reflected 
the spin-off, partially offset by increased rental occupancies and rates.

Segment results decreased by $343 million to segment losses of $217 million in 2011 from segment income of $126 
million in 2010, and primarily reflected $324 million of Timeshare strategy-impairment charges, $40 million of lower 
Timeshare sales and services revenue net of direct expenses, $17 million of lower gains and other income, and $4 million of 
lower base management fees, partially offset by $22 million of lower general, administrative, and other expense, $12 million of 
lower interest expense, and $8 million of lower joint venture equity losses.

The $40 million decrease in Timeshare sales and services revenue net of direct expenses primarily reflected $28 million 
of lower other revenue, net of expenses and $25 million of lower financing revenue, net of expenses, partially offset by $8 
million of higher development revenue net of product costs and marketing and selling costs and $5 million of higher services 
revenue, net of expenses. The $28 million decrease in other revenue, net of expenses primarily reflected a $15 million 
unfavorable variance from an adjustment to the Marriott Rewards liability in the prior year and, to a lesser extent the impact of 
the spin-off in 2011 as well as lower resales revenue, net of expenses due to lower closings.  The $25 million decrease in 
financing revenue, net of expenses primarily reflected decreased interest income due to the spin-off as well as lower notes 
receivable balances. Higher development revenue net of product costs and marketing and selling costs primarily reflected 
favorable reportability as well as a favorable variance from a net $12 million reserve in the prior year, partially offset by lower 
2011 sales volumes as well as the impact of the spin-off.   

Gains and other income decreased by $17 million and primarily reflected the sale of one property for a gain in 2010 and 
smaller gains on sales of property in 2011.  Base management fees decreased by $4 million, primarily due to the spin-off. 

General, administrative, and other expense decreased by $22 million primarily due to a $13 million impairment charge in 
2010 associated with the disposition of a golf course and related assets as well as the impact of the spin-off. For additional 
information on the impairment charge recorded in 2010, see Footnote No. 7, “Property and Equipment,” of the Notes to our 
Financial Statements.

Joint venture equity losses decreased by $8 million and primarily reflected lower losses from a residential and fractional 
project joint venture for which the former Timeshare segment stopped recognizing their portion of the losses since their 
investment, including loans due from the joint venture, was reduced to zero in 2010.

The $12 million decrease in interest expense was a result of the transfer of the outstanding debt obligations associated 
with securitized notes receivable to MVW in conjunction with the spin-off, as well as lower outstanding debt obligations and 
lower interest rates.

2010 Compared to 2009

During the 2010 third quarter, we launched the points-based Marriott Vacation Club Destinations timeshare program (the 
“MVCD Program”) in North America and the Caribbean. Under the MVCD Program, we sold beneficial interests in a domestic 
land trust. Based on the number of beneficial interests purchased, MVCD members received an annual allocation of Vacation 
Club Points to redeem for travel at numerous destinations. Although the rights and privileges, that existed at the launch of the 
new program for owners of weeks-based intervals were unchanged, those owners also had the option of enrolling in the MVCD 
Program, which afforded them the opportunity to trade their weeks-based intervals for Vacation Club Points usage each year, as 
well as to purchase additional product in increments of less than one week. Since the MVCD Program was a significant change 
from our prior approach to the timeshare business, marketing efforts initially focused on existing owners, to encourage 
participation and purchase of additional product.
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Timeshare segment contract sales, including sales made by our timeshare joint venture projects, represent sales of 
timeshare interval, fractional ownership, and residential ownership products before the adjustment for percentage-of-
completion accounting. Timeshare segment contract sales increased by $20 million to $685 million in 2010 from $665 million 
in 2009 primarily reflecting a $28 million increase in residential contract sales and a $26 million increase in fractional contract 
sales, mostly offset by a $34 million decrease in timeshare contract sales. Sales of timeshare intervals were hurt by tough 
comparisons driven by sales promotions begun in 2009. Residential and fractional contract sales benefited from a net $63 
million decrease in cancellation allowances we recorded in anticipation that a portion of contract revenue previously recorded 
for certain residential and fractional projects would not be realized due to contract cancellations prior to closing.

The $107 million increase in Timeshare segment revenues to $1,551 million from $1,444 million in 2009 primarily 
reflected a $98 million increase in Timeshare sales and services revenue, a $6 million increase in cost reimbursements revenue, 
and a $3 million increase in base management fees. The increase in Timeshare sales and services revenue, compared to 2009, 
primarily reflected higher financing revenue due to higher interest income associated with the impact of the new Transfers of 
Financial Assets and Consolidation standards and, to a lesser extent, higher services revenue reflecting increased rental 
occupancies and rates. These favorable impacts were partially offset by lower development revenue reflecting lower sales 
volumes primarily due to tough comparisons driven by sales promotions begun in 2009, and a $20 million increase in reserves 
(we began reserving for 100 percent of notes that were in default in addition to the reserve we recorded on notes not in default).

Segment income of $126 million in 2010 increased by $800 million from $674 million of segment losses in 2009, and 
primarily reflected a favorable variance from the $685 million of impairments recorded in 2009, $116 million of higher 2010 
Timeshare sales and services revenue net of direct expenses, $45 million of lower restructuring costs compared with 2009, $18 
million increase in gains and other income, $3 million increase in base management fees, and $4 million of lower joint venture 
equity losses partially offset by a $55 million increase in interest expense, an $11 million decrease in net losses attributable to 
noncontrolling interest, and $5 million of higher general, administrative, and other expenses.

The $116 million increase in Timeshare sales and services revenue net of direct expenses primarily reflected $78 million 
of higher financing revenue, net of expenses, $33 million of higher development revenue net of product costs and marketing 
and selling costs, and $8 million of higher other revenue net of expense, partially offset by $3 million of lower services revenue 
net of expenses. Higher development revenue net of product costs and marketing and selling costs primarily reflected both 
lower costs due to lower sales volumes and lower marketing and selling costs in 2010, as well as favorable variances from both 
a $10 million charge related to an issue with a state tax authority and a net $3 million impact from contract cancellation 
allowances in 2009, partially offset by lower development revenue for the reasons stated previously. The $20 million 
unfavorable impact to development revenue related to the reserve for uncollectible accounts was partially offset by a favorable 
impact in product costs, resulting in a net $12 million increase in reserves.

The $78 million increase in financing revenue, net of expense, primarily reflected: (1) a net $141 million increase in 
interest income, reflecting a $147 million increase from the notes receivable we consolidated in 2010 associated with past 
securitization transactions as part of our adoption of the new Transfers of Financial Assets and Consolidation standards, 
partially offset by a $6 million decrease in interest income related to non-securitized notes receivable reflecting a lower 
outstanding balance; and (2) a favorable variance from a $20 million charge in 2009 related to the reduction in the valuation of 
residual interests. These favorable variances were partially offset by $42 million of decreased residual interest accretion 
reflecting the elimination of residual interests as part of our 2010 adoption of the new Transfers of Financial Assets and 
Consolidation standards, $37 million of gain on notes sold in 2009, and $3 million of other net expenses.

The $8 million increase in other revenue net of expense primarily reflected a $15 million favorable adjustment to the 
Marriott Rewards liability resulting from lower than anticipated cost of redemptions, as well as $6 million of higher other 
miscellaneous revenue, partially offset by $13 million of net costs in excess of enrollment revenue related to the MVCD 
Program. The $11 million increase in services revenue net of expenses primarily reflected higher rental revenue associated with 
increased transient demand.

The $55 million in interest expense was a result of the consolidation of debt obligations due to our adoption of the new 
Transfers of Financial Assets and Consolidation standards.

Gains and other income increased by $18 million, primarily due to the sale of one property in the 2010 fourth quarter.

The $5 million increase in general, administrative, and other expenses primarily reflected a $13 million impairment 
charge in 2010 associated with the anticipated disposition of a golf course and related assets. Partially offsetting this 
unfavorable variance was a $7 million write-off of capitalized software development costs in 2009 related to a project for 
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which we decided not to pursue further development. 

Joint venture equity losses decreased by $4 million and primarily reflected higher cancellation allowances recorded at a 
joint venture in 2009.

The $11 million decrease to zero in net losses attributable to a noncontrolling interest was associated with our acquisition 
of that noncontrolling interest. 

SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION

Under our 2002 Comprehensive Stock and Cash Incentive Plan, we award: (1) stock options to purchase our Class A 
Common Stock (“Stock Option Program”); (2) stock appreciation rights (“SARs”) for our Class A Common Stock (“Stock 
Appreciation Right Program”); (3) restricted stock units (“RSUs”) of our Class A Common Stock; and (4) deferred stock units. 
We grant awards at exercise prices or strike prices that equal the market price of our Class A Common Stock on the date of 
grant.

During 2011, we granted 2.6 million RSUs, 0.7 million Employee SARs, and 29,000 deferred stock units. See Footnote 
No. 3, “Share-Based Compensation,” of the Notes to our Financial Statements for additional information.

NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

See Footnote No. 1, “Summary of Significant Accounting Policies,” of the Notes to our Financial Statements for 
information related to our adoption of new accounting standards in 2011 and for information on our anticipated adoption of 
recently issued accounting standards.
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LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Cash Requirements and Our Credit Facilities

On June 23, 2011, we amended and restated our multicurrency revolving credit agreement (the “Credit Facility”) to 
extend the facility’s expiration from May 14, 2012 to June 23, 2016 and reduce (at our direction) the facility size from $2.404 
billion to $1.750 billion of aggregate effective borrowings. The material terms of the amended and restated Credit Facility are 
otherwise unchanged, and the facility continues to support general corporate needs, including working capital, capital 
expenditures, and letters of credit. The availability of the Credit Facility also supports our commercial paper program. 
Borrowings under the Credit Facility bear interest at LIBOR (the London Interbank Offered Rate) plus a spread, based on our 
public debt rating. We also pay quarterly fees on the Credit Facility at a rate based on our public debt rating. For additional 
information on our Credit Facility, including participating financial institutions, see Exhibit 10, “Second Amended and Restated 
Credit Agreement,” to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on June 27, 2011.

The Credit Facility contains certain covenants, including a single financial covenant that limits our maximum leverage 
(consisting of the ratio of Adjusted Total Debt to Consolidated EBITDA, each as defined in the Credit Facility) to not more 
than 4 to 1. Our outstanding public debt does not contain a corresponding financial covenant or a requirement that we maintain 
certain financial ratios. We currently satisfy the covenants in our Credit Facility and public debt instruments, including the 
leverage covenant under the Credit Facility, and do not expect the covenants to restrict our ability to meet our anticipated 
borrowing and guarantee levels or increase those levels should we decide to do so in the future.

We believe the Credit Facility and our access to capital markets, together with cash we expect to generate from 
operations, remains adequate to meet our short-term and long-term liquidity requirements, finance our long-term growth plans, 
meet debt service, and fulfill other cash requirements.

In early 2011 we resumed issuing commercial paper in the United States. We do not have purchase commitments from 
buyers for our commercial paper; therefore, our issuances are subject to market demand. We classify any outstanding 
commercial paper and Credit Facility borrowings as long-term debt based on our ability and intent to refinance it on a long-
term basis. We reserve unused capacity under our Credit Facility to repay outstanding commercial paper borrowings in the 
event that the commercial paper market is not available to us for any reason when outstanding borrowings mature. We do not 
expect fluctuations in the demand for commercial paper to affect our liquidity, given our borrowing capacity under the Credit 
Facility.

At year-end 2011, our available borrowing capacity amounted to $1.520 billion and reflected borrowing capacity of 
$1.418 billion under our Credit Facility and our cash balance of $102 million. We calculated that borrowing capacity by taking 
$1.750 billion of effective aggregate bank commitments under our Credit Facility and subtracting $1 million of outstanding 
letters of credit under our Credit Facility and $331 million of outstanding commercial paper. We had no outstanding borrowings 
under our Credit Facility at year-end 2011. We anticipate that available borrowing capacity under the Credit Facility will be 
adequate to fund our liquidity needs, including repayment of debt obligations. Since we continue to have ample flexibility 
under the Credit Facility’s covenants, we also expect that undrawn bank commitments under the Credit Facility will remain 
available to us even if business conditions were to deteriorate markedly.

Cash from Operations
Cash from operations, depreciation expense, and amortization expense for the last three fiscal years are as follows:

($ in millions)
Cash from operations

Depreciation expense

Amortization expense

2011

$ 1,089

127

41

2010

$ 1,151

138

40

2009

$ 868

151

34

 Our ratio of current assets to current liabilities was roughly 0.5 to 1.0 at year-end 2011 and 1.4 to 1.0 at year-end 2010. 
See Footnote No. 17, "Spin-off" of the Notes to our Financial Statements for information on the spin-off in 2011 and related 
decrease in current assets. We minimize working capital through cash management, strict credit-granting policies, and 
aggressive collection efforts. We also have significant borrowing capacity under our Credit Facility should we need additional 
working capital.

Our ratios of earnings to fixed charges for the last five fiscal years, the calculations of which are detailed in Exhibit 12 to 
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this 2011 Annual Report on Form 10-K, are as follows:
 

Fiscal Years
2011

2.3x

2010

2.9x

2009

*

2008

3.1x

2007

4.3x

 *  In 2009, earnings were inadequate to cover fixed charges by approximately $364 million.

Timeshare Cash Flows

While our former Timeshare segment historically generated positive operating cash flow, year-to-year cash flow varied 
based on the timing of both cash outlays for the acquisition and development of new resorts and cash received from purchaser 
financing. We included timeshare reportable sales we financed in cash from operations when we collected cash payments. We 
show the net operating activity from our former Timeshare segment prior to the spin-off (which does not include income from 
our Timeshare segment) in the following table. In 2011, 2010, and 2009, new Timeshare segment mortgages totaled $214 
million, $256 million, and $302 million, respectively, and collections totaled $273 million (which included collections on 
securitized notes of $187 million), $347 million (which included collections on securitized notes of $230 million), and $155 
million, respectively.

($ in millions)

Timeshare segment development less than (in excess of) cost of sales

Timeshare segment collections (net of new mortgages)

Note repurchases

Financially reportable sales less than closed sales

Note securitization gains

Note securitization proceeds

Collection on retained interests in securitized notes and servicing fees

Other cash inflows (outflows)

Net cash inflows from Timeshare segment activity

2011

$ 97

59

—

3

—

—

—

12

$ 171

2010

$ 15

91

—

58

—

—

—

52

$ 216

2009

$ (4)

(147)

(81)

29

(37)

349

82

(45)

$ 146

For additional information on our timeshare note securitizations, including a discussion of the cash flows on securitized 
notes, see Footnote No. 11, “Asset Securitizations,” of the Notes to our Financial Statements. 

For additional information on the spin-off, please see Footnote No. 17, "Spin-off" of the Notes to our Financial 
Statements. We expect that the spin-off will result in the realization through 2015 of approximately $400 million to $450 
million of cash tax benefits to Marriott, including approximately $115 million to $125 million for the 2012 fiscal year, relating 
to the value of the timeshare business.  For 2011, we realized approximately $80 million of these cash tax benefits. 

Investing Activities Cash Flows

Capital Expenditures and Other Investments. We made capital expenditures of $183 million in 2011, $307 million in 
2010, and $147 million in 2009 that included expenditures related to the development and construction of new hotels and 
acquisitions of hotel properties, as well as improvements to existing properties and systems initiatives. Timeshare segment 
development expenditures, which we included in “Cash from Operations” prior to the spin-off, as noted in that section, were 
not reflected in these numbers. Capital expenditures in 2011 decreased primarily due to the purchase of two hotels in 2010. 
Capital expenditures in 2010 increased primarily due to the purchase of two hotel properties. We expect investment spending 
for the 2012 fiscal year will total approximately $550 million to $750 million, including $50 million to $100 million for 
maintenance capital spending. Investment spending will also include other capital expenditures (including property 
acquisitions), loan advances, contract acquisition costs, and equity and other investments. 

Over time, we have sold lodging properties under development subject to long-term management agreements. The ability 
of third-party purchasers to raise the necessary debt and equity capital depends in part on the perceived risks inherent in the 
lodging industry and other constraints inherent in the capital markets as a whole. We monitor the status of the capital markets 
and regularly evaluate the potential impact on our business operations of changes in capital market conditions. We expect to 
continue to make selective and opportunistic investments in connection with adding units to our lodging business. These 
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investments include loans and noncontrolling equity investments.

Fluctuations in the values of hotel real estate generally have little impact on the overall results of our Lodging segment 
because: (1) we own less than one percent of the total number of hotels that we operate or franchise; (2) management and 
franchise fees are generally based upon hotel revenues and profits rather than current hotel property values; and (3) our 
management agreements generally do not terminate upon hotel sale or foreclosure.

Dispositions. Property and asset sales generated cash proceeds of $20 million in 2011, $114 million in 2010, and $2 
million in 2009.

Loan Activity. From time to time we make loans to owners of hotels that we operate or franchise. Collections and sales 
for such loans, net of advances during 2011 and 2010, amounted to net loan collections of $84 million in 2011 and net loan 
advances of $6 million in 2010. At year-end 2011, we had no senior loans and $382 million in mezzanine and other loans 
(including a current portion of $84 million) outstanding, compared with no senior loans and $191 million in mezzanine and 
other loans (including a current portion of $7 million) outstanding at year-end 2010. In 2011, our notes receivable balance 
associated with senior, mezzanine, and other loans increased by $191 million and primarily reflected the funding and collection 
of several loans offset by the reserves against loans. See the “Senior, Mezzanine, and Other Loans” caption in Footnote No. 1, 
“Summary of Significant Accounting Policies,” of the Notes to our Financial Statements for additional information.

Equity and Cost Method Investments. Cash outflows of $83 million in 2011, $29 million in 2010, and $28 million in 
2009 associated with equity and cost method investments primarily reflects our investments in a number of joint ventures.

Cash from Financing Activities

Debt. Debt decreased by $658 million in 2011, to $2,171 million at year-end 2011 from $2,829 million at year-end 2010, 
and reflected a $1,016 million decrease in non-recourse debt associated with previously securitized notes which we transferred 
to MVW as part of the spin-off, partially offset by a $331 million increase in commercial paper and other debt (which includes 
capital leases) increases of $27 million. Debt increased by $531 million in 2010, to $2,829 million at year-end 2010 from 
$2,298 million at year-end 2009, and reflected consolidation of debt with a balance at year-end 2010 of $1,016 million, 
partially offset by decreased borrowings under our Credit Facility of $425 million and other net debt decreases of $60 million. 

Our financial objectives include diversifying our financing sources, optimizing the mix and maturity of our long-term 
debt and reducing our working capital. At year-end 2011, our long-term debt had an average interest rate of 5.0 percent and an 
average maturity of approximately 3.6 years. The ratio of fixed-rate long-term debt to total long-term debt was 0.82 to 1.0 at 
year-end 2011.

See the “Cash Requirements and Our Credit Facilities,” caption within this “Liquidity and Capital Resources” section for 
additional information on our Credit Facility.

During 2010, we repaid all outstanding borrowings under our Credit Facility, which had a balance outstanding at year-
end 2009 of $425 million.

In 2009, we repurchased $122 million principal amount of our Senior Notes in the open market, across multiple series. 
We recorded a gain of $21 million for the debt extinguishment representing the difference between the acquired debt’s purchase 
price of $98 million and its carrying amount of $119 million.

Share Repurchases. We purchased 43.4 million shares of our Class A Common Stock in 2011 at an average price of 
$32.79 per share, purchased 1.5 million shares in 2010 at an average price of $39.02 per share, and did not purchase any shares 
in 2009. As of year-end 2011, 5.5 million shares remained available for repurchase under authorizations previously approved 
by our Board of Directors. On February 10, 2012, we announced that our Board of Directors increased, by 35 million shares, 
the authorization to repurchase our Class A Common Stock. We purchase shares in the open market and in privately negotiated 
transactions. 
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Dividends. Our Board of Directors declared a cash dividend of $0.0875 per share on February 11, 2011, and a cash 
dividend of $0.10 per share on May 6, August 4, and November 10, 2011, and February 10, 2012.

Contractual Obligations and Off Balance Sheet Arrangements
The following table summarizes our contractual obligations as of year-end 2011:

Contractual Obligations

  

($ in millions)

Debt (1)

Capital lease obligations (1)

Operating leases where we are the primary obligor:

Recourse

Non-recourse

Operating leases where we are secondarily liable

Purchase obligations

Other long-term liabilities

Total contractual obligations

 

Total

$ 2,484

71

1,059

266

31

95

63

$ 4,069

Payments Due by Period
Less Than

1 Year

$ 449

3

125

11

12

47

—

$ 647

1-3 Years

$ 553

62

222

18

19

48

8

$ 930

3-5 Years

$ 1,042

2

194

21

—

—

1

$ 1,260

After
5 Years

$ 440

4

518

216

—

—

54

$ 1,232

 
(1) Includes principal as well as interest payments.

The preceding table does not reflect unrecognized tax benefits as of year-end 2011 of $39 million. As a large taxpayer, we 
are under continual audit by the IRS and other taxing authorities. Although we do not anticipate that those audits will have a 
significant impact on our unrecognized tax benefit balance during the next 52 weeks, it remains possible that our liability for 
unrecognized tax benefits could change over that time period. See Footnote No. 2, “Income Taxes,” of the Notes to our 
Financial Statements for additional information.

The following table summarizes our guarantee commitments as of year-end 2011:

Guarantee Commitments 

  

($ in millions)
Total guarantees where we are the primary obligor

Total guarantees where we are secondarily liable

Total guarantee commitments

 
Total

Amounts
Committed

$ 210

258

$ 468

Amount of Guarantee Commitments Expiration by Period

Less Than
1 Year

$ 56

47

$ 103

1-3 Years

$ 41

77

$ 118

3-5 Years

$ 49

56

$ 105

After
5 Years

$ 64

78

$ 142

In addition to the guarantees noted in the preceding table, we have provided a project completion guarantee in favor of 
lenders with an estimated aggregate total cost of $498 million (Canadian $508 million), and a $3 million carrying value for our 
associated liability as of year-end 2011. During 2010, our joint venture partners executed documents indemnifying us for any 
payments that may be required in connection with this guarantee.

For additional information on this project completion guarantee, including our pro rata ownership percentage in the 
associated entity, as well as additional information on our guarantees, including their nature and the circumstances under which 
they were entered into, see the “Guarantees” caption within Footnote No. 15, “Contingencies,” of the Notes to our Financial 
Statements.

In addition to the guarantees described in the preceding paragraphs, in conjunction with financing obtained for specific 
projects or properties owned by joint ventures in which we are a party, we may provide industry standard indemnifications to 
the lender for loss, liability or damage occurring as a result of our actions or the actions of the other joint venture owner.

We also had the following other commitments, including loan and investment commitments, outstanding at year-end 
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2011:

Loan and Investment Commitments

  

($ in millions)
Total loan commitments

Total investment commitments

Total other commitments

 
Total

Amounts
Committed

$ —

104

$ 104

Amount of Loan and Investment Commitments Expected
Funding by Period

Less Than
1 Year

$ —

15

$ 15

1-3 Years

$ —

89

$ 89

3-5 Years

$ —

—

$ —

After
5 Years

$ —

—

$ —

For further information on our loan and investment commitments, including the nature of the commitments and their 
expirations, see the “Commitments and Letters of Credit” caption within Footnote No. 15, “Contingencies,” of the Notes to our 
Financial Statements.

At year-end 2011, we also had $65 million of letters of credit outstanding ($64 million outside the Credit Facility and $1 
million under our Credit Facility), the majority of which related to our self-insurance programs. Surety bonds issued as of year-
end 2011 totaled $108 million, the majority of which were requested by federal, state or local governments related to our 
lodging operations, including our self-insurance programs.

In the normal course of the hotel management business, we enter into purchase commitments to manage the daily 
operating needs of hotels we manage for owners. Since we are reimbursed from the cash flows of the hotels, these obligations 
have minimal impact on our net income and cash flow.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
Equity Method Investments

We have equity method investments in entities that own properties for which we provide management and/or franchise 
services and receive fees. In some cases we provide loans, preferred equity or guarantees to these entities. Our ownership 
interests in these equity method investments generally vary from 10 to 49 percent. For other information on these equity 
method investments, including the impact to our financial statements of transactions with these related parties, see Footnote 
No. 22, “Related Party Transactions,” of the Notes to our Financial Statements.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES 
The preparation of financial statements in accordance with GAAP requires management to make estimates and 

assumptions that affect reported amounts and related disclosures. Management considers an accounting estimate to be critical 
if: (1) it requires assumptions to be made that were uncertain at the time the estimate was made; and (2) changes in the 
estimate, or different estimates that could have been selected, could have a material effect on our consolidated results of 
operations or financial condition.

While we believe that our estimates, assumptions, and judgments are reasonable, they are based on information presently 
available. Actual results may differ significantly. Additionally, changes in our assumptions, estimates or assessments as a result 
of unforeseen events or otherwise could have a material impact on our financial position or results of operations.

Management has discussed the development and selection of its critical accounting estimates with the Audit Committee 
of the Board of Directors, and the Audit Committee has reviewed the disclosure presented below relating to them.

Please see Footnote No. 1, “Summary of Significant Accounting Policies,” of the Notes to our Financial Statements for 
further information on our critical accounting policies, including our policies on:

Marriott Rewards and The Ritz-Carlton Rewards, our frequent guest rewards programs, including how members earn points, 
how we determine the fair value of our redemption obligation, and how we recognize revenue related to these programs;

Valuation of Goodwill, including how we evaluate the fair value of goodwill and when we record an impairment loss on 
goodwill;

Valuation of Intangibles and Long-Lived Assets, including how we evaluate the fair value of intangibles and long-lived assets 
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and when we record impairment losses on intangibles and long-lived assets;

Valuation of Investments in Ventures, including information on how we evaluate the fair value of investments in ventures and 
when we record impairment losses on investments in ventures;

Legal Contingencies, including information on how we account for legal contingencies;

Income Taxes, including information on how we determine our current year amounts payable or refundable, as well as our 
estimate of deferred tax assets and liabilities; and

Loan Loss Reserves for Senior, Mezzanine, and Other Loans and, prior to the spin-off date, for Loans to Timeshare Owners, 
including information on how we measure impairment on each of these types of loans.

OTHER MATTERS
Inflation

Inflation has been moderate in recent years and has not had a significant impact on our businesses.

Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk. 
We are exposed to market risk from changes in interest rates, stock prices, currency exchange rates, and debt prices. We 

manage our exposure to these risks by monitoring available financing alternatives, through development and application of 
credit granting policies and by entering into derivative arrangements. We do not foresee any significant changes in either our 
exposure to fluctuations in interest rates or currency rates or how such exposure is managed in the future.

We are exposed to interest rate risk on our floating-rate notes receivable. Changes in interest rates also impact the fair 
value of our fixed-rate notes receivable and the fair value of our fixed-rate long-term debt.

We are also subject to risk from changes in debt prices from our investments in debt securities and fluctuations in stock 
price related to our investment in a publicly traded company. Changes in the price of the underlying stock can impact the fair 
value of our investment. We account for our investments as available-for-sale securities under the guidance for accounting for 
certain investments in debt and equity securities. At year-end 2011, our investments had a fair value of $50 million.

We use derivative instruments, including cash flow hedges, net investment in non-U.S. operations hedges, and other 
derivative instruments, as part of our overall strategy to manage our exposure to market risks associated with fluctuations in 
interest rates and currency exchange rates. As a matter of policy, we only enter into transactions that we believe will be highly 
effective at offsetting the underlying risk, and we do not use derivatives for trading or speculative purposes. At year-end 2011, 
our Balance Sheet included a $2 million asset for currency exchange derivatives and a $9 million liability for an interest rate 
swap. Please see Footnote No. 1, “Summary of Significant Accounting Policies,” of the Notes to our Financial Statements for 
additional information associated with derivative instruments.
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The following table sets forth the scheduled maturities and the total fair value as of year-end 2011 for our financial 
instruments that are impacted by market risks: 
 

 

($ in millions)

Assets-Maturities represent expected principal receipts, fair values represent assets.
Fixed-rate notes receivable

Average interest rate

Floating-rate notes receivable

Average interest rate

Liabilities-Maturities represent expected principal payments, fair values represent liabilities.
Fixed-rate debt

Average interest rate

Maturities by Period

2012

$ 76

$ 8

$ (354)

2013

$ 48

$ 1

$ (406)

2014

$ 34

$ 1

$ (7)

2015

$ 23

$ —

$ (315)

2016

$ 44

$ —

$ (629)

There-
after

$ 57

$ 90

$ (396)

Total
Carrying
Amount

$ 282

3.45%

$ 100

4.84%

$ (2,107)

6.60%

Total
Fair

Value

$ 279

$ 54

$ (1,886)
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MARRIOTT INTERNATIONAL, INC. (“MARRIOTT”)
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

Fiscal Years 2011, 2010, and 2009 
($ in millions, except per share amounts)

 

 

REVENUES
Base management fees (1)

Franchise fees (1)

Incentive management fees (1)

Owned, leased, corporate housing, and other revenue (1)

Timeshare sales and services (including net note securitization
gains of $37 in 2009)
Cost reimbursements (1)

OPERATING COSTS AND EXPENSES
Owned, leased, and corporate housing-direct
Timeshare-direct
Timeshare strategy-impairment charges
Reimbursed costs (1)

Restructuring costs
General, administrative, and other (1)

OPERATING INCOME (LOSS)
(Losses) gains and other income (including gain on debt 
extinguishment of $21 in 2009) (1)

Interest expense (1)

Interest income (1)

Equity in losses (1)

Timeshare strategy - impairment charges (non-operating) (1)

INCOME (LOSS) BEFORE INCOME TAXES
(Provision) benefit for income taxes
NET INCOME (LOSS)
Add: Net losses attributable to noncontrolling interests, net of tax
NET INCOME (LOSS) ATTRIBUTABLE TO MARRIOTT
EARNINGS PER SHARE-Basic

Earnings (losses) per share attributable to Marriott shareholders
EARNINGS PER SHARE-Diluted

Earnings (losses) per share attributable to Marriott shareholders
CASH DIVIDENDS DECLARED PER SHARE

2011

$ 602
506
195

1,083

1,088
8,843

12,317

943
929
324

8,843
—

752
11,791

526

(7)
(164)

14
(13)
—

356
(158)
198
—

$ 198

$ 0.56

$ 0.55
$ 0.3875

2010

$ 562
441
182

1,046

1,221
8,239

11,691

955
1,022

—
8,239

—
780

10,996
695

35
(180)

19
(18)
—

551
(93)
458
—

$ 458

$ 1.26

$ 1.21
$ 0.2075

2009

$ 530
400
154

1,019

1,123
7,682

10,908

951
1,040

614
7,682

51
722

11,060
(152)

31
(118)

25
(66)

(138)
(418)

65
(353)

7
$ (346)

$ (0.97)

$ (0.97)
$ 0.0866

(1) See Footnote No. 22, "Related Party Transactions," of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for 
disclosure of related party amounts.

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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MARRIOTT INTERNATIONAL, INC. (“MARRIOTT”)
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

Fiscal Year-End 2011 and 2010 
($ in millions)

ASSETS
Current assets

Cash and equivalents
Accounts and notes receivable (1) (including from VIEs of $0 and $125, respectively)
Inventory
Current deferred taxes, net
Prepaid expenses
Other (including from VIEs of $0 and $31, respectively)

Property and equipment
Intangible assets

Goodwill
Contract acquisition costs and other (1)

Equity and cost method investments (1)

Notes receivable (1) (including from VIEs of $0 and $910, respectively)
Deferred taxes, net (1)

Other (including from VIEs of $0 and $14, respectively) (1)

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities

Current portion of long-term debt (including from VIEs of $0 and $126, respectively)

Accounts payable (1)

Accrued payroll and benefits
Liability for guest loyalty program
Other (1) (including from VIEs of $0 and $3, respectively)

Long-term debt (including from VIEs of $0 and $890, respectively)
Liability for guest loyalty program
Other long-term liabilities (1)

Marriott shareholders’ equity
Class A Common Stock
Additional paid-in-capital
Retained earnings
Treasury stock, at cost
Accumulated other comprehensive loss

2011

$ 102
875
11

282
54
—

1,324
1,168

875
846

1,721
265
298
873
261

$ 5,910

$ 355
548
650
514
491

2,558
1,816
1,434

883

5
2,513
3,212

(6,463)
(48)

(781)
$ 5,910

2010

$ 505
938

1,489
246
81

123
3,382
1,307

875
768

1,643
250

1,264
932
205

$ 8,983

$ 138
634
692
486
551

2,501
2,691
1,313

893

5
3,644
3,286

(5,348)
(2)

1,585
$ 8,983

The abbreviation VIEs above means Variable Interest Entities.
(1) See Footnote No. 22, "Related Party Transactions," of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for 

disclosure of related party amounts.

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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MARRIOTT INTERNATIONAL, INC. (“MARRIOTT”)
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Fiscal Years 2011, 2010, and 2009 
($ in millions)

 

         

 

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net income (loss)
Adjustments to reconcile to cash provided by operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization
Income taxes
Timeshare activity, net
Timeshare strategy-impairment charges
Liability for guest loyalty program
Restructuring costs, net
Asset impairments and write-offs
Working capital changes and other

Net cash provided by operating activities
INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Capital expenditures
Dispositions
Loan advances
Loan collections and sales
Equity and cost method investments
Contract acquisition costs
Sale of available-for-sale securities
Partial surrender of life insurance policy cash value
Other

Net cash used in investing activities
FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Commercial paper/credit facility, net
Issuance of long-term debt
Repayment of long-term debt
Issuance of Class A Common Stock
Dividends paid
Purchase of treasury stock
Other

Net cash used in financing activities
(DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH AND EQUIVALENTS
CASH AND EQUIVALENTS, beginning of period
CASH AND EQUIVALENTS, end of period

2011

$ 198

168
113
175
324
78
(5)
47
(9)

1,089

(183)
20

(26)
110
(83)
(74)
—
—

(11)
(247)

325
118

(264)
124

(134)
(1,425)

11
(1,245)

(403)
505

$ 102

2010

$ 458

178
(27)
216
—
86

(11)
131
120

1,151

(307)
114
(24)
18

(29)
(56)
—
—
20

(264)

(425)
215

(385)
198
(43)
(57)
—

(497)
390
115

$ 505

2009

$ (353)

185
(167)
146
752
103
16
80

106
868

(147)
2

(65)
20

(28)
(39)
16
97
75

(69)

(544)
—

(238)
27

(63)
—
—

(818)
(19)
134

$ 115

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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MARRIOTT INTERNATIONAL, INC. (“MARRIOTT”)
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Fiscal Years 2011, 2010, and 2009 
($ in millions)

 

 
 

Net income (loss)
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax:

Currency translation adjustments
Other derivative instrument adjustments
Unrealized gains (losses) on available-for-sale
securities
Reclassification of losses

Total other comprehensive (loss) income,
net of tax
Comprehensive income (loss)

Attributable to Marriott
2011

$ 198

(31)
(20)

(3)
8

(46)
$ 152

2010

$ 458

(17)
—

—
2

(15)
$ 443

2009

$ (346)

24
(6)

6
4

28
$ (318)

Attributable to Noncontrolling Interests
2011

$ —

—
—

—
—

—
$ —

2010

$ —

—
—

—
—

—
$ —

2009

$ (7)

—
—

—
—

—
$ (7)

Consolidated
2011

$ 198

(31)
(20)

(3)
8

(46)
$ 152

2010

$ 458

(17)
—

—
2

(15)
$ 443

2009

$ (353)

24
(6)

6
4

28
$ (325)

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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MARRIOTT INTERNATIONAL, INC. (“MARRIOTT”)
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Fiscal Years 2011, 2010, and 2009 
(in millions)

 

Common
Shares

Outstanding

353.4
—
—
—
4.8
—
—

358.2
—

358.2
—
—
—

10.2
(1.5)

366.9
—
—
—
9.5

(43.4)
—

333.0

 

  
Balance at year-end 2008
Net loss
Other comprehensive income
Dividends
Employee stock plan issuance
Other
Purchase of treasury stock
Balance at year-end 2009
Impact of adoption of ASU
2009-16 and ASU 2009-17 (1)

Opening balance 2010
Net income
Other comprehensive loss
Dividends
Employee stock plan issuance
Purchase of treasury stock
Balance at year-end 2010
Net income
Other comprehensive loss
Dividends
Employee stock plan issuance
Purchase of Treasury stock
Spin-off of Marriott Vacations Worldwide Corporation
Balance at year-end 2011

 

Total

$ 1,391
(353)

28
(33)
113

(4)
—

1,142

(146)
996
458
(15)
(76)
279
(57)

1,585
198
(24)

(135)
182

(1,425)
(1,162)

$ (781)

Equity Attributable to Marriott Shareholders

Class A
Common

Stock

$ 5
—
—
—
—
—
—
5

—
5

—
—
—
—
—
5

—
—
—
—
—
—

$ 5

Additional
Paid-in-
Capital

$ 3,590
—
—
—
(5)
—
—

3,585

—
3,585

—
—
—
59
—

3,644
—
—
—
9

—
(1,140)

$ 2,513

Retained
Earnings

$ 3,565
(346)

—
(125)

9
—
—

3,103

(146)
2,957

458
—

(76)
(53)
—

3,286
198
—

(135)
(137)

—
—

$ 3,212

Treasury
Stock, at

Cost

$ (5,765)
—
—
92

109
—
—

(5,564)

—
(5,564)

—
—
—

273
(57)

(5,348)
—
—
—

310
(1,425)

—
$ (6,463)

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

$ (15)
—
28
—
—
—
—
13

—
13
—

(15)
—
—
—
(2)
—

(24)
—
—
—

(22)
$ (48)

 

Equity
Attributable to
Noncontrolling

Interests

$ 11
(7)
—
—
—
(4)
—
—

—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—

$ —

(1) The abbreviation ASU means Accounting Standards Update.

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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MARRIOTT INTERNATIONAL, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

 
1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of Presentation

The consolidated financial statements present the results of operations, financial position, and cash flows of Marriott 
International, Inc. (“Marriott,” and together with its subsidiaries “we,” “us,” or the “Company”). In order to make this report 
easier to read, we refer throughout to (i) our Consolidated Financial Statements as our “Financial Statements,” (ii) our 
Consolidated Statements of Income as our “Income Statements,” (iii) our Consolidated Balance Sheets as our “Balance 
Sheets,” (iv) our properties, brands, or markets in the United States and Canada as “North America” or “North 
American,” (v) our properties, brands, or markets outside of the United States and Canada as “international,” and (vi) 
Accounting Standards Update No. 2009-16, “Transfers and Servicing (Topic 860): Accounting for Transfers of Financial 
Assets” (“ASU No. 2009-16”) and Accounting Standards Update No. 2009-17, “Consolidations (Topic 810): Improvements to 
Financial Reporting by Enterprises Involved with Variable Interest Entities” (“ASU No. 2009-17”) both of which we adopted 
on the first day of 2010 as the “new Transfers of Financial Assets and Consolidation standards.” 

On November 21, 2011 ("the spin-off date"), the Company completed a spin-off of its timeshare operations and timeshare 
development business through a special tax-free dividend to our shareholders of all of the issued and outstanding common 
stock of our wholly owned subsidiary Marriott Vacations Worldwide Corporation ("MVW").  On the spin-off date, Marriott 
shareholders of record as of the close of business on November 10, 2011 received one share of MVW common stock for every 
ten shares of Marriott common stock.  As of the spin-off date, Marriott does not beneficially own any shares of MVW common 
stock and does not consolidate MVW's financial results for periods after the spin-off date as part of its financial reporting. 
However, because of Marriott's significant continuing involvement in MVW future operations (by virtue of  license and other 
agreements between Marriott and MVW),  our former Timeshare segment's historical financial results prior to the spin-off date 
will continue to be included in Marriott's historical financial results as a component of continuing operations. See Footnote No. 
17, "Spin-off," for additional information on the spin-off.

In accordance with the guidance for noncontrolling interests in consolidated financial statements, references in this report 
to our earnings per share, net income, and shareholders’ equity attributable to Marriott do not include noncontrolling interests 
(previously known as minority interests), which we report separately. 

Preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles ("GAAP") requires 
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities as of the date of the 
financial statements, the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting periods, and the disclosures of 
contingent liabilities. Accordingly, ultimate results could differ from those estimates.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements reflect all normal and recurring adjustments 
necessary to present fairly our financial position at fiscal year-end 2011 and fiscal year-end 2010 and the results of our 
operations and cash flows for fiscal years 2011, 2010, and 2009. We have eliminated all material intercompany transactions and 
balances between entities consolidated in these financial statements. We have also reclassified certain prior year amounts to 
conform to our 2011 presentation. See Footnote No. 16, “Business Segments,” for additional information on the reclassification 
of segment revenues, segment financial results, and segment assets to reflect movement of data associated with properties in 
Hawaii to our North American segments from our International segment.

Adoption of New Accounting Standards Resulting in Consolidation of Special Purpose Entities
On January 2, 2010, the first day of the 2010 fiscal year, we adopted the new Transfers of Financial Assets and 

Consolidation standards (which were originally known as Financial Accounting Standards Nos. 166 and 167).

Prior to the spin-off date, our former Timeshare segment used certain special purpose entities to securitize Timeshare 
segment notes receivables, which prior to our adoption of these new standards we treated as off-balance sheet entities. Our 
former Timeshare segment retained the servicing rights and varying subordinated interests in the securitized notes. Pursuant to 
GAAP in effect prior to the 2010 fiscal year, we did not consolidate these special purpose entities in our financial statements 
because the securitization transactions qualified as sales of financial assets.

As a result of adopting the new Transfers of Financial Assets and Consolidation standards on the first day of 2010, we 
consolidated 13 existing qualifying special purpose entities associated with past securitization transactions. We recorded a one-
time non-cash pretax reduction to shareholders’ equity of $238 million in 2010, representing the cumulative effect of a change 
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in accounting principle. Including the related $92 million decrease in deferred tax liabilities, the after-tax reduction to 
shareholders’ equity totaled $146 million.

We recorded the cumulative effect of the adoption of these standards to our financial statements in 2010. This consisted 
primarily of reestablishing the notes receivable (net of reserves) that we had transferred to special purpose entities as a result of 
the securitization transactions, eliminating residual interests that we initially recorded in connection with those transactions 
(and subsequently revalued on a periodic basis), the impact of recording debt obligations associated with third-party interests 
held in the special purpose entities, and related adjustments to inventory balances accounted for using the relative sales value 
method. We adjusted the inventory balance to include anticipated future revenue from the resale of inventory that we expected 
to acquire when we foreclosed on defaulted notes.

Adopting these topics had the following impacts on our Balance Sheet at January 2, 2010: (1) assets increased by $970 
million, primarily representing the consolidation of notes receivable (and corresponding reserves) partially offset by the 
elimination of our retained interests; (2) liabilities increased by $1,116 million, primarily representing the consolidation of debt 
obligations associated with third party interests; and (3) shareholders’ equity decreased by approximately $146 million. 
Adopting these topics also impacted our 2010 Income Statement by increasing interest income (reflected in Timeshare sales 
and services revenue) from securitized notes and increasing interest expense from consolidation of debt obligations, partially 
offset by the absence of accretion income on residual interests that were eliminated. Our adoption of these topics on January 2, 
2010 did not have a significant impact on our Consolidated Statement of Cash Flow because the resulting increase in assets and 
liabilities was primarily non-cash.

         Please also see the 2010 parenthetical disclosures on our Balance Sheet that show the amounts of consolidated assets and 
liabilities associated with variable interest entities (including those associated with our former Timeshare segment 
securitizations) that we consolidated.

Fiscal Year
Our fiscal year ends on the Friday nearest to December 31. The fiscal years in the following table encompass a 52-week 

period, except for 2002 and 2008, which both encompass a 53-week period. Unless otherwise specified, each reference to a 
particular year in this Annual Report means the fiscal year ended on the date shown in the following table, rather than the 
corresponding calendar year:

Fiscal Year

2011

2010

2009

2008

2007

Fiscal Year-End Date

December 30, 2011

December 31, 2010

January 1, 2010

January 2, 2009

December 28, 2007

Fiscal Year

2006

2005

2004

2003

2002

Fiscal Year-End Date

December 29, 2006

December 30, 2005

December 31, 2004

January 2, 2004

January 3, 2003

Revenue Recognition
Our revenues include: (1) base management and incentive management fees; (2) franchise fees (including licensing fees 

from MVW after the spin-off of $4 million for 2011); (3) revenues from lodging properties owned or leased by us; and (4) cost 
reimbursements. Management fees comprise a base fee, which is a percentage of the revenues of hotels, and an incentive fee, 
which is generally based on hotel profitability. Franchise fees comprise initial application fees and continuing royalties 
generated from our franchise programs, which permit the hotel owners and operators to use certain of our brand names. Cost 
reimbursements include direct and indirect costs that are reimbursed to us by properties that we manage or franchise. For 
periods prior to the spin-off date, our revenues also include timeshare sales and services revenue (which also includes resort 
rental revenue, interest income associated with “Loans to timeshare owners,” Timeshare segment note securitization gains, and 
revenue from the points-based use system) and cost reimbursements revenue associated with our former Timeshare segment.

Base Management and Incentive Management Fees: We recognize base management fees as revenue when earned in 
accordance with the contract. In interim periods and at year-end, we recognize incentive management fees that would be due as 
if the contract were to terminate at that date, exclusive of any termination fees payable or receivable by us.

Franchise Fee and License Fee Revenue: We recognize franchise fees and license fees as revenue in each accounting 
period as fees are earned from the franchisee or licensee.

Owned and Leased Units: We recognize room sales and revenues from other guest services for our owned and leased 



53

units when rooms are occupied and services have been rendered.

Cost Reimbursements: We recognize cost reimbursements from managed, franchised, and timeshare properties (for 
periods prior to the spin-off date) when we incur the related reimbursable costs.

Other Revenue: Includes other third-party licensing fees, branding fees for third party residential sales and credit card 
licensing, land rental income, and other revenue.

Timeshare and Fractional Intervals and Condominiums: Prior to the spin-off date, we recognized sales when: (1) we had 
received a minimum of ten percent of the purchase price; (2) the purchaser’s period to cancel for a refund had expired; (3) we 
deemed the receivables to be collectible; and (4) we had attained certain minimum sales and construction levels. We deferred 
all revenue using the deposit method for sales that did not meet all four of these criteria. For sales that did not qualify for full 
revenue recognition as the project had progressed beyond the preliminary stages but had not yet reached completion, all 
revenue and profit were deferred and recognized in earnings using the percentage of completion method. Timeshare segment 
deferred revenue at year-end  2010 was $56 million. The 2011 balance was transferred to MVW at the time of spin-off. See 
Footnote No. 17, "Spin-off" for additional information.

Timeshare Points-Based Use System Revenue: Prior to the spin-off date, as sales under this points-based use system were 
considered to be the sale of real estate, we recognized these sales when the criteria noted in the “Timeshare and Fractional 
Intervals and Condominiums” caption were met.

Timeshare Residential (Stand-Alone Structures): Prior to the spin-off date, we recognized sales under the full accrual 
method of accounting when we received our proceeds and transferred title at settlement.

Ground Leases
We are both the lessor and lessee of land under long-term operating leases, which include scheduled increases in 

minimum rents. We recognize these scheduled rent increases on a straight-line basis over the initial lease term.

Real Estate Sales
We reduce gains on sales of real estate by the maximum exposure to loss if we have continuing involvement with the 

property and do not transfer substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership. In sales transactions where we retain a 
management contract, the terms and conditions of the management contract are generally comparable to the terms and 
conditions of the management contracts obtained directly with third-party owners in competitive bid processes.

Profit Sharing Plan 
We contribute to a profit sharing plan for the benefit of employees meeting certain eligibility requirements and electing 

participation in the plan. Contributions are determined based on a specified percentage of salary deferrals by participating 
employees. We recognized compensation costs from profit sharing of $91 million in 2011, $86 million in 2010, and $94 million 
in 2009.

Self-Insurance Programs 
We are self-insured for certain levels of property, liability, workers’ compensation and employee medical coverage. We 

accrue estimated costs of these self-insurance programs at the present value of projected settlements for known and incurred 
but not reported claims. We use a discount rate of 2.0 percent to determine the present value of the projected settlements, which 
we consider to be reasonable given our history of settled claims, including payment patterns and the fixed nature of the 
individual settlements.

We are subject to a variety of assessments related to our insurance activities, including those by state guaranty funds and 
workers’ compensation second-injury funds. Our liabilities recorded for assessments are reflected within the amounts shown in 
our Balance Sheets on the other current liabilities line, are not discounted, and totaled $4 million at year-end 2011 and $5 
million at year-end 2010. The $4 million liability for assessments as of year-end 2011 is expected to be paid by the end of 2012.

Our Rewards Programs
Marriott Rewards and The Ritz-Carlton Rewards are our frequent guest loyalty programs. Program members earn points 

based on their monetary spending at our lodging operations, purchases of timeshare interval, fractional ownership, and 
residential products (through MVW for periods after the spin-off date) and, to a lesser degree, through participation in affiliated 
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partners’ programs, such as those offered by car rental, and credit card companies. Points, which we track on members’ behalf, 
can be redeemed for stays at most of our lodging operations, airline tickets, airline frequent flyer program miles, rental cars, 
and a variety of other awards; however, points cannot be redeemed for cash. We provide Marriott Rewards and The Ritz-
Carlton Rewards as marketing programs to participating properties, with the objective of operating the programs on a break-
even basis to us. As members earn points at properties and other program partners, we sell the points for amounts that we 
expect will, in the aggregate, equal the costs of point redemptions and program operating costs over time.

We defer revenue received from managed, franchised, and Marriott-owned/leased hotels and program partners equal to 
the fair value of our future redemption obligation. We determine the fair value of the future redemption obligation based on 
statistical formulas that project timing of future point redemption based on historical levels, including an estimate of the 
“breakage” for points that will never be redeemed, and an estimate of the points that will eventually be redeemed. These 
judgment factors determine the required liability for outstanding points. Our rewards programs’ liability totaled $1,948 million 
and $1,799 million at year-end 2011 and 2010, respectively. A ten percent reduction in the estimate of “breakage” would have 
resulted in an estimated $101 million increase in the liability at year-end 2011.

Our management and franchise agreements require that we be reimbursed currently for the costs of operating the 
program, including marketing, promotion, communication with, and performing member services for rewards program 
members. Due to the requirement that properties reimburse us for program operating costs as incurred, we recognize the related 
cost reimbursements revenues from properties in connection with our rewards programs at the time such costs are incurred and 
expensed. We recognize the component of revenue from program partners that corresponds to program maintenance services 
over the expected life of the points awarded. Upon the redemption of points, we recognize as revenue the amounts previously 
deferred and recognize the corresponding expense relating to the costs of the awards redeemed.

Guarantees 
We record a liability for the fair value of a guarantee on the date we issue or modify a guarantee. The offsetting entry 

depends on the circumstances in which the guarantee was issued. Funding under the guarantee reduces the recorded liability. 
When no funding is forecasted, the liability is amortized into income on a straight-line basis over the remaining term of the 
guarantee. On a quarterly basis, we evaluate all material estimated liabilities based on the operating results and the terms of the 
guarantee. If we conclude that it is probable that we will be required to fund a greater amount than previously estimated, we 
will record a loss unless the advance would be recoverable in the form of a loan.

Rebates and Allowances 
We participate in various vendor rebate and allowance arrangements as a manager of hotel properties. There are three 

types of programs that are common in the hotel industry that are sometimes referred to as “rebates” or “allowances,” including 
unrestricted rebates, marketing (restricted) rebates, and sponsorships. The primary business purpose of these arrangements is to 
secure favorable pricing for our hotel owners for various products and services or enhance resources for promotional 
campaigns co-sponsored by certain vendors. More specifically, unrestricted rebates are funds returned to the buyer, generally 
based upon volumes or quantities of goods purchased. Marketing (restricted) allowances are funds allocated by vendor 
agreements for certain marketing or other joint promotional initiatives. Sponsorships are funds paid by vendors, generally used 
by the vendor to gain exposure at meetings and events, which are accounted for as a reduction of the cost of the event.

We account for rebates and allowances as adjustments of the prices of the vendors’ products and services. We show 
vendor costs and the reimbursement of those costs to us as reimbursed costs and cost reimbursements revenue, respectively; 
therefore, rebates are reflected as a reduction of these line items.

Cash and Equivalents
We consider all highly liquid investments with an initial maturity of three months or less at date of purchase to be cash 

equivalents.

Restricted Cash
Restricted cash in our Balance Sheets at year-end 2011 and year-end 2010 is recorded as zero and $55 million, 

respectively, in the “Other current assets” line and $16 million and $30 million, respectively, in the “Other long-term assets” 
line. Restricted cash primarily consists of cash held internationally that we have not repatriated due to statutory, tax and 
currency risks. 
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Assets Held for Sale
We consider properties (other than Timeshare segment interval, fractional ownership, and residential products, which we 

classified as inventory prior to the spin-off date) to be assets held for sale when all of the following criteria are met:
• management commits to a plan to sell a property;
• it is unlikely that the disposal plan will be significantly modified or discontinued;
• the property is available for immediate sale in its present condition;
• actions required to complete the sale of the property have been initiated;
• sale of the property is probable and we expect the completed sale will occur within one year; and
• the property is actively being marketed for sale at a price that is reasonable given its current market value.

Upon designation as an asset held for sale, we record the carrying value of each property at the lower of its carrying value 
or its estimated fair value, less estimated costs to sell, and we cease depreciation.

At year-end 2011 and 2010, we had no assets held for sale and no liabilities related to assets held for sale.

Loan Loss Reserves
Senior, Mezzanine, and Other Loans
We sometimes make loans to owners of hotels that we operate or franchise, typically to facilitate the development of a 

hotel and sometimes to facilitate brand programs or initiatives. We expect the owners to repay the loans in accordance with the 
loan agreements, or earlier as the hotels mature and capital markets permit. We use metrics such as loan-to-value ratios, debt 
service coverage, collateral, etc., to assess the credit quality of the loan receivable upon entering into the loan agreement and on 
an ongoing basis as applicable.

On a regular basis, we individually assess all of these loans for impairment. Internally generated cash flow projections are 
used to determine if the loans are expected to be repaid in accordance with the terms of the loan agreements. If it is probable 
that a loan will not be repaid in accordance with the loan agreement, we consider the loan impaired and begin recognizing 
interest income on a cash basis. To measure impairment, we calculate the present value of expected future cash flows 
discounted at the loan’s original effective interest rate or the estimated fair value of the collateral. If the present value or the 
estimated collateral is less than the carrying value of the loan receivable, we establish a specific impairment reserve for the 
difference.

If it is likely that a loan will not be collected based on financial or other business indicators, including our historical 
experience, it is our policy to charge off the loans in the quarter when it is deemed uncollectible.

Loans to Timeshare Owners 
Prior to the spin-off date, we recorded an estimate of expected uncollectibility on all notes receivable from timeshare 

purchasers as a reduction of revenue at the time we recognized profit on a timeshare sale. We fully reserved all defaulted notes 
in addition to recording a reserve on the estimated uncollectible portion of the remaining notes. For those notes not in default, 
we assessed collectibility based on pools of receivables because we held large numbers of homogeneous timeshare notes 
receivable. We estimated uncollectibles for the pool based on historical activity for similar timeshare notes receivable.

Although we considered loans to timeshare owners past due if we did not receive payment within 30 days of the due date, 
we suspended accrual of interest only on those that were over 90 days past due. We considered loans over 150 days past due to 
be in default. We applied payments we received for loans on nonaccrual status first to interest, then principal, and any 
remainder to fees. We resumed accruing interest when loans were less than 90 days past due. We did not accept payments for 
notes during the foreclosure process unless the amount was sufficient to pay all principal, interest, fees and penalties owed and 
fully reinstate the note. We wrote off uncollectible notes against the reserve once we received title through the foreclosure or 
deed-in-lieu process. 

On November 21, 2011, we transferred all balances related to loans to timeshare owners (both securitized and non-
securitized) to MVW as part of the spin-off. For additional information on our notes receivable, including information on the 
related reserves, see Footnote No. 10, “Notes Receivable.”

Valuation of Goodwill
We assess goodwill for potential impairments at the end of each fiscal year, or during the year if an event or other 

circumstance indicates that we may not be able to recover the carrying amount of the asset. In evaluating goodwill for 
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impairment, we first assess qualitative factors to determine whether it is more likely than not (that is, a likelihood of more than 
50 percent) that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount. If we conclude that it is not more likely than 
not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying value, then no further testing of the goodwill assigned to the 
reporting unit is required. However, if we conclude that it is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less 
than its carrying value, then we perform a two-step goodwill impairment test to identify potential goodwill impairment and 
measure the amount of goodwill impairment to be recognized, if any.

In the first step of the review process, we compare the estimated fair value of the reporting unit with its carrying value. If 
the estimated fair value of the reporting unit exceeds its carrying amount, no further analysis is needed.

If the estimated fair value of the reporting unit is less than its carrying amount, we proceed to the second step of the 
review process to calculate the implied fair value of the reporting unit goodwill in order to determine whether any impairment 
is required. We calculate the implied fair value of the reporting unit goodwill by allocating the estimated fair value of the 
reporting unit to all of the assets and liabilities of the reporting unit as if the reporting unit had been acquired in a business 
combination. If the carrying value of the reporting unit’s goodwill exceeds the implied fair value of the goodwill, we recognize 
an impairment loss for that excess amount. In allocating the estimated fair value of the reporting unit to all of the assets and 
liabilities of the reporting unit, we use industry and market data, as well as knowledge of the industry and our past experiences.

We base our calculation of the estimated fair value of a reporting unit on the income approach. For the income approach, 
we use internally developed discounted cash flow models that include, among others, the following assumptions: projections of 
revenues and expenses and related cash flows based on assumed long-term growth rates and demand trends; expected future 
investments to grow new units; and estimated discount rates. We base these assumptions on our historical data and experience, 
third-party appraisals, industry projections, micro and macro general economic condition projections, and our expectations.

We have had no goodwill impairment charges for the last three fiscal years, and as of the date of each of the most recent 
detailed tests, the estimated fair value of each of our reporting units exceeded its’ respective carrying amount by more than 100 
percent based on our models and assumptions.

For additional information related to goodwill, including the amounts of goodwill by segment, see Footnote No. 16, 
“Business Segments.”

Investments
We consolidate entities that we control. We account for investments in joint ventures using the equity method of 

accounting when we exercise significant influence over the venture. If we do not exercise significant influence, we account for 
the investment using the cost method of accounting. We account for investments in limited partnerships and limited liability 
companies using the equity method of accounting when we own more than a minimal investment. Our ownership interest in 
these equity method investments varies generally from 10 percent to 49 percent.

The fair value of our available-for-sale securities totaled $50 million and $18 million at year-end 2011 and year-end 
2010, respectively. The amount of net losses reclassified out of accumulated other comprehensive income as a result of an 
other-than-temporary impairment of available-for-sale securities totaled $18 million and zero for 2011 and 2010, respectively. 
The amount of net losses reclassified out of accumulated other comprehensive income as a result of the sale of available-for-
sale securities totaled zero for both 2011 and 2010. We determined the cost basis of the securities sold using specific 
identification.

Valuation of Intangibles and Long-Lived Assets
We test intangibles and long-lived asset groups for recoverability when changes in circumstances indicate the carrying 

value may not be recoverable, for example, when there are material adverse changes in projected revenues or expenses, 
significant underperformance relative to historical or projected operating results, and significant negative industry or economic 
trends. We also perform a test for recoverability when management has committed to a plan to sell or otherwise dispose of an 
asset group and the plan is expected to be completed within a year. We evaluate recoverability of an asset group by comparing 
its carrying value to the future net undiscounted cash flows that we expect will be generated by the asset group. If the 
comparison indicates that the carrying value of an asset group is not recoverable, we recognize an impairment loss for the 
excess of carrying value over the estimated fair value. When we recognize an impairment loss for assets to be held and used, 
we depreciate the adjusted carrying amount of those assets over their remaining useful life.

We base our calculations of the estimated fair value of an intangible asset or asset group on the income approach or the 
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market approach. The assumptions and methodology we utilize for the income approach are the same as those described in the 
“Valuation of Goodwill” caption. For the market approach, we use internal analyses based primarily on market comparables 
and assumptions about market capitalization rates, growth rates, and inflation.

For information on impairment losses that we recorded in 2011 and 2009 associated with intangibles and long-lived 
assets, see Footnote No. 18, “Timeshare Strategy-Impairment Charges” and Footnote No. 19, “Restructuring Costs and Other 
Charges” of the Notes to the Financial Statements of this Annual Report. For information on impairment losses that we 
recorded in 2010 associated with long-lived assets, see Footnote No. 7, “Property and Equipment” of the Notes to the Financial 
Statements of this Annual Report.

Valuation of Investments in Ventures
We sometimes hold a minority equity interest in ventures established to develop or acquire and own hotel properties and 

prior to the spin-off date held a minority interest in ventures established to develop timeshare interval, fractional ownership and 
residential properties. These ventures are generally limited liability companies or limited partnerships, and our equity interest in 
these ventures generally ranges from 10 percent to 49 percent.

We evaluate an investment in a venture for impairment when circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be 
recoverable, for example due to loan defaults, significant under performance relative to historical or projected operating 
performance, and significant negative industry or economic trends.

We impair investments accounted for using the equity and cost methods of accounting when we determine that there has 
been an “other than temporary” decline in the estimated fair value as compared to the carrying value, of the venture. 
Additionally, a commitment to a plan to sell some or all of the assets in a venture could cause a recoverability evaluation for the 
individual long-lived assets in the venture and possibly the venture itself.

We calculate the estimated fair value of an investment in a venture using either a market approach or an income approach. 
The assumptions and methodology we utilize for the income approach are the same as those described in the “Valuation of 
Goodwill” caption. For the market approach, we use internal analyses based primarily on market comparables and assumptions 
about market capitalization rates, growth rates, and inflation.

For information regarding impairment losses that we recorded in 2009 associated with investments in ventures, see 
Footnote No. 18, “Timeshare Strategy-Impairment Charges” and Footnote No. 19, “Restructuring Costs and Other Charges” of 
the Notes to the Financial Statements of this Annual Report.

Fair Value Measurements 
We have various financial instruments we must measure at fair value on a recurring basis, including certain marketable 

securities and derivatives. See Footnote No. 4, “Fair Value of Financial Instruments,” for further information. We also apply the 
provisions of fair value measurement to various non-recurring measurements for our financial and non-financial assets and 
liabilities.

Applicable accounting standards define fair value as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a 
liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date (an exit price). We measure our assets 
and liabilities using inputs from the following three levels of the fair value hierarchy:

Level 1 inputs are unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that we have the ability 
to access at the measurement date.
Level 2 inputs include quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities in active markets, quoted prices for identical or 
similar assets or liabilities in markets that are not active, inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the 
asset or liability (i.e., interest rates, yield curves, etc.), and inputs that are derived principally from or corroborated by 
observable market data by correlation or other means (market corroborated inputs).
Level 3 includes unobservable inputs that reflect our assumptions about what factors market participants would use in 
pricing the asset or liability. We develop these inputs based on the best information available, including our own data.

Derivative Instruments 
The designation of a derivative instrument as a hedge and its ability to meet the hedge accounting criteria determine how 

we reflect the change in fair value of the derivative instrument in our Financial Statements. A derivative qualifies for hedge 
accounting if, at inception, we expect the derivative to be highly effective in offsetting the underlying hedged cash flows or fair 
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value and we fulfill the hedge documentation standards at the time we enter into the derivative contract. We designate a hedge 
as a cash flow hedge, fair value hedge, or a net investment in non-U.S. operations hedge based on the exposure we are hedging. 
The asset or liability value of the derivative will change in tandem with its fair value. For the effective portion of qualifying 
hedges, we record changes in fair value in other comprehensive income (“OCI”). We release the derivative’s gain or loss from 
OCI to match the timing of the underlying hedged items’ effect on earnings.

We review the effectiveness of our hedging instruments on a quarterly basis, recognize current period hedge 
ineffectiveness immediately in earnings, and discontinue hedge accounting for any hedge that we no longer consider to be 
highly effective. We recognize changes in fair value for derivatives not designated as hedges or those not qualifying for hedge 
accounting in current period earnings. Upon termination of cash flow hedges, we release gains and losses from OCI based on 
the timing of the underlying cash flows or revenue recognized, unless the termination results from the failure of the intended 
transaction to occur in the expected timeframe. Such untimely transactions require us to immediately recognize in earnings, 
gains and losses that we previously recorded in OCI.

Changes in interest rates, currency exchange rates, and equity securities expose us to market risk. We manage our 
exposure to these risks by monitoring available financing alternatives, as well as through development and application of credit 
granting policies. We also use derivative instruments, including cash flow hedges, net investment in non-U.S. operations 
hedges, fair value hedges, and other derivative instruments, as part of our overall strategy to manage our exposure to market 
risks. As a matter of policy, we only enter into transactions that we believe will be highly effective at offsetting the underlying 
risk, and we do not use derivatives for trading or speculative purposes. See Footnote No. 4, “Fair Value of Financial 
Instruments,” for additional information.

Non-U.S. Operations
The U.S. dollar is the functional currency of our consolidated and unconsolidated entities operating in the United States. 

The functional currency for our consolidated and unconsolidated entities operating outside of the United States is generally the 
currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity primarily generates and expends cash. For consolidated 
entities whose functional currency is not the U.S. dollar, we translate their financial statements into U.S. dollars, and we do the 
same, as needed, for unconsolidated entities whose functional currency is not the U.S. dollar. We translate assets and liabilities 
at the exchange rate in effect as of the financial statement date, and translate income statement accounts using the weighted 
average exchange rate for the period. We include translation adjustments from currency exchange and the effect of exchange 
rate changes on intercompany transactions of a long-term investment nature as a separate component of shareholders’ equity. 
We report gains and losses from currency exchange rate changes related to intercompany receivables and payables that are not 
of a long-term investment nature, as well as gains and losses from non-U.S. currency transactions, currently in operating costs 
and expenses, and those amounted to a loss of $7 million in 2011, a loss of $7 million in 2010, and a loss of less than $1 million 
in 2009. Gains and other income for 2011 included $2 million attributable to currency translation adjustment gains, net of 
losses, from the sale or complete or substantially complete liquidation of investments. Gains and other income for 2010 
included $2 million attributable to currency translation adjustment losses, net of gains, from the sale or complete or 
substantially complete liquidation of investments. There were no similar gains or losses in 2009.

Legal Contingencies
We are subject to various legal proceedings and claims, the outcomes of which are subject to significant uncertainty. We 

record an accrual for legal contingencies when we determine that it is probable that a liability has been incurred and the amount 
of the loss can be reasonably estimated. In making such determinations we evaluate, among other things, the degree of 
probability of an unfavorable outcome and, when it is probable that a liability has been incurred, our ability to make a 
reasonable estimate of the loss. We review these accruals each reporting period and make revisions based on changes in facts 
and circumstances.

Income Taxes 
We record the amounts of taxes payable or refundable for the current year, as well as deferred tax liabilities and assets for 

the future tax consequences of events that we have recognized in our financial statements or tax returns. We use judgment in 
assessing future profitability and the likely future tax consequences of events that we have recognized in our financial 
statements or tax returns. We base our estimates of deferred tax assets and liabilities on current tax laws, rates and 
interpretations, and, in certain cases, business plans and other expectations about future outcomes. We develop our estimates of 
future profitability based on our historical data and experience, industry projections, micro and macro general economic 
condition projections, and our expectations.

Changes in existing tax laws and rates, their related interpretations, as well as the uncertainty generated by the current 
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economic environment may affect the amounts of deferred tax liabilities or the valuations of deferred tax assets over time. Our 
accounting for deferred tax consequences represents management’s best estimate of future events that can be appropriately 
reflected in the accounting estimates.

For tax positions we have taken or expect to take in a tax return, we apply a more likely than not threshold, under which 
we must conclude a tax position is more likely than not to be sustained, assuming that the position will be examined by the 
appropriate taxing authority that has full knowledge of all relevant information, in order to continue to recognize the benefit. In 
determining our provision for income taxes, we use judgment, reflecting our estimates and assumptions, in applying the more 
likely than not threshold.

For information about income taxes and deferred tax assets and liabilities, see Footnote No. 2, “Income Taxes.”

New Accounting Standards

Accounting Standards Update No. 2010-06 – "Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures (Topic 820):  Improving Disclosures 
about Fair Value Measurements"  (“ASU No. 2010-06”)

Certain provisions of ASU No. 2010-06 became effective during our 2011 first quarter. Those provisions, which amended 
Subtopic 820-10, require us to present as separate line items all purchases, sales, issuances, and settlements of financial 
instruments valued using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) in the reconciliation of fair value measurements, in contrast 
to the previous aggregate presentation as a single line item. The adoption did not have a material impact on our financial 
statements or disclosures.

Accounting Standards Update No. 2011-08 – “Intangibles - Goodwill and Other (Topic 350): Testing Goodwill for 
Impairment” (“ASU No. 2011-08”)

We early adopted ASU No. 2011-08 in the 2011 fourth quarter, which amends existing guidance by giving an entity the 
option to first assess qualitative factors to determine whether it is more likely than not (that is, a likelihood of more than 50 
percent) that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount.  Based on our examination of qualitative factors 
at year-end 2011, we concluded that it was not more likely than not that the fair value of any of our reporting units was less 
than their respective carrying values; therefore, no further testing of the goodwill assigned to our reporting units was required. 
The adoption of this update did not have a material impact on our financial statements.

Future Adoption of Accounting Standards

Accounting Standards Update No. 2011-04 – “Fair Value Measurement (Topic 820): Amendments to Achieve Common Fair 
Value Measurement and Disclosure Requirements in U.S. GAAP and IFRSs” (“ASU No. 2011-04”)

ASU No. 2011-04 generally provides a uniform framework for fair value measurements and related disclosures between 
GAAP and International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”). Additional disclosure requirements in this update include: 
(1) for Level 3 fair value measurements, quantitative information about unobservable inputs used, a description of the valuation 
processes used by the entity, and a qualitative discussion about the sensitivity of the measurements to changes in the 
unobservable inputs; (2) for an entity’s use of a nonfinancial asset that is different from the asset’s highest and best use, the 
reason for the difference; (3) for financial instruments not measured at fair value but for which disclosure of fair value is 
required, the fair value hierarchy level in which the fair value measurements were determined; and (4) the disclosure of all 
transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy. ASU No. 2011-04 will be effective for interim and annual 
periods beginning on or after December 15, 2011, which for us will be our 2012 first quarter. We do not believe the adoption of 
this update will have a material impact on our financial statements.

See the “Fair Value Measurements” caption of this footnote for additional information on the three levels of fair value 
measurements.

Accounting Standards Update No. 2011-05  -“Comprehensive Income (Topic 220): Presentation of Comprehensive 
Income” (“ASU No. 2011-05”) and Accounting Standards Update No. 2011-12 - "Comprehensive Income (Topic 220): 
Deferral of the Effective Date for Amendments to the Presentation of Reclassifications of Items Out of Accumulated Other 
Comprehensive Income in ASU No. 2011-05" ("ASU No. 2011-12") 

ASU No. 2011-05 amends existing guidance by allowing only two options for presenting the components of net income 
and other comprehensive income: (1) in a single continuous financial statement, statement of comprehensive income or (2) in 
two separate but consecutive financial statements, consisting of an income statement followed by a separate statement of other 
comprehensive income. ASU No. 2011-12 defers until further notice ASU No. 2011-05's requirement that items that are 
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reclassified from other comprehensive income to net income be presented on the face of the financial statements. ASU 
No. 2011-05 requires retrospective application, and both ASU Nos. 2011-05 and 2011-12 are effective for fiscal years, and 
interim periods within those years, beginning after December 15, 2011 (for us this will be our 2012 first quarter), with early 
adoption permitted. We believe the adoption of these updates will change the order in which we present certain financial 
statements, but will not have any other impact on our financial statements.

2. INCOME TAXES 
Our (provision for)/benefit from income taxes consists of:

 

($ in millions)

Current

Deferred

-U.S. Federal

-U.S. State

-Non-U.S.

-U.S. Federal

-U.S. State

-Non-U.S.

2011

$ 53

—

(55)

(2)

(116)

(10)

(30)

(156)

$ (158)

2010

$ 117

(7)

(51)

59

(150)

(14)

12

(152)

$ (93)

2009

$ (169)

(12)

(61)

(242)

234

28

45

307

$ 65

Our current tax provision does not reflect the benefits or costs attributable to us for the exercise or vesting of employee 
share-based awards of benefits of $55 million in 2011, benefits of $51 million in 2010, and costs of $8 million in 2009. The 
preceding table includes tax credits of $4 million in 2011, $2 million in 2010, and $2 million in 2009. The taxes applicable to 
other comprehensive income are $14 million in 2011 and were not material for 2010 and 2009.

We have made no provision for U.S. income taxes or additional non-U.S. taxes on the cumulative unremitted earnings of 
non-U.S. subsidiaries ($451 million as of year-end 2011) because we consider these earnings to be indefinitely reinvested. 
These earnings could become subject to additional taxes if remitted as dividends, loaned to us or a U.S. affiliate or if we sold 
our interests in the affiliates. We cannot practically estimate the amount of additional taxes that might be payable on the 
unremitted earnings.

We conduct business in countries that grant “holidays” from income taxes for 5 to 30 year periods. These holidays expire 
through 2034. Without these tax “holidays,” we would have incurred the following aggregate income taxes and related earnings 
per share impacts: $1 million (less than $0.01 per diluted share) in 2011; $7 million ($0.02 per diluted share) in 2010; and $4 
million ($0.01 per diluted share) in 2009.

We file income tax returns, including returns for our subsidiaries, in various jurisdictions around the world. We filed an 
IRS refund claim relating to 2000 and 2001 for certain software development costs. The IRS disallowed the claims, and in July 
2009, we protested the disallowance. We settled this issue with the IRS in the 2011 second quarter resulting in a refund of $3 
million relating to 2000 and $5 million relating to 2001.

In 2011, we recorded an income tax expense of $34 million to write-off certain deferred tax assets that we transferred to 
MVW in conjunction with the spin-off of our timeshare operations and timeshare development business.  We impaired these 
assets because we considered it "more likely than not" that MVW will be unable to realize the value of those deferred tax 
assets.  Please see Footnote No. 17, “Spin-off”  for additional information regarding the transaction.  

In the 2010 fourth quarter, we reached a settlement with the IRS Appeals Division resolving all issues that arose in the 
audit of tax years 2005 through 2008. This settlement resulted in an $85 million decrease in our tax expense for 2010 due to the 
release of tax liabilities we had previously established for the treatment of funds we received from non-U.S. subsidiaries. 
Additionally, our 2010 income tax expense reflected a $12 million benefit we recorded primarily associated with revisions to 
estimates of prior years’ foreign income tax expenses.

In 2009, we recorded an income tax expense of $52 million primarily related to the treatment of funds received from non-
U.S. subsidiaries. This issue has been settled as noted above. 

The IRS has examined our federal income tax returns, and we have settled all issues for tax years through 2009. We 
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participated in the IRS Compliance Assurance Program (“CAP”) for the 2011 and 2010 tax years and also expect to participate 
for 2012. This program accelerates the examination of key transactions with the goal of resolving any issues before the tax 
return is filed. Various income tax returns are also under examination by foreign, state and local taxing authorities.

We had total unrecognized tax benefits of $39 million at year-end 2011, $39 million at year-end 2010, and $249 million at 
year-end 2009. These unrecognized tax benefits reflect the following year-over-year changes: (1) no net change in 2011, 
although 2011 included increases such as positions related to the spin-off of our timeshare operations, and decreases such as the 
closing of the 2005 - 2008 IRS audits, the re-measurement of existing positions, and the lapse of statutes of limitations; (2) a 
$210 million decrease in 2010, primarily reflecting the settlement with IRS Appeals of the 2005-2008 tax years; and (3) a $108 
million increase in 2009, primarily representing an increase for the treatment of funds received from non-U.S. subsidiaries due 
to our then current exposure.

As a large taxpayer, the IRS and other taxing authorities continually audit us. Although we do not anticipate that a 
significant impact to our unrecognized tax benefit balance will occur during the next 52 weeks as a result of these audits, it 
remains possible that the amount of our liability for unrecognized tax benefits could change over that time period.

Our unrecognized tax benefit balances included $24 million at year-end 2011, $26 million at year-end 2010, and $136 
million at year-end 2009 of tax positions that, if recognized, would impact our effective tax rate.

The following table reconciles our unrecognized tax benefit balance for each year from the beginning of 2009 to the end 
of 2011:
 

($ in millions)
Unrecognized tax benefit at beginning of 2009

Change attributable to tax positions taken during a prior period

Change attributable to tax positions taken during the current period

Decrease attributable to settlements with taxing authorities

Decrease attributable to lapse of statute of limitations

Unrecognized tax benefit at end of 2009

Change attributable to tax positions taken during a prior period

Change attributable to tax positions taken during the current period

Decrease attributable to settlements with taxing authorities

Decrease attributable to lapse of statute of limitations

Unrecognized tax benefit at end of 2010

Change attributable to tax positions taken during a prior period

Change attributable to withdrawal of tax positions previously taken or expected to be taken

Change attributable to tax positions taken during the current period

Decrease attributable to settlements with taxing authorities

Decrease attributable to lapse of statute of limitations

Unrecognized tax benefit at end of 2011

Amount

$ 141

99

22

(10)

(3)

249

(187)

25

(47)

(1)

39

(10)

(6)

19

—

(3)

$ 39

In accordance with our accounting policies, we recognize accrued interest and penalties related to our unrecognized tax 
benefits as a component of tax expense. Related interest expense totaled $1 million in 2011, $2 million in 2010, and $2 million 
in 2009. Accrued interest expense totaled $3 million in 2011, $4 million in 2010 and $28 million in 2009.

Deferred Income Taxes
Deferred income tax balances reflect the effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and 

liabilities and their tax bases, as well as from net operating loss and tax credit carry-forwards. We state those balances at the 
enacted tax rates we expect will be in effect when we actually pay or recover the taxes. Deferred income tax assets represent 
amounts available to reduce income taxes we will pay on taxable income in future years. We evaluate our ability to realize 
these future tax deductions and credits by assessing whether we expect to have sufficient future taxable income from all 
sources, including reversal of taxable temporary differences, forecasted operating earnings and available tax planning strategies 
to utilize these future deductions and credits. We establish a valuation allowance when we no longer consider it more likely 
than not that a deferred tax asset will be realized.
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Total deferred tax assets and liabilities as of year-end 2011 and year-end 2010, were as follows:
 

($ in millions)
Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax liabilities

Net deferred taxes

2011

$ 1,145

(18)

$ 1,127

2010

$ 1,236

(100)

$ 1,136

The following table details the composition of the net deferred tax balances at year-end 2011 and 2010.
 

($ in millions)
Balance Sheet Caption
Current deferred taxes, net

Long-term deferred taxes, net

Current liabilities, other

Long-term liabilities, other

Net deferred taxes

At Year-End
2011

$ 282

873

(13)

(15)

$ 1,127

At Year-End
2010

$ 246

932

(19)

(23)

$ 1,136

The tax effect of each type of temporary difference and carry-forward that gives rise to a significant portion of our 
deferred tax assets and liabilities as of year-end 2011 and year-end 2010, were as follows:
 

($ in millions)
Self-insurance

Employee benefits

Deferred income

Reserves

Frequent guest program

Joint venture interests

ASC 740 deferred taxes
Tax credits

Net operating loss carry-forwards

Timeshare financing

Property, equipment, and intangible assets

Other, net

Deferred taxes

Less: valuation allowance

Net deferred taxes

2011

$ 20

295

15

64

42

(8)

5

281

467

—

(10)

28

1,199

(72)

$ 1,127

2010

$ 22

296

18

213

104

99

5

235

204

—

18

(16)

1,198

(62)

$ 1,136

 

At year-end 2011, we had approximately $48 million of tax credits that expire through 2031 and $232 million of tax 
credits that do not expire. We recorded $332 million of net operating loss benefits in 2011 and $21 million in 2010. At year-end 
2011, we had approximately $3.3 billion of net operating losses, of which $2.8 billion expire through 2031.
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Reconciliation of U.S. Federal Statutory Income Tax Rate to Actual Income Tax Rate
The following table reconciles the U.S. statutory tax rate to our effective income tax rate:

 

U.S. statutory tax rate

U.S. state income taxes, net of U.S. federal tax benefit

Nondeductible expenses

Non-U.S. income

Audit activity (1)

Company owned life insurance

Change in valuation allowance (2)

Tax credits

Other, net

Effective rate

2011

35.0%

2.3

1.8

(0.9)

0.0

0.0

8.9

(1.0)

(1.7)

44.4%

2010

35.0%

2.4

0.5

(3.7)

(15.6)

0.0

0.9

(0.4)

(2.3)

16.8%

2009

(35.0)%

(2.1)

0.5

5.2

13.7

(2.0)

2.2

(0.4)

2.3

(15.6)%

 
(1) Primarily related to the treatment of funds received from certain non-U.S. subsidiaries, as discussed earlier in this footnote.
(2) Primarily related to additional impairment of certain deferred tax assets transferred to MVW, as discussed earlier in this footnote.

Cash paid for income taxes, net of refunds, was $45 million in 2011, $68 million in 2010, and $110 million in 2009.

3. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION

Under our 2002 Comprehensive Stock and Cash Incentive Plan (the “Comprehensive Plan”), we award: (1) stock options 
to purchase our Class A Common Stock (“Stock Option Program”); (2) stock appreciation rights (“SARs”) for our Class A 
Common Stock (“SAR Program”); (3) restricted stock units (“RSUs”) of our Class A Common Stock; and (4) deferred stock 
units. We grant awards at exercise prices or strike prices equal to the market price of our Class A Common Stock on the date of 
grant.

For all share-based awards, the guidance requires that we measure compensation costs related to our share-based payment 
transactions at fair value on the grant date and that we recognize those costs in the financial statements over the vesting period 
during which the employee provides service in exchange for the award.

Effective with the spin-off (see Footnote No. 17, "Spin-off" for further information), all holders of Marriott RSUs on the 
November 10, 2011 date of record for the spin-off received MVW RSUs consistent with the distribution ratio, with terms and 
conditions substantially similar to the terms and conditions applicable to the Marriott RSUs.  Also, effective with the spin-off, 
the holders of Marriott stock options and SARs on the date of record received MVW stock options and SARs, consistent with 
the distribution ratio, with terms and conditions substantially similar to the terms and conditions applicable to the Marriott 
stock options and SARs. In order to preserve the aggregate intrinsic value of the Marriott stock options and SARs held by such 
persons, the exercise prices of such awards were adjusted by using the proportion of the Marriott ex-distribution closing stock 
price to the sum of the total of the Marriott ex-distribution and MVW when issued closing stock prices on the distribution date. 
All of these adjustments were designed to equalize the fair value of each award before and after spin-off. These adjustments 
were accounted for as modifications to the original awards. A comparison of the fair value of the modified awards with the fair 
value of the original awards immediately before the modification did not yield incremental value. Accordingly, Marriott did not 
record any incremental compensation expense as a result of the modifications to the awards on the spin-off date. 

Marriott's future share-based compensation expense will not be significantly impacted by the equity award adjustments 
that occurred as a result of the spin-off. Deferred compensation costs as of the date of spin-off reflected the unamortized 
balance of the original grant date fair value of the equity awards held by Marriott employees (regardless of whether those 
awards are linked to Marriott stock or MVW stock). Following the spin-off, MVW employees who participated in the 
Comprehensive Plan prior to the spin-off may continue to hold such Marriott granted awards as non-employees. Marriott will 
not record any share-based compensation expense related to these unvested awards held by MVW employees after the spin-off.

During 2011, we granted 2.6 million RSUs,  0.7 million SARs, and 29,000 deferred stock units.

We recorded share-based compensation expense related to award grants of $86 million in 2011, $90 million in 2010, and 
$85 million in 2009. Deferred compensation costs related to unvested awards totaled $101 million  and $113 million at year-
end 2011 and 2010, respectively. As of year-end 2011, we expect to recognize these deferred compensation expenses over a 
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weighted average period of two years.

For awards granted after 2005, we recognize share-based compensation expense over the period from the grant date to the 
date on which the award is no longer contingent on the employee providing additional service (the “substantive vesting 
period”). We continue to follow the stated vesting period for the unvested portion of awards granted prior to 2006 and the 
adoption of the current guidance for share-based compensation and follow the substantive vesting period for awards granted 
after 2005.

In accordance with the guidance for share-based compensation, we present the tax benefits and costs resulting from the 
exercise or vesting of share-based awards as financing cash flows. The exercise of share-based awards in 2010 and 2009 
resulted in tax benefits of $51 million in 2010 and tax costs of $8 million in 2009. Due to current year tax losses, we recorded 
no tax benefit in 2011.

We received cash from the exercise of Marriott stock options of $124 million in 2011, $147 million in 2010, and $35 
million in 2009.

RSUs

We issue Marriott RSUs under the Comprehensive Plan to certain officers and key employees and those units vest 
generally over four years in equal annual installments commencing one year after the date of grant. We recognize compensation 
expense for RSUs over the service period equal to the fair market value of the stock units on the date of issuance. Upon vesting, 
Marriott RSUs convert to shares and are distributed from treasury shares. At year-end 2011 and year-end 2010, we had deferred 
compensation associated with RSUs of approximately $94 million and $103 million, respectively. The weighted average 
remaining term for RSU grants outstanding at year-end 2011 was two years.

The following table provides additional information on RSUs for the last three fiscal years:

Share-based compensation expense (in millions)

Weighted average grant-date fair value (per Marriott RSU)

Aggregate intrinsic value of converted and distributed Marriott RSUs (in millions)

2011

$ 73

$ 40

$ 113

2010

$ 76

$ 27

$ 79

2009

$ 71

$ 19

$ 39

The following table shows the 2011 changes in our outstanding Marriott RSU grants and the associated weighted average 
grant-date fair values:
 

Outstanding at year-end 2010

Granted during 2011

Distributed during 2011

Forfeited during 2011

Outstanding at year-end 2011 (1)

Number of
Marriott RSUs

(in millions)

7.9

2.6

(2.9)

(0.3)

7.3

Weighted
Average 

Grant-Date
Fair Value           
(per RSU)

$ 30

40

29

32

33

(1) Includes 0.7 million Marriott RSUs held by MVW employees.

Stock Options and SARs
We may grant employee stock options to officers and key employees at exercise prices or strike prices equal to the market 

price of our Class A Common Stock on the date of grant. Non-qualified options generally expire ten years after the date of 
grant, except those issued from 1990 through 2000, which expire 15 years after the date of the grant. Most stock options under 
the Stock Option Program are exercisable in cumulative installments of one quarter at the end of each of the first four years 
following the date of grant.

We recognized compensation expense associated with employee stock options of less than $1 million in 2011, less than 
$1 million in 2010, and $1 million in 2009. We had approximately $1 million in deferred compensation costs related to 
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employee stock options at both year-end 2011 and year-end 2010. Upon the exercise of Marriott stock options, we issue shares 
from treasury shares. 

The following table shows the 2011 changes in our outstanding Marriott Stock Option Program awards and the associated 
weighted average exercise prices:
 

Outstanding at year-end 2010

Granted during 2011

Exercised during 2011

Forfeited during 2011

Outstanding at year-end 2011 (1)

Number of Marriott 
Options

(in  millions)

24.1

—

(7.6)

(0.1)

16.4

Weighted Average
Exercise  Price     
(per Option)

$ 18

—

17

30

17

(1) Includes 0.4 million Marriott options held by MVW employees.

The following table shows the Marriott stock options issued under the Stock Option Program awards outstanding at year-
end 2011:
 

 

Range of
Exercise  Prices

13

18

23

8

 

to

to

to

to

 

17

22

49

49

Outstanding

Number of
Stock

Options
(in millions)

11.7

3.3

1.4

16.4

Weighted
Average
Exercise

Price        
(per Option)

15

21

31

17

Weighted
Average

Remaining
Life

(in years)

2

3

5

2

Exercisable

Number of
Stock

Options
(in millions)

11.7

3.3

1.3

16.3

Weighted
Average
Exercise

Price        
(per Option) 

15

21

31

17

Weighted
Average

Remaining
Life

(in years)

2

3

4

2

The following table shows the number of Marriott options we granted in the last three years and the associated weighted 
average grant-date fair values and weighted average exercise prices:
 

Options granted

Weighted average grant-date fair value (per option)

Weighted average exercise price (per option)

2011

19,192

$ 15

$ 38

2010

53,304

$ 10

$ 25

2009

—

$ —

$ —

The following table shows the intrinsic value of outstanding Marriott stock options and exercisable Marriott stock options 
at year-end 2011 and 2010:
 

($ in millions)
Outstanding stock options

Exercisable stock options

2011

$ 211

211

2010

$ 580

578

The total intrinsic value of Marriott stock options exercised during 2011, 2010, and 2009 was approximately $124 
million, $149 million, and $30 million, respectively.

We may grant Marriott SARs to officers and key employees ("Employee SARs") at base values (exercise prices or strike 
prices) equal to the market price of our Class A Common Stock on the date of grant. Employee SARs expire ten years after the 
date of grant and both vest and may be exercised in cumulative installments of one quarter at the end of each of the first four 
years following the date of grant. We may grant Marriott SARs to directors ("Director SARs") at exercise prices or strike prices 
equal to the market price of our Class A Common Stock on the date of grant. Director SARs generally expire ten years after the 
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date of grant and vest upon grant; however, they are generally not exercisable until one year after grant. On exercise of Marriott 
SARs, holders receive the number of shares of our Class A Common Stock equal to the number of SARs that are being 
exercised multiplied by the quotient of (a) the final value minus the base value, divided by (b) the final value.

We recognized compensation expense associated with Employee SARs and Director SARs of $12 million in 2011, $12 
million in 2010, and $11 million in 2009. At year-end 2011 and year-end 2010, we had approximately $6 million  and $9 
million, respectively, in deferred compensation costs related to SARs. Upon the exercise of Marriott SARs, we issue shares 
from treasury shares. 

The following table shows the 2011 changes in our outstanding Marriott SARs and the associated weighted average 
exercise prices:

Outstanding at year-end 2010

Granted during 2011

Exercised during 2011

Forfeited during 2011

Outstanding at year-end 2011 (1)

Number of SARs
(in  millions)

4.8

0.7

—

(0.1)

5.4

Weighted Average
Exercise  Price

$ 31

38

—

31

30

(1) Includes 0.3 million Marriott SARs held by MVW employees.

The following tables show the number of Employee Marriott SARs and Director Marriott SARs granted in the last three 
years, the associated weighted average exercise prices, and the associated weighted average grant-date fair values:
 

Employee Marriott SARs
Employee Marriott SARs granted (in millions)

Weighted average exercise price (per SAR)

Weighted average grant-date fair value (per SAR)

Director Marriott SARs
Director Marriott SARs granted

Weighted average exercise price (per SAR)

Weighted average grant-date fair value (per SAR)

2011

0.7

$ 38

$ 14
2011

—

$ —

$ —

2010

1.1

$ 27

$ 10
2010

—

$ —

$ —

2009

0.5

$ 15

$ 5
2009

5,600

$ 23

$ 10

 The number of Marriott SARs forfeited in 2011 and 2010 was 63,000 and 79,000, respectively. Outstanding Marriott 
SARs at year-end 2011 and year-end 2010 had total intrinsic values of less than $1 million and $54 million, respectively. 
Exercisable Marriott SARs at year-end 2011 and year-end 2010 had total intrinsic values of zero and $13 million, respectively. 
Marriott SARs exercised during 2011 and 2010 had total intrinsic values of $280,000 and $402,000, respectively. No SARs 
were exercised in 2009. 

We use a binomial method to estimate the fair value of each SAR granted, under which we calculate the weighted average 
expected SARs terms as the product of a lattice-based binomial valuation model that uses suboptimal exercise factors. We use 
historical data to estimate exercise behaviors and terms to retirement for separate groups of retirement eligible and non-
retirement eligible employees. The following table shows the assumptions we used for stock options and Employee SARs for 
2011, 2010, and 2009:

Expected volatility

Dividend yield

Risk-free rate

Expected term (in years)

2011

32%

0.73%

3.4%

8.0

2010

32%

0.71%

3.3%

7.0

2009

32%

0.95%

2.2%

7.0

 
In making these assumptions, we based risk-free rates on the corresponding U.S. Treasury spot rates for the expected 



67

duration at the date of grant, which we converted to a continuously compounded rate. We based expected volatility on the 
weighted-average historical volatility, with periods with atypical stock movement given a lower weight to reflect stabilized 
long-term mean volatility. We generally valued Director SARs using assumptions consistent with those shown above for 
Employee SARs, except that we used an expected term of ten years and risk-free rate of 3.2 percent for 2009 rather than that 
shown in the foregoing table. There were no Director SARs granted during 2010 and 2011.

Deferred Stock Units
We also issue Marriott deferred stock units to Non-employee directors. These Non-employee director deferred stock units 

vest within one year and are distributed upon election. At year-end 2011 and year-end 2010, there was approximately $279,000 
and $313,000, respectively, in deferred costs related to Non-employee director deferred stock units.

The following table shows share-based compensation expense, number of deferred stock units granted, weighted average 
grant-date fair value, and aggregate intrinsic value of Non-employee director Marriott deferred stock units:
 

Share-based compensation expense (in millions)

Non-employee director deferred stock units granted

Weighted average grant-date fair value (per share)

Aggregate intrinsic value of shares distributed (in millions)

2011

$ 1.1

29,000

$ 36

$ 1.4

2010

$ 1.1

34,000

$ 35

$ 1.2

2009

$ 0.9

39,000

$ 23

$ 0.5

At year-end 2011 and year-end 2010, 247,000 and 252,000, respectively, of Non-employee Marriott deferred stock units 
were outstanding. The weighted average grant-date fair value of those outstanding deferred stock units was $25 for 2011 and 
$26 for 2010.

Other Information

Although the Comprehensive Plan also provides for issuance of deferred stock bonus awards, deferred stock awards, and 
restricted stock awards, our Compensation Policy Committee indefinitely suspended the issuance of deferred bonus stock 
beginning in 2001 and the issuance of both deferred stock awards and restricted stock awards beginning in 2003. At year-end 
2011 and year-end 2010, we had zero and less than $1 million, respectively, in deferred compensation costs related to these 
suspended award programs. We had share-based compensation expense associated with these suspended award programs of 
less than $1 million in 2011, $1 million in 2010, and $1 million in 2009.

At year-end 2011, we reserved 49 million shares under the Comprehensive Plan, including 22 million shares under the 
Stock Option Program and the SAR Program.
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4. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

We believe that the fair values of our current assets and current liabilities approximate their reported carrying amounts. 
We show the carrying values and the fair values of non-current financial assets and liabilities that qualify as financial 
instruments, determined in accordance with current guidance for disclosures on the fair value of financial instruments, in the 
following table.  On November 21, 2011, we transferred all balances related to Loans to timeshare owners (both securitized and 
non-securitized) and non-recourse debt associated with securitized notes receivable to MVW as part of the spin-off. See 
Footnote No. 17, "Spin-off" for additional information.

 

($ in millions)
Cost method investments
Loans to timeshare owners – securitized
Loans to timeshare owners – non-securitized
Senior, mezzanine, and other loans – non-securitized
Restricted cash
Marketable securities

Total long-term financial assets
Non-recourse debt associated with securitized notes receivable
Senior Notes
Commercial paper
Other long-term debt
Other long-term liabilities
Long-term derivative liabilities

Total long-term financial liabilities

At Year-End 2011
Carrying
Amount

$ 31
—
—

298
16
50

$ 395
$ —

(1,286)
(331)
(137)
(77)
—

$ (1,831)

Fair Value
$ 25

—
—

252
16
50

$ 343
$ —

(1,412)
(331)
(137)
(77)
—

$ (1,957)

At Year-End 2010
Carrying
Amount

$ 60
910
170
184
30
18

$ 1,372
$ (890)

(1,631)
—

(142)
(71)
(1)

$ (2,735)

Fair Value
$ 63

1,097
176
130
30
18

$ 1,514
$ (921)

(1,771)
—

(138)
(67)
(1)

$ (2,898)

 At year-end 2010, we estimated the fair value of the securitized notes receivable using a discounted cash flow model. We 
believed this was comparable to a model that an independent third party would use in the then current market. Our model used 
default rates, prepayment rates, coupon rates and loan terms for our securitized notes receivable portfolio as key drivers of risk 
and relative value, that when applied in combination with pricing parameters, determined the fair value of the underlying notes 
receivable.

At year-end 2010, we estimated the fair value of the portion of our non-securitized notes receivable that we believed will 
ultimately be securitized in the same manner as securitized notes receivable. We valued the remaining non-securitized notes 
receivable at their carrying value, rather than using our pricing model. We believed that the carrying value of such notes 
receivable approximated fair value because the stated interest rates of these loans were consistent with current market rates and 
the reserve for these notes receivable appropriately accounted for risks in default rates, prepayment rates, and loan terms.

We estimate the fair value of our senior, mezzanine, and other loans by discounting cash flows using risk-adjusted rates. 
We estimate the fair value of our cost method investments by applying a cap rate to stabilized earnings (a market approach). 
The carrying value of our restricted cash approximates its fair value.

At year-end 2010, we estimated the fair value of our non-recourse debt associated with securitized notes receivable using 
internally generated cash flow estimates derived by modeling all bond tranches for our active notes receivable securitization 
transactions, with consideration for the collateral specific to each tranche. The key drivers in our analysis included default rates, 
prepayment rates, bond interest rates and other structural factors, which we used to estimate the projected cash flows. In order 
to estimate market credit spreads by rating, we reviewed market spreads from timeshare notes receivable securitizations and 
other asset-backed transactions that occurred in the market during fiscal year 2010. We then applied those estimated market 
spreads to swap rates in order to estimate an underlying discount rate for calculating the fair value of the active bonds payable.

We estimate the fair value of our other long-term debt, excluding leases, using expected future payments discounted at 
risk-adjusted rates, and we determine the fair value of our senior notes using quoted market prices. At year-end 2011 the 
carrying value of our commercial paper approximated its fair value due to the short maturity. Other long-term liabilities 
represent guarantee costs and reserves and deposit liabilities. The carrying values of our guarantee costs and reserves 



69

approximate their fair values. We estimate the fair value of our deposit liabilities primarily by discounting future payments at a 
risk-adjusted rate.

We are required to carry our marketable securities at fair value. We value these securities using directly observable Level 
1 inputs. The carrying value of our marketable securities at year-end 2011 was $50 million, which included debt securities of 
the U.S. Government, its sponsored agencies and other U.S. corporations invested for our self-insurance programs as well as 
shares of a publicly traded company. During 2011, a company in which we owned an investment that we accounted for using 
the cost method became a publicly traded company. Accordingly, we reclassified the investment to marketable securities and 
now record our investment at fair value. We determined that this security was other-than-temporarily impaired as of the end of 
the 2011 third quarter and, correspondingly, we recognized an $18 million loss in the 2011 third quarter which we reflected in 
the "(Losses) gains and other income" caption of our Income Statement. This loss included $10 million of losses that had been 
recorded in other comprehensive income as of the end of the 2011 second quarter.

We are also required to carry our derivative assets and liabilities at fair value. As of year-end 2011, we had no derivative 
instruments in a long-term asset or long-term liability position. On November 21, 2011, we transferred  the long-term asset 
position of our derivative instruments to MVW in conjunction with the spin-off.  See Footnote No. 17, “Spin-off” for additional 
information. Prior to the spin-off, we used Level 3 inputs to value these derivatives, using valuations that we calibrated to the 
initial trade prices, with subsequent valuations based on unobservable inputs to the valuation model, including interest rates and 
volatilities.

See the “Fair Value Measurements” caption of Footnote No. 1, “Summary of Significant Accounting Policies” for 
additional information.

Prior to the spin-off, in preparing our former Timeshare segment to operate as an independent, publicly traded company 
following our spin-off of MVW (see Footnote No. 17, "Spin-off" for additional information), management assessed the 
Timeshare segment's intended use of excess undeveloped land and built inventory and the current market conditions for those 
assets.  During the third quarter of 2011, in conjunction with our evaluation of these specific Timeshare assets and our resulting 
decisions to accelerate cash flow through the monetization of certain excess undeveloped land and to offer incentives to 
accelerate sales of excess built luxury fractional and residential inventory, we recorded $324 million ($234 million after-tax) of 
impairment charges, reflected in our 2011 Income Statement in the “Timeshare Strategy - Impairment Charges” caption, to 
write down the carrying amounts of inventory and property and equipment to their respective fair values.  For additional 
information, see Footnote No. 18, “Timeshare Strategy - Impairment Charges.”
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5. EARNINGS PER SHARE

The table below illustrates the reconciliation of the earnings (losses) and number of shares used in our calculations of 
basic and diluted earnings (losses) per share attributable to Marriott shareholders. 
 

             

 
(in millions, except per share amounts)
Computation of Basic Earnings Per Share Attributable to Marriott
Shareholders

Net income (loss)
Net losses attributable to noncontrolling interests
Net income (loss) attributable to Marriott shareholders
Weighted average shares outstanding
Basic earnings (losses) per share attributable to Marriott
shareholders

Computation of Diluted Earnings Per Share Attributable to Marriott
Shareholders

Net income (loss) attributable to Marriott shareholders
Weighted average shares outstanding
Effect of dilutive securities

Employee stock option and SARs plans
Deferred stock incentive plans
Restricted stock units
Shares for diluted earnings per share

Diluted earnings (losses) per share attributable to Marriott
shareholders

2011
 

$ 198
—

$ 198
350.1

$ 0.56

$ 198
350.1

8.0
0.9
3.3

362.3

$ 0.55

2010
 

$ 458
—

$ 458
362.8

$ 1.26

$ 458
362.8

11.0
1.1
3.4

378.3

$ 1.21

2009

$ (353)
7

$ (346)
356.4

$ (0.97)

$ (346)
356.4

—
—
—

356.4

$ (0.97)

We compute the effect of dilutive securities using the treasury stock method and average market prices during the period. 
We determine dilution based on earnings.  As we recorded a loss in 2009, we did not include the following shares in the “Effect 
of dilutive securities” caption in the preceding table, because it would have been antidilutive to do so: 7.5 million employee 
stock option and SARs plan shares, 1.4 million deferred stock incentive plans shares, and 2.1 million RSU shares.  

In accordance with the applicable accounting guidance for calculating earnings per share, we have not included the 
following stock options and SARs in our calculation of diluted earnings per share because the exercise prices were greater than 
the average market prices for the applicable periods:

(a) for 2011, 4.1 million options and SARs, with exercise prices ranging from $30.31 to $46.21;

(b) for 2010, 2.4 million options and SARs, with exercise prices ranging from $34.11 to $49.03; and

(c) for 2009, 12.3 million options and SARs, with exercise prices ranging from $22.30 to $49.03.

6. INVENTORY 

    Inventory, totaling $11 million as of year-end 2011, primarily consists of hotel operating supplies for the limited 
number of properties we own or lease. Inventory totaling $1,489 million as of year-end 2010, consisted primarily of Timeshare 
segment interval, fractional ownership, and residential products totaling $1,472 million and hotel operating supplies of $17 
million. Interest capitalized as a cost of Timeshare segment interval, fractional ownership, and residential products totaled $6 
million in 2011 and $3 million in 2010. On November 21, 2011, we transferred all Timeshare segment inventory balances 
(including the capitalized interest) to MVW as part of the spin-off. See Footnote No. 17, "Spin-off" for additional information. 

We generally value operating supplies at the lower of cost (using the first-in, first-out method) or market. Prior to the 
spin-off date, we primarily recorded Timeshare segment interval, fractional ownership, and residential products at the lower of 
cost or fair market value, in accordance with applicable accounting guidance. Consistent with recognized industry practice, we 
classified Timeshare segment interval, fractional ownership, and residential products inventory as of year-end 2010 (which had 
an operating cycle that exceeds 12 months) as a current asset.

Prior to the spin-off, in preparing our former Timeshare segment to operate as an independent, publicly traded company 
(see Footnote No. 17, "Spin-off" for additional information), management assessed the Timeshare segment's intended use of 
excess undeveloped land and built inventory and the current market conditions for those assets.  On September 8, 2011, 
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management approved a plan for the Timeshare segment to accelerate cash flow through the monetization of certain excess 
undeveloped land and to offer incentives to accelerate sales of excess built luxury fractional and residential inventory. As the 
fair values of the undeveloped land and the excess built luxury fractional and residential inventory were less than their 
respective carrying values, we recorded an inventory impairment charge in 2011 of $256 million to adjust the carrying value of 
the inventory to its fair value.  Additionally, upon the approval of the plan in 2011, we reclassified $57 million of this 
undeveloped land previously in our development plans from inventory to property and equipment. See Footnote No. 18, 
“Timeshare Strategy-Impairment Charges,” for additional information.

We show the composition of our former Timeshare segment inventory balances as of year-end 2010 in the following 
table:
 

($ in millions)
Finished goods
Work-in-process
Land and infrastructure

At Year-End
2010

$ 732
101
639

$ 1,472

7. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT 

We show the composition of our property and equipment balances in the following table:
 

($ in millions)
Land
Buildings and leasehold improvements
Furniture and equipment
Construction in progress

Accumulated depreciation

2011
$ 454

667
810
164

2,095
(927)

$ 1,168

2010
$ 514

854
984
204

2,556
(1,249)

$ 1,307

In the following table, we show the composition of our assets recorded under capital leases, which we have included in 
our property and equipment total balances in the preceding table:

($ in millions)
Land
Buildings and leasehold improvements
Furniture and equipment
Construction in progress

Accumulated depreciation

2011
$ 30

128
34
3

195
(76)

$ 119

2010
$ 8

59
32
1

100
(70)

$ 30

We record property and equipment at cost, including interest and real estate taxes incurred during development and 
construction. Interest capitalized as a cost of property and equipment totaled $12 million in 2011, $10 million in 2010, and $8 
million in 2009. We capitalize the cost of improvements that extend the useful life of property and equipment when incurred. 
These capitalized costs may include structural costs, equipment, fixtures, floor, and wall coverings. We expense all repair and 
maintenance costs as incurred. We compute depreciation using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the 
assets (three to 40 years), and we amortize leasehold improvements over the shorter of the asset life or lease term. Depreciation 
expense totaled $127 million in 2011, $138 million in 2010, and $151 million in 2009, and included amortization of assets 
recorded under capital leases.

As noted in Footnote No. 6, "Inventory," management approved a plan, on September 8, 2011, for the Timeshare segment 
to accelerate cash flow through the monetization of certain excess undeveloped land and to offer incentives to accelerate sales 
of excess built luxury fractional and residential inventory. As the nominal cash flows from the planned land sales and their 
estimated fair values were less than their carrying values, we recorded an impairment charge in the 2011 third quarter of $68 
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million to adjust the carrying value of the property and equipment to its fair value.  Additionally, upon the approval of the plan, 
we reclassified $57 million of this undeveloped land previously in our development plans from inventory to property and 
equipment in 2011. See Footnote No. 18, “Timeshare Strategy-Impairment Charges,” for additional information.

In 2010, we determined that we would not be able to fully recover the carrying amount of a capitalized software asset 
from an existing group of property owners. In accordance with the guidance for the impairment of long-lived assets, we 
evaluated the asset for recovery and as a result of a negotiated agreement with the property owners, we recorded an impairment 
charge of $84 million in 2010 to adjust the carrying value of the asset to our estimate of its fair value. We estimated that fair 
value using an income approach reflecting internally developed Level 3 discounted cash flows that included, among other 
things, our expectations of future cash flows based on historical experience and projected growth rates, usage estimates and 
demand trends. The impairment charge impacted the general, administrative, and other expense line in our Income Statement. 
We did not allocate that charge to any of our segments.

In 2010, we decided to pursue the disposition of a golf course and related assets from our former Timeshare segment. In 
accordance with the guidance for the impairment of long-lived assets, we evaluated the property and related assets for recovery 
and we recorded an impairment charge of $13 million in 2010 to adjust the carrying value of the assets to our estimate of fair 
value. We estimated that fair value using an income approach reflecting internally developed Level 3 discounted cash flows 
based on negotiations with a qualified prospective third-party purchaser of the asset. The impairment charge impacted the 
general, administrative, and other expense line in our Income Statement, and we allocated the charge to our former Timeshare 
segment.

In 2010, we decided to pursue the disposition of a land parcel. In accordance with the guidance for the impairment of 
long-lived assets, we evaluated the property for recovery and we recorded an impairment charge of $14 million in 2010 to 
adjust the carrying value of the property to our estimate of fair value. We estimated that fair value using an income approach 
reflecting internally developed Level 3 cash flows that included, among other things, our expectations about the eventual 
disposition of the property based on discussions with potential third-party purchasers. The impairment charge impacted the 
general, administrative, and other expense line in our Income Statement, and we allocated that charge to our North American 
Limited-Service segment.

8. ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSITIONS

2011 Acquisitions

In 2011, we contributed approximately $51 million (€37 million) in cash for the intellectual property and associated 50 
percent interests in two new joint ventures formed for the operation, management and development of AC Hotels by Marriott, 
initially in Europe but eventually in other parts of the world. The hotels will be managed by the joint ventures or franchised at 
the direction of the joint ventures. As noted in Footnote No. 15, “Contingencies,” we have a right and, in some circumstances, 
an obligation to acquire the remaining interest in the joint ventures over the next nine years.

In 2011, we acquired certain assets and a leasehold on a hotel for an initial payment of $34 million (€25 million) in cash 
plus fixed annual rent. See Footnote No. 21, “Leases,” for additional information. As noted in Footnote No. 15, 
“Contingencies,” we also have a right and, in some circumstances, an obligation to acquire the landlord’s interest in the real 
estate property and attached assets of this hotel for $58 million (€45 million) during the next three years.

Late in 2011, we paid cash deposits of $6 million on a property we planned to develop into a hotel. Subsequent to fiscal 
year-end 2011, we acquired the associated land and a building for $160 million in cash.

2011 Dispositions

On November 21, 2011, we completed the spin-off of our timeshare operations and timeshare development business 
through a special tax-free dividend to our shareholders of all of the issued and outstanding common stock of MVW, our wholly 
owned subsidiary.  We made a pro rata distribution to our shareholders of record as of the close of business on November 10, 
2011 of one share of MVW common stock for every ten shares of Marriott common stock. We recognized no gain or loss as a 
result of the spin-off transaction.  Please see Footnote No. 17, "Spin-off" for additional information.

In 2011, we completed a bulk sale of land and developed inventory for net cash proceeds of $17 million and recorded a 
net gain of $2 million, which was included in the results of our former Timeshare segment.

In 2011, we sold our 11 percent interest in one hotel, concurrently terminated the associated lease agreement, and entered 
into a long-term management agreement. Cash proceeds totaled $1 million, and we recognized a $2 million loss. Our sale of the 
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89 percent interest in 1999 was accounted for under the financing method with proceeds reflected as long-term debt. In 
conjunction with the sale of the 11 percent interest in 2011, assets decreased by $19 million and liabilities decreased by $17 
million.

2010 Acquisitions
In 2010, we acquired one land parcel for hotel development and one hotel for cash consideration of $175 million. We also 

acquired timeshare and fractional units for use in The Ritz-Carlton Destination Club program for cash consideration of $112 
million, which included a deposit of $11 million, paid in 2009.

2010 Dispositions
In 2010, we sold two limited-service properties, one full-service property, and one land parcel for cash proceeds of $114 

million and recorded a net gain of $27 million. We accounted for each of the sales under the full accrual method in accordance 
with accounting for sales of real estate. We will continue to operate the one full-service property and one of the limited-service 
properties under management agreements. The one other limited-service property left our system.

2009 Acquisitions and Dispositions
We made no significant acquisitions or dispositions in 2009.

9. GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS 
The following table details the composition of our other intangible assets:

 

($ in millions)
Contract acquisition costs and other

Accumulated amortization

At Year-End
2011

$ 1,239

(393)

$ 846

At Year-End
2010

$ 1,145

(377)

$ 768

We capitalize costs incurred to acquire management, franchise, and license agreements that are both direct and 
incremental. We amortize these costs on a straight-line basis over the initial term of the agreements, ranging from 15 to 30 
years. Amortization expense totaled $41 million in 2011, $40 million in 2010, and $34 million in 2009. Our estimated 
aggregate amortization expense for each of the next five fiscal years is as follows: $41 million for 2012; $37 million for 2013; 
$36 million for 2014; $36 million for 2015; and $36 million for 2016.

The following table details the carrying amount of goodwill:
 

($ in millions)
Goodwill

Accumulated impairment losses

At Year-End
2011

$ 929

(54)

$ 875

At Year-End
2010

$ 929

(54)

$ 875
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10. NOTES RECEIVABLE

We show the composition of our notes receivable balances (net of reserves and unamortized discounts) in the following 
table: 
 

($ in millions)
Loans to timeshare owners – securitized
Loans to timeshare owners – non-securitized
Senior, mezzanine, and other loans – non-securitized

Less current portion
Loans to timeshare owners – securitized
Loans to timeshare owners – non-securitized
Senior, mezzanine, and other loans – non-securitized

At Year-End
2011

$ —
—

382
382

—
—

(84)
$ 298

At Year-End
2010

$ 1,028
225
191

1,444

(118)
(55)
(7)

$ 1,264

   We classify notes receivable due within one year as current assets in the caption “Accounts and notes receivable” in our 
Balance Sheets. We show the composition of our long-term notes receivable balances (net of reserves and unamortized 
discounts) in the following table:
 

($ in millions)
Loans to timeshare owners
Loans to equity method investees
Other notes receivable

At Year-End
2011

$ —
2

296
$ 298

At Year-End
2010

$ 1,080
2

182
$ 1,264

The following tables show future principal payments (net of reserves and unamortized discounts) as well as interest rates, 
reserves and unamortized discounts for our securitized and non-securitized notes receivable.  

Notes Receivable Principal Payments (net of reserves and unamortized discounts) and Interest Rates 

 

($ in millions)
2012
2013
2014
2015
2016
Thereafter
Balance at year-end 2011
Weighted average interest rate at year-end 2011
Range of stated interest rates at year-end 2011

Amount
$ 84

50
35
23
44

146
$ 382

4.3%
0 to 12.9%
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Notes Receivable Reserves
 

($ in millions)
Balance at year-end 2010
Balance at year-end 2011

Non-Securitized
Notes  

Receivable
$ 203
$ 78

Securitized
Notes  

Receivable
$ 89
$ —

Total
$ 292
$ 78

Notes Receivable Unamortized Discounts (1)

($ in millions)
Balance at year-end 2010
Balance at year-end 2011

Amount
$ 13
$ 12

 
(1) The discounts for both year-end 2011 and 2010 relate entirely to our Senior, Mezzanine, and Other Loans.

Senior, Mezzanine, and Other Loans 

We reflect interest income associated with “Senior, mezzanine, and other loans” in the “Interest income” caption in our 
Income Statements. At year-end 2011, our recorded investment in impaired “Senior, mezzanine, and other loans” was $96 
million. We had a $78 million notes receivable reserve representing an allowance for credit losses, leaving $18 million of our 
investment in impaired loans, for which we had no related allowance for credit losses. At year-end 2010, our recorded 
investment in impaired “Senior, mezzanine, and other loans” was $83 million, and we had a $74 million notes receivable 
reserve representing an allowance for credit losses, leaving $9 million of our investment in impaired loans, for which we had 
no related allowance for credit losses. During 2011 and 2010, our average investment in impaired “Senior, mezzanine, and 
other loans” totaled $89 million and $137 million, respectively.

The following table summarizes the activity related to our “Senior, mezzanine, and other loans” notes receivable reserve 
for 2009, 2010, and 2011:

($ in millions)
Balance at year-end 2008

Additions
Write-offs
Transfers and other

Balance at year-end 2009
Additions
Write-offs
Transfers and other

Balance at year-end 2010
Additions
Reversals
Transfers and other

Balance at year-end 2011

Notes  
Receivable

Reserve
$ 113

84
(28)
14

$ 183
4

(120)
7

$ 74
2

(7)
9

$ 78

As of year-end 2011, past due senior, mezzanine, and other loans totaled $8 million.

Loans to Timeshare Owners  

    On November 21, 2011, we transferred all balances related to loans to timeshare owners (both securitized and non-
securitized) to MVW as part of the spin-off. See Footnote No. 17, "Spin-off" for additional information. Prior to the spin-off 
date, we reflected interest income associated with “Loans to timeshare owners” of $143 million, $187 million, and $46 million 
for 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively, in our Income Statements in the “Timeshare sales and services” revenue caption. Of the 
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$143 million of interest income we recognized in 2011, $116 million was associated with securitized loans and $27 million was 
associated with non-securitized loans, compared with $147 million associated with securitized loans and $40 million associated 
with non-securitized loans in 2010. The interest income we recognized in 2009 related solely to non-securitized loans.

The following table summarizes the activity related to our “Loans to timeshare owners” notes receivable reserve for 
2009, 2010, and 2011 prior to the spin-off date:
 

($ in millions)
Balance at year-end 2008

Additions for current year securitizations
Write-offs

Balance at year-end 2009
Additions for current year securitizations
Additions for new securitizations, net of clean-up call
Write-offs
One-time impact of the new Transfers of Financial Assets and Consolidation 
standards (1)

Defaulted note repurchase activity(2)

Other
Balance at year-end 2010

Additions for current year contract sales
Additions for new securitizations, net of  unwind
Write-offs
Defaulted note repurchase activity(2)

Other(3)

Transfer due to spin-off
Balance at year-end 2011

Non-Securitized
Notes  

Receivable
Reserve

$ 35
5

(13)
$ 27

32
(18)
(79)

84
68
15

$ 129
26

(12)
(67)
43

(12)
(107)

$ —

Securitized
Notes  

Receivable
Reserve

$ —
—
—

$ —
—
18
—

135
(68)

4
$ 89

—
12
—

(43)
12

(70)
$ —

Total
$ 35

5
(13)

$ 27
32
—

(79)

219
—
19

$ 218
26
—

(67)
—
—

(177)
$ —

 
(1) The non-securitized notes receivable reserve related to the implementation of the new Transfers of Financial Assets and Consolidation standards, 

which required us to establish reserves for certain previously securitized and subsequently repurchased notes held at January 2, 2010.
(2) Decrease in securitized reserve and increase in non-securitized reserve was attributable to the transfer of the reserve when we repurchased the notes.
(3) Consisted of static pool and default rate assumption changes.

 We show our recorded investment in nonaccrual “Loans to timeshare owners” loans at year-end 2010 (which were loans 
that were 90 days or more past due) as well as our average investment in these loans during 2010 in the following table:
 

($ in millions)
Investment in loans on nonaccrual status

Average investment in loans on nonaccrual status

Non-Securitized
Notes  

Receivable
$ 113

$ 113

Securitized
Notes  

Receivable
$ 15

$ 8

Total
$ 128

$ 121

11. ASSET SECURITIZATIONS
Prior to the spin-off date (see Footnote No. 17, "Spin-off" for additional information on the spin-off), we periodically 

securitized, without recourse, through special purpose entities, notes receivable originated by our former Timeshare segment in 
connection with the sale of timeshare interval and fractional products. We continued to service the notes and transferred all 
proceeds collected to special purpose entities. We retained servicing agreements and other interests in the notes. The executed 
transactions typically included minimal cash reserves established at time of securitization, as well as default and delinquency 
triggers, which we monitored on a monthly basis. See Footnote No. 1, “Summary of Significant Accounting Policies”  for 
information on the impact of our 2010 adoption of the new Transfers of Financial Assets and Consolidation standards on our 
timeshare note securitizations, including the elimination of residual interests and the accounting for note receivable 
securitizations as secured borrowings, rather than sales.

The following table shows cash flows between us and investors during 2009. In 2010, we consolidated the entities that 
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facilitated our notes receivable securitizations. See Footnote No. 20, “Variable Interest Entities”  for discussion of the impact of 
our involvement with these entities on our financial position, financial performance, and cash flows for 2010 and 2011.
 

                

($ in millions)
Net proceeds to us from timeshare note securitizations

Voluntary repurchases by us of defaulted notes (over 150 days overdue)

Servicing fees received by us

Cash flows received from our retained interests

2009

$ 349

$ 81

$ 6

$ 75

In 2010 and 2009, we securitized notes receivable originated by our Timeshare segment in connection with the sale of 
timeshare interval and fractional ownership products of $229 million and $446 million, respectively. During 2010, we entered 
into one note securitization transaction for $229 million. The note securitization was made to a transaction-specific trust that, 
simultaneously with its purchase of the notes receivable, issued $218 million of the trust’s notes. During 2009, we entered into 
two note securitization transactions for $284 million and $380 million. The second of these transactions included our 
reacquisition and securitization of $218 million of notes that were previously securitized in the first transaction. Each note 
securitization in 2009 was made to a transaction-specific trust that, simultaneously with its purchase of the notes receivable, 
issued $522 million of the trust’s notes. In connection with the securitization of the notes receivable, we received proceeds, net 
of costs and reserves, of $215 million in 2010 and $349 million in 2009. We included gains from the sales of timeshare notes 
receivable totaling $37 million in 2009 in the “Timeshare sales and services” revenue caption in our Income Statement. In 
2010, we accounted for the note securitization transaction under the new Transfers of Financial Assets and Consolidation 
standards. Accordingly, no gain or loss was recorded in conjunction with the 2010 note securitization transaction.

12. LONG-TERM DEBT

We provide detail on our long-term debt balances in the following table: 
 

($ in millions)

Non-recourse debt associated with securitized notes receivable
Less current portion

Senior Notes:
Series F, interest rate of 4.625%, face amount of $348, maturing June 15, 2012  (effective interest rate of 
5.01%)(1)

Series G, interest rate of 5.810%, face amount of $316, maturing November 10, 2015 (effective interest 
rate of 6.52%)(1)

Series H, interest rate of 6.200%, face amount of $289, maturing June 15, 2016 (effective interest rate of 
6.28%)(1)

Series I, interest rate of 6.375%, face amount of $293, maturing June 15, 2017 (effective interest rate of 
6.43%)(1)

Series J, interest rate of 5.625%, face amount of $400, maturing February 15, 2013 (effective interest rate 
of 5.69%)(1)

Commercial paper, average interest rate of 0.4407% at December 30, 2011
$1,750 Credit Facility
Other

Less current portion

2011

$ —
—
—

348

307

289

291

399
331
—

206
2,171
(355)

1,816
$ 1,816

2010

$ 1,016
(126)
890

348

304

289

291

399
—
—

182
1,813

(12)
1,801

$ 2,691

 
(1) Face amount and effective interest rate are as of year-end 2011.

  On November 21, 2011, all balances related to non-recourse debt associated with securitized notes receivable were 
transferred to MVW as part of the spin-off. See Footnote No. 17, "Spin-off" for additional information. The non-recourse debt 
associated with securitized notes receivable, prior to the spin-off, was secured by the related notes receivable.  All of our other 
long-term debt was, and to the extent currently outstanding is, recourse to us but unsecured. Other debt in the preceding table 
includes capital leases, among other items.
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  We are party to a multicurrency revolving credit agreement (the “Credit Facility”) that provides for $1.75 billion of 
aggregate borrowings to support general corporate needs, including working capital, capital expenditures, and letters of credit. 
The Credit Facility expires on June 23, 2016. The availability of the Credit Facility also supports our commercial paper 
program. Borrowings under the Credit Facility bear interest at LIBOR (the London Interbank Offered Rate) plus a spread, 
based on our public debt rating. We also pay quarterly fees on the Credit Facility at a rate also based on our public debt rating. 
While any outstanding commercial paper borrowings and/or borrowings under our Credit Facility generally have short-term 
maturities, we classify the outstanding borrowings as long-term based on our ability and intent to refinance the outstanding 
borrowings on a long-term basis. 

Each of our securitized notes receivable pools (all of which we transferred to MVW on November 21, 2011 in 
conjunction with the spin-off of our timeshare operations and timeshare development business) contained various triggers 
relating to the performance of the underlying notes receivable. If a pool of securitized notes receivable failed to perform within 
the pool’s established parameters (default or delinquency thresholds by deal) transaction provisions effectively redirected the 
monthly excess spread we typically received from that pool (related to the interests we retained), to accelerate the principal 
payments to investors based on the subordination of the different tranches until the performance trigger was cured. As a result 
of performance triggers, a total of $2 million, $6 million, and $17 million in cash of excess spread was used to pay down debt 
during 2011, 2010, and 2009, respectively. 

We show future principal payments (net of unamortized discounts) and unamortized discounts for our debt in the 
following tables:  

Debt Principal Payments (net of unamortized discounts) 
 

($ in millions)
2012
2013
2014
2015
2016
Thereafter
Balance at year-end 2011

Amount
$ 355

409
62

316
629
400

$ 2,171

Unamortized Debt Discounts 
 

($ in millions)
Balance at year-end 2010
Balance at year-end 2011

Amount
$ 16
$ 12

In 2009, we repurchased $122 million principal amount of our Senior Notes in the open market, across multiple series. 
We recorded a gain of $21 million for the debt extinguishment representing the difference between the acquired debt’s purchase 
price of $98 million and its carrying amount of $119 million. The weighted average interest rate on the senior debt that was 
paid down in 2009 was 6.8 percent.

We did not repurchase any of our Senior Notes in 2011 or 2010.

We paid cash for interest, net of amounts capitalized, of $130 million in 2011, $148 million in 2010, and $96 million in 
2009.
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13. SELF-INSURANCE RESERVE FOR LOSSES AND LOSS ADJUSTMENT EXPENSES 
The activity in the reserve for losses and loss adjustment expenses is summarized as follows:

 

($ in millions)
Balance at beginning of year

Less: reinsurance recoverable

Net balance at beginning of year

Incurred related to:

Current year

Prior year

Total incurred

Paid related to:

Current year

Prior year

Total paid

Net balance at end of year

Add: reinsurance recoverable

Balance at end of year

2011

$ 313

(7)

306

117

(9)

108

(32)

(57)

(89)

325

5

$ 330

2010

$ 304

(9)

295

114

(8)

106

(38)

(57)

(95)

306

7

$ 313

The provision for unpaid loss and loss adjustment expenses decreased by $9 million in 2011 and $8 million in 2010 as a 
result of changes in estimates from insured events of the prior years due to changes in underwriting experience and frequency 
and severity trends. Our year-end 2011 self-insurance reserve of $330 million consisted of a current portion of $99 million and 
long-term portion of $231 million. Our year-end 2010 self-insurance reserve of $313 million consisted of a current portion of 
$98 million and long-term portion of $215 million.

14. SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Eight hundred million shares of our Class A Common Stock, with a par value of $.01 per share, and ten million shares of 

preferred stock, without par value, are authorized under our restated certificate of incorporation. As of year-end 2011, of those 
authorized shares 333 million shares of our Class A Common Stock and no shares of our preferred stock were outstanding.

Accumulated other comprehensive loss of $48 million at year-end 2011 consisted of losses totaling $35 million associated 
with currency translation adjustments, losses of $18 million associated with interest rate swap agreement cash flow hedges, 
unrealized losses on available-for-sale securities of $3 million, and reclassification of losses of $8 million. Accumulated other 
comprehensive loss of $2 million at year-end 2010 consisted of losses totaling $4 million associated with currency translation 
adjustments, and gains of $2 million associated with interest rate swap agreement cash flow hedges.

15. CONTINGENCIES

Guarantees

We issue guarantees to certain lenders and hotel owners, primarily to obtain long-term management contracts. The 
guarantees generally have a stated maximum amount of funding and a term of four to ten years. The terms of guarantees to 
lenders generally require us to fund if cash flows from hotel operations are inadequate to cover annual debt service or to repay 
the loan at the end of the term. The terms of the guarantees to hotel owners generally require us to fund if the hotels do not 
attain specified levels of operating profit. Guarantee fundings to lenders and hotel owners are generally recoverable as loans 
repayable to us out of future hotel cash flows and/or proceeds from the sale of hotels. We also enter into project completion 
guarantees with certain lenders in conjunction with hotels that we or our joint venture partners are building.
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We show the maximum potential amount of future fundings for guarantees where we are the primary obligor and the 
carrying amount of the liability for expected future fundings at year-end 2011 in the following table.
 

($ in millions)                                               
Guarantee Type
Debt service
Operating profit
Other

Total guarantees where we are the primary obligor

Maximum Potential
Amount  

of Future Fundings
$ 74

119
17

$ 210

Liability for Expected
Future Fundings

$ 7
48
4

$ 59

   
We included our liability for expected future fundings at year-end 2011 in our Balance Sheet as follows: $9 million in the 

“Other current liabilities” and $50 million in the “Other long-term liabilities.”

Our guarantees listed in the preceding table include $11 million of operating profit guarantees and $16 million of debt 
service guarantees, all of which will not be in effect until either the underlying properties open and we begin to operate the 
properties or certain other events occur.

The guarantees in the preceding table do not include the following:

• $171 million of guarantees related to Senior Living Services lease obligations of $132 million (expiring in 
2018) and lifecare bonds of $39 million (estimated to expire in 2016), for which we are secondarily liable. 
Sunrise Senior Living, Inc. (“Sunrise”) is the primary obligor on both the leases and $6 million of the lifecare 
bonds; Health Care Property Investors, Inc., as successor by merger to CNL Retirement Properties, Inc. 
(“CNL”), is the primary obligor on $32 million of the lifecare bonds, and Five Star Senior Living is the primary 
obligor on the remaining $1 million of lifecare bonds. Before we sold the Senior Living Services business in 
2003, these were our guarantees of obligations of our then consolidated Senior Living Services subsidiaries. 
Sunrise and CNL have indemnified us for any fundings we may be called upon to make under these guarantees. 
While we currently do not expect to fund under the guarantees, Sunrise’s SEC filings suggest that Sunrise’s 
continued ability to meet these guarantee obligations cannot be assured given Sunrise’s financial position and 
limited access to liquidity. In 2011 Sunrise provided us $3 million cash collateral to cover potential exposure 
under the existing lease and bond obligations for 2012 and 2013. In conjunction with our consent of the 
extension in 2011 of certain lease obligations for an additional five-year term until 2018, Sunrise provided us an 
additional $1 million cash collateral and an $85 million letter of credit issued by Key Bank to secure our 
exposure under the lease guarantees for the continuing leases during the extension term and certain other 
obligations of Sunrise. During the extension term, Sunrise agreed to make an annual payment to us with respect 
to the cash flow of the continuing lease facilities, subject to a $1 million annual minimum. 

• Lease obligations, for which we became secondarily liable when we acquired the Renaissance Hotel Group 
N.V. in 1997, consisting of annual rent payments of approximately $6 million and total remaining rent 
payments through the initial term of approximately $45 million. Most of these obligations expire by the end of 
2020. CTF Holdings Ltd. (“CTF”) had originally provided €35 million in cash collateral in the event that we are 
required to fund under such guarantees, approximately $6 million (€5 million) of which remained at year-end 
2011. Our exposure for the remaining rent payments through the initial term will decline to the extent that CTF 
obtains releases from the landlords or these hotels exit the system. Since the time we assumed these guarantees, 
we have not funded any amounts, and we do not expect to fund any amounts under these guarantees in the 
future.

• See Footnote No. 17, "Spin-off" for additional information on the spin-off of our timeshare operations and 
timeshare development business. Prior to the spin-off, we had certain guarantees and commitments outstanding 
related to this business. In conjunction with the spin-off, we became secondarily liable for any payments that 
may be required under  a project completion guarantee, various letters of credit, and several guarantees with a 
total exposure of $41 million, for which MVW has executed documents indemnifying us.  Most of these 
obligations expire in 2012 and 2013, except for one guarantee in the amount of $27 million (35 million SGD) 
that expires in 2021.  We have not funded any amounts under these obligations.  Our liability associated with 
these guarantees had a carrying value of $2 million at year-end 2011.

• A project completion guarantee that we provided to another lender for a joint venture project with an estimated 
aggregate total cost of $498 million (Canadian $508 million). The associated joint venture will satisfy payments 
for cost overruns for this project through contributions from the partners or from borrowings, and we are liable 
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on a several basis with our partners in an amount equal to our 20 percent pro rata ownership in the joint venture. 
In 2010, our partners executed documents indemnifying us for any payments that may be required for this 
guarantee obligation. Our liability associated with this project completion guarantee had a carrying value of $3 
million at year-end 2011.

In addition to the guarantees described in the preceding paragraphs, in conjunction with financing obtained for specific 
projects or properties owned by joint ventures in which we are a party, we may provide industry standard indemnifications to 
the lender for loss, liability, or damage occurring as a result of the actions of the other joint venture owner or our own actions.

Commitments and Letters of Credit

In addition to the guarantees noted in the preceding paragraphs, as of year-end 2011, we had the following commitments 
outstanding:

• A commitment to invest up to $7 million of equity for noncontrolling interests in partnerships that plan to 
purchase North American full-service and limited-service properties, or purchase or develop hotel-anchored 
mixed-use real estate projects. We expect to fund this commitment within three years.

• A commitment to invest up to $24 million of equity for noncontrolling interests in partnerships that plan to 
develop limited-service properties.  We expect to fund $20 million within three years.  We do not expect to fund 
$4 million of this commitment.

• A commitment, with no expiration date, to invest up to $26 million (€20 million) in a joint venture in which we 
are a partner. We do not expect to fund under this commitment.

• A commitment, with no expiration date, to invest up to $11 million in a joint venture for development of a new 
property that we expect to fund within two years, as follows: $7 million in 2012 and $4 million in 2013.

• A commitment, with no expiration date, to invest up to $7 million in a joint venture that we do not expect to 
fund.

•  $5 million of loan commitments that we have extended to owners of lodging properties. We do not expect to 
fund these commitments of which $4 million will expire within three years and $1 million will expire after five 
years.

• A $1 million commitment, with no expiration date, to a hotel real estate investment trust in which we have an 
ownership interest. We do not expect to fund this commitment. The commitment is pledged as collateral for 
certain trust investments.

• We have a right and under certain circumstances an obligation to acquire our joint venture partner’s remaining 
50 percent interest in two joint ventures over the next nine years at a price based on the performance of the 
ventures. We made a $12 million (€9 million) deposit in conjunction with this contingent obligation in 2011 and 
expect to make the remaining deposit of €6 million in fiscal year 2012, after certain conditions are met. The 
deposits are refundable to the extent we do not acquire our joint venture partner’s remaining interests.

• We have a right and under certain circumstances an obligation to acquire the landlord’s interest in the real estate 
property and attached assets of a hotel that we lease for approximately $58 million (€45 million) during the next 
three years.

• Various commitments for the purchase of information technology hardware, software, and maintenance services 
in the normal course of business totaling $95 million. We expect to fund these commitments within three years 
as follows: $47 million in 2012, $46 million in 2013, and $2 million in 2014. 

At year-end 2011, we had $65 million of letters of credit outstanding ($64 million outside the Credit Facility and $1 
million under our Credit Facility), the majority of which related to our self-insurance programs.  Surety bonds issued as of year-
end 2011, totaled $108 million, the majority of which federal, state and local governments requested in connection with our 
lodging operations and self-insurance programs.

16. BUSINESS SEGMENTS

We are a diversified hospitality company with operations in four business segments:

• North American Full-Service Lodging, which includes the Marriott Hotels & Resorts, Marriott Conference 
Centers, JW Marriott, Renaissance Hotels, Renaissance ClubSport, and Autograph Collection properties located 
in the United States and Canada;
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• North American Limited-Service Lodging, which includes the Courtyard, Fairfield Inn & Suites, SpringHill 
Suites, Residence Inn, TownePlace Suites, and Marriott ExecuStay properties located in the United States and 
Canada;

• International Lodging, which includes the Marriott Hotels & Resorts, JW Marriott, Renaissance Hotels, 
Autograph Collection, Courtyard, AC Hotels by Marriott, Fairfield Inn & Suites, Residence Inn, and Marriott 
Executive Apartments properties located outside the United States and Canada; and

• Luxury Lodging, which includes The Ritz-Carlton, Bulgari Hotels & Resorts, and EDITION properties 
worldwide (together with residential properties associated with some Ritz-Carlton hotels).

In addition, prior to the spin-off, our former Timeshare segment consisted of the timeshare operations and timeshare 
development business that we transferred to MVW in conjunction with the spin-off. Our former Timeshare segment's historical 
financial results for periods prior to the spin-off continue to be included in Marriott's historical financial results as a component 
of continuing operations as reflected in the tables that follow. See Footnote No. 17, "Spin-off" for additional information 
regarding the spin-off.  

In 2011, we changed the management reporting structure for properties located in Hawaii. In conjunction with that 
change, we now report revenues, financial results, assets, and liabilities for properties located in Hawaii in our North American 
segments rather than in our International segment. In addition, we recognized in our Timeshare segment some management fees 
we previously recognized in our International segment. For comparability, we have reclassified prior year segment revenues, 
segment financial results, and segment assets to reflect these changes. These reclassifications only affect our segment reporting, 
and do not change our total consolidated revenue, operating income, or net income or our total segment revenues or total 
segment financial results.

We evaluate the performance of our segments based primarily on the results of the segment without allocating corporate 
expenses, income taxes, or indirect general, administrative, and other expenses. With the exception of our former Timeshare 
segment, we do not allocate interest income or interest expense to our segments.  We allocate gains and losses, equity in 
earnings or losses from our joint ventures, divisional general, administrative, and other expenses, and income or losses 
attributable to noncontrolling interests to each of our segments. Prior to the spin-off date, we included interest income and 
interest expense associated with our former Timeshare segment notes in our Timeshare segment results because financing sales 
and securitization transactions were an integral part of that segment’s business. “Other unallocated corporate” represents that 
portion of our revenues, general, administrative, and other expenses, equity in earnings or losses, and other gains or losses that 
we do not allocate to our segments.  "Other unallocated corporate" includes license fees we receive from our credit cards and 
following the spin-off, also includes license fees associated with the timeshare brands.

We aggregate the brands presented within our segments considering their similar economic characteristics, types of 
customers, distribution channels, regulatory business environments  and operations within each segment and our organizational 
and management reporting structure.

Revenues 

 

($ in millions)

North American Full-Service Segment

North American Limited-Service Segment

International Segment

Luxury Segment

Former Timeshare Segment

Total segment revenues

Other unallocated corporate

2011

$ 5,450

2,358

1,278

1,673

1,438

12,197

120

$ 12,317

2010

$ 5,159

2,150

1,188

1,563

1,551

11,611

80

$ 11,691

2009

$ 4,892

1,986

1,096

1,413

1,444

10,831

77

$ 10,908
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Net Income (Loss) Attributable to Marriott 

 

($ in millions)
North American Full-Service Segment
North American Limited-Service Segment
International Segment
Luxury Segment
Former Timeshare Segment

Total segment financial results
Other unallocated corporate
Interest expense and interest income(1)

Income taxes(2)

2011
$ 351

382
175
74

(217)
765

(302)
(107)
(158)

$ 198

2010
$ 317

298
165
77

126
983

(326)
(106)
(93)

$ 458

2009
$ 268

265
128
17

(674)
4

(318)
(93)
61

$ (346)

 
(1) Of the $164 million of interest expense shown on the Income Statement for year-end 2011 we allocated $43 million, respectively, to our former 

Timeshare Segment. Of the $180 million of interest expense shown on the Income Statement for year-end 2010 we allocated $55 million to our 
former Timeshare segment.

(2) The $61 million of income tax benefits for year-end 2009 included our benefit for income taxes of $65 million as shown in the Income Statements 
and taxes attributable to noncontrolling interests of $4 million.

Net Losses Attributable to Noncontrolling Interests
 

($ in millions)
Former Timeshare Segment

Provision for income taxes

2011

—

—

$ —

2010

—

—

$ —

2009

11

(4)

$ 7

Equity in Losses of Equity Method Investees

($ in millions)

North American Full-Service Segment

North American Limited-Service Segment

International Segment

Luxury Segment

Former Timeshare Segment

Total segment equity in losses

Other unallocated corporate

2011

$ 1

(2)

(4)

(10)

—

(15)

2

$ (13)

2010

$ 2

(13)

(7)

(2)

(8)

(28)

10

$ (18)

2009

$ 1

(9)

(11)

(32)

(12)

(63)

(3)

$ (66)

Depreciation and Amortization
 

($ in millions)
North American Full-Service Segment

North American Limited-Service Segment

International Segment

Luxury Segment

Former Timeshare Segment

Total segment depreciation and amortization
Other unallocated corporate

2011

$ 28

22

22

19

28
119

49

$ 168

2010

$ 31

19

24

19

36
129

49

$ 178

2009

$ 33

18

25

17

42
135

50

$ 185
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Assets

($ in millions)

North American Full-Service Segment

North American Limited-Service Segment

International Segment

Luxury Segment

Former Timeshare Segment

Total segment assets

Other unallocated corporate

At Year-End
2011

$ 1,241

497

1,026

931

—

3,695

2,215

$ 5,910

At Year-End
2010

$ 1,221

465

822

871

3,310

6,689

2,294

$ 8,983

Equity Method Investments 

($ in millions)

North American Full-Service Segment

North American Limited-Service Segment

International Segment

Luxury Segment

Former Timeshare Segment

Total segment equity method investments

Other unallocated corporate

At Year-End
2011

$ 13

84

92

38

—

227

7

$ 234

At Year-End
2010

$ 14

87

38

44

1

184

6

$ 190

Goodwill

($ in millions)
Year-end 2009 balance:

Goodwill

Accumulated impairment losses

Year-end 2010 balance:

Goodwill

Accumulated impairment losses

Year-end 2011 balance:

Goodwill

Accumulated impairment losses

North American
Full-Service

Segment

$ 335

—

$ 335

$ 335

—

$ 335

$ 335

—

$ 335

North American
Limited-Service

Segment

$ 126

(54)

$ 72

$ 126

(54)

$ 72

$ 126

(54)

$ 72

International
Segment

$ 298

—

$ 298

$ 298

—

$ 298

$ 298

—

$ 298

Luxury
Segment

$ 170

—

$ 170

$ 170

—

$ 170

$ 170

—

$ 170

Total
Goodwill

$ 929

(54)

$ 875

$ 929

(54)

$ 875

$ 929

(54)

$ 875
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Capital Expenditures

($ in millions)
North American Full-Service Segment

North American Limited-Service Segment

International Segment

Luxury Segment

Former Timeshare Segment

Total segment capital expenditures

Other unallocated corporate

2011

$ 8

11

52

40

13

124

59

$ 183

2010

$ 7

13

35

168

24

247

60

$ 307

2009

$ 18

9

33

1

28

89

58

$ 147

Segment expenses include selling expenses directly related to the operations of the businesses, aggregating $354 million 
in 2011, $419 million in 2010, and $440 million in 2009. Approximately 82 percent for 2011 (prior to the spin-off date), 85 
percent for 2010 and 86 percent for 2009 of the selling expenses are related to our former Timeshare segment.

Our Financial Statements include the following related to operations located outside the United States (which are 
predominately related to our International lodging segment):

1. Revenues of $1,945 million in 2011, $1,841 million in 2010, and $1,700 million in 2009;
2. Segment financial results of $172 million in 2011, segment financial results of $252 million in 2010, and segment 

financial losses of $26 million in 2009. 2011 segment financial results consisted of segment income of $76 
million from Asia, $44 million from the United Kingdom and Ireland, $42 million from Continental Europe, $19 
million from the Middle East and Africa, and $3 million from Australia, partially offset by a segment loss of $12 
million from the Americas (excluding the United States). Segment results for 2011 included timeshare-strategy 
impairment charges for our former Timeshare segment, totaling $86 million associated with the Americas 
(excluding the United States) and Europe of $84 million and $2 million, respectively. Segment losses for 2009 
reflected timeshare-strategy impairment charges and restructuring costs, both for our former Timeshare segment, 
totaling $176 million associated with the Americas (excluding the United States), Europe, Asia and the United 
Kingdom and Ireland of $100 million, $47 million, $22 million, and $7 million, respectively; and

3. Fixed assets of $402 million in 2011 and $350 million in 2010. At year-end 2011 and year-end 2010, fixed assets 
located outside the United States are included within the “Property and equipment” caption in our Balance Sheets.

17. SPIN-OFF

On November 21, 2011, we completed a spin-off of our timeshare operations and timeshare development business 
through a special tax-free dividend to our shareholders of all of the issued and outstanding common stock of our wholly owned 
subsidiary MVW. In connection with the spin-off, we entered into several agreements with MVW, and, in some cases, certain 
of its subsidiaries, that govern our post-spin-off relationship with MVW, including a Separation and Distribution Agreement, 
two License Agreements for the use of Marriott and Ritz-Carlton marks and intellectual property, an Employee Benefits and 
Other Employment Matters Allocation Agreement, a Tax Sharing and indemnification Agreement, a Marriott Rewards 
Affiliation Agreement, and a Non-Competition Agreement. Under license agreements with us, MVW is both the exclusive 
developer and operator of timeshare, fractional, and related products under the Marriott brand and the exclusive developer of 
fractional and related products under The Ritz-Carlton brand. 

MVW filed a Form 10 registration statement with the SEC which, as amended, describes the spin-off and was declared 
effective on October 27, 2011. As a result of the spin-off, MVW is an independent company whose common shares are listed 
on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol "VAC."  On the spin-off date, Marriott shareholders of record as of the 
close of business on November 10, 2011 received one share of MVW common stock for every ten shares of Marriott common 
stock.  Fractional shares of MVW common stock to which Marriott shareholders of record would have otherwise been entitled 
were aggregated and sold in the open market, and shareholders received cash payments in lieu of those fractional shares. The 
distribution of shares of MVW common stock did not result in the recognition, for U.S. federal income tax purposes, of 
income, gain or loss by us or our shareholders, except, in the case of our shareholders, for cash received in lieu of fractional 
shares. 
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As of the spin-off date, Marriott does not beneficially own any shares of MVW common stock and does not consolidate 
MVW's financial results for periods after the spin-off date as part of its financial reporting.  However, because of Marriott's 
significant continuing involvement in MVW future operations (by virtue of the license and other agreements between Marriott 
and MVW), our former Timeshare segment's historical financial results for periods prior to the spin-off date continue to be 
included in Marriott's historical financial results as a component of continuing operations.

Under the license agreements we receive license fees consisting of a fixed annual fee of $50 million plus two percent of 
the gross sales price paid to MVW for initial developer sales of interests in vacation ownership units and residential real estate 
units and one percent of the gross sales price paid to MVW for resales of interests in vacation ownership units and residential 
real estate units, in each case that are identified with or use the Marriott or Ritz-Carlton marks.
The license fee also includes a periodic inflation adjustment. 

Our shareholders' equity decreased by $1,162 million as a result of the spin-off of MVW. We show the components of the 
decrease, which was primarily noncash and principally comprised of the net book value of the net assets that we contributed to 
MVW in connection with the spin-off, in the following table:

($ in millions)
Cash and equivalents
Accounts and notes receivable
Inventory
Other current assets
Property and equipment and other
Loans to timeshare owners

Other current liabilities
Current portion of long-term debt
Long-term debt
Other long-term liabilities
SPIN-OFF OF MVW

2011
$ 52

247
982
293
284
987

(533)
(122)
(773)
(255)

$ 1,162

For 2011, we recognized $34 million of transaction-related expenses associated with the spin-off. While MVW did not 
complete its typical notes securitization in 2011 prior to the spin-off, we received net proceeds of approximately $122 million 
prior to the spin-off under a $300 million secured warehouse credit facility that MVW put in place during the third quarter of 
2011 to provide short-term financing for receivables originated in connection with the sale of timeshare interests. Also, on 
October 26, 2011, MVW US Holdings, Inc., a wholly owned subsidiary of MVW, issued $40 million of its cumulative 
redeemable Series A preferred stock ("Preferred Stock") to Marriott as part of Marriott's internal reorganization completed in 
preparation for the spin-off.  On October 28, 2011, Marriott sold all of the Preferred Stock to third-party investors, resulting in 
$38 million in net proceeds to Marriott, and when combined with the cash under the MVW warehouse facility, Marriott 
received a total of approximately $160 million in a cash distribution prior to the completion of the spin-off. This had no impact 
to Marriott's earnings. 

18. TIMESHARE STRATEGY-IMPAIRMENT CHARGES

2011 Charges

Prior to the spin-off of our Timeshare segment, management assessed the Timeshare segment's intended use of excess 
undeveloped land and built inventory and the then current market conditions for those assets. On September 8, 2011, 
management approved a plan for the Timeshare segment to accelerate cash flow through the monetization of certain excess 
undeveloped land in the U.S., Mexico, and the Bahamas over the next 18 to 24 months and to accelerate sales of excess built 
luxury fractional and residential inventory over the next three years.  As a result, in accordance with the guidance for 
accounting for the impairment or disposal of long-lived assets, because the nominal cash flows from the planned land sales and 
the estimated fair values of the land and excess built luxury inventory were less than their respective carrying values, we 
recorded a pre-tax non-cash impairment charge of $324 million ($234 million after-tax) in the 2011 third quarter under the 
“Timeshare strategy-impairment charges” caption of our Income Statement. 

We estimated the fair value of the land by using recent comparable sales data for the land parcels, which we determined 
were Level 3 inputs.  We estimated the fair value of the excess built luxury fractional and residential inventory using cash flow 
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projections discounted at risk premiums commensurate with the market conditions of the related projects. We used Level 3 
inputs for these discounted cash flow analyses and our assumptions included: growth rate and sales pace projections, additional 
sales incentives such as pricing discounts, and marketing and sales cost estimates.

2009 Charges

In response to the difficult business conditions that the Timeshare segment’s timeshare, luxury residential, and luxury 
fractional real estate development businesses experienced, we evaluated our entire Timeshare portfolio in the 2009 third 
quarter. In order to adjust the business strategy to reflect current market conditions at that time, we approved plans for our 
Timeshare segment to take the following actions: (1) for our luxury residential projects, reduce prices, convert certain proposed 
projects to other uses, sell some undeveloped land, and not pursue further Marriott-funded residential development projects; 
(2) reduce prices for existing luxury fractional units; (3) continue short-term promotions for our U.S. timeshare business and 
defer the introduction of new projects and development phases; and (4) for our European timeshare and fractional resorts, 
continue promotional pricing and marketing incentives and not pursue further development. We designed these plans, which 
primarily related to luxury residential and fractional resorts, to stimulate sales, accelerate cash flow, and reduce investment 
spending.

Composition of 2011 and 2009 Charges and Other Information

As a result of the actions (described in preceding paragraphs) in 2011 and 2009, we recorded the charges shown in the 
following table in our Income Statements, with charges that impacted operating income under the “Timeshare strategy-
impairment charges” caption and charges that impacted non-operating income under the “Timeshare strategy-impairment 
charges (non-operating)” caption:

($ in millions)

Operating Income Impairment Charges

Inventory impairment

Property and equipment impairment

Other impairments

Total operating income charge

Non-Operating Income Impairment Charges

Joint venture impairment

Loan impairment

Funding liability

Total non-operating income charge

Total

Total (after-tax)

Amount

2011

$ 256

68

—

$ 324

—

—

—

—

$ 324

$ 234

2009

$ 529

64

21

$ 614

71

40

27

138

$ 752

$ 502

Grouped by product type and/or geographic location, the 2011 impairment charges consisted of $203 million associated 
with undeveloped land parcels in North America associated with five timeshare properties, $113 million associated with nine 
North American luxury fractional and mixed use properties, $2 million related to one project in our European timeshare 
business, and $6 million of software previously under development that would not be completed and used under the new 
strategy. The 2009 impairment charges consisted of $295 million associated with five luxury residential projects, $299 million 
associated with nine North American luxury fractional projects, $93 million related to one North American timeshare project, 
$51 million related to the four projects in our European timeshare and fractional business, and $14 million associated with two 
Asia Pacific timeshare resorts. 

Additionally, upon the approval of the plan in 2011 to dispose of certain undeveloped land parcels, we reclassified $57 
million of these land parcels previously in our development plans from inventory to property and equipment. We also reviewed 
the remainder of our 2011 Timeshare segment inventory assets prior to the spin-off date and determined that there were no 
other adjustments needed to their carrying values.

Both the 2011 and 2009 impairment charges were non-cash, other than the following 2009 charges: $27 million of 
charges associated with then projected mezzanine loan fundings and $21 million of charges for purchase commitments. Except 
for the $40 million loan impairment and the $27 million funding liability recorded in 2009, we allocated the remaining 2009 
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pretax charges totaling $685 million and the 2011 pretax charges totaling $324 million to our Timeshare segment.

For additional information on the 2009 impairment charges, including how we determined these impairments and the 
inputs we used in calculating fair value, please see Footnote No. 20, “Timeshare Strategy-Impairment Charges,” in the Notes to 
the Financial Statements of our 2009 Form 10-K.

In 2011 and 2010, we reversed (based on facts and circumstances surrounding the project, including progress on certain 
construction-related legal claims and potential funding of certain costs by one of our partners) $3 million and $11 million, 
respectively, of the $27 million funding liability we originally recorded in 2009. We recorded the reversals of the funding 
liability in the equity in (losses) earnings line in our Income Statements, but did not allocate it to any of our segments. We 
transferred the remaining balance of the funding liability on the spin-off date to MVW as part of the spin-off.

19. RESTRUCTURING COSTS AND OTHER CHARGES
During the latter part of 2008, we experienced a significant decline in demand for hotel rooms worldwide based in part on 

the failures and near failures of a number of large financial service companies in the fourth quarter of 2008 and the dramatic 
downturn in the economy. Our capital-intensive Timeshare business was also hurt globally by the downturn in market 
conditions and particularly the significant deterioration in the credit markets. These declines resulted in reduced management 
and franchise fees, cancellation of development projects, reduced timeshare contract sales, and anticipated losses under 
guarantees and loans. In the fourth quarter of 2008, we put company-wide cost-saving measures in place in response to these 
declines, with individual company segments and corporate departments implementing further cost-saving measures. Upper-
level management responsible for the former Timeshare segment, hotel operations, development, and above-property level 
management of the various corporate departments and brand teams individually led these decentralized management initiatives.

As part of the restructuring actions we began in 2008, we initiated further cost-saving measures in 2009 associated with 
our former Timeshare segment, hotel development, and above-property level management that resulted in additional 
restructuring costs of $51 million in 2009. We completed this restructuring in 2009 and have not incurred additional expenses 
in connection with these initiatives. We also recorded $162 million of other charges in 2009. The total cumulative restructuring 
costs incurred through the end of the restructuring in 2009 totaled $106 million. For information on the 2009 restructuring costs 
and other charges, see Footnote No. 21, “Restructuring Costs and Other Charges,” in the Notes to the Financial Statements of 
our 2009 Form 10-K.  

20. VARIABLE INTEREST ENTITIES

In accordance with the applicable accounting guidance for the consolidation of variable interest entities, we analyze our 
variable interests, including loans, guarantees, and equity investments, to determine if an entity in which we have a variable 
interest is a variable interest entity. Our analysis includes both quantitative and qualitative reviews. We base our quantitative 
analysis on the forecasted cash flows of the entity, and our qualitative analysis on our review of the design of the entity, its 
organizational structure including decision-making ability, and relevant financial agreements. We also use our qualitative 
analyses to determine if we must consolidate a variable interest entity as its primary beneficiary.

Variable interest entities related to our timeshare note securitizations

Prior to the spin-off date, we periodically securitized, without recourse, through special purpose entities, notes receivable 
originated by our Timeshare segment in connection with the sale of timeshare interval and fractional products. These 
securitizations provided funding for us and transferred the economic risks and substantially all the benefits of the loans to third 
parties. In a securitization, various classes of debt securities that the special purpose entities issued were generally 
collateralized by a single tranche of transferred assets, which consisted of timeshare notes receivable. We serviced the notes 
receivable. With each securitization, we retained a portion of the securities, subordinated tranches, interest-only strips, 
subordinated interests in accrued interest and fees on the securitized receivables or, in some cases, overcollateralization and 
cash reserve accounts. As a result of our involvement with these entities in 2011 prior to the spin-off date, we recognized $116 
million of interest income, partially offset by $39 million of interest expense to investors and $3 million in debt issuance cost 
amortization. Similarly for 2010, we recognized $147 million of interest income, partially offset by $51 million of interest 
expense to investors, and $4 million in debt issuance cost amortization.
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We show our cash flows to and from the timeshare notes securitization variable interest entities in the following table for 
2011 prior to the spin-off date and for 2010: 
 

($ in millions)
Cash inflows:
Proceeds from securitization
Principal receipts
Interest receipts
Reserve release

Total
Cash outflows:
Principal to investors
Repurchases
Interest to investors

Total
Net Cash Flows

2011
 
$ 122

188
112
—

422
 

(185)
(64)
(39)

(288)
$ 134

2010
 
$ 215

231
142

3

591
 

(230)
(93)
(53)

(376)
$ 215

Under the terms of our timeshare note securitizations, we had the right at our option to repurchase defaulted mortgage 
notes at the outstanding principal balance. The transaction documents typically limited such repurchases to 10 to 20 percent of 
the transaction’s initial mortgage balance. We made voluntary repurchases of defaulted notes of $43 million during 2011, $68 
million during 2010, and $81 million during 2009. We also made voluntary repurchases of $21 million and $25 million of other 
non-defaulted notes during 2011 and 2010, respectively.

Other variable interest entities

In conjunction with the transaction with CTF described more fully in Footnote No. 8, “Acquisitions and Dispositions,” of 
our Annual Report on Form 10-K for 2007, under the caption “2005 Acquisitions,” we manage hotels on behalf of tenant 
entities 100 percent owned by CTF, which lease the hotels from third-party owners. Due to certain provisions in the 
management agreements, we account for these contracts as operating leases. At the end of 2011, we managed eight hotels on 
behalf of three tenant entities. The entities have minimal equity and minimal assets comprised of hotel working capital and 
furniture, fixtures, and equipment. In conjunction with the 2005 transaction, CTF had placed money in a trust account to cover 
cash flow shortfalls and to meet rent payments. In turn, we released CTF from its guarantees fully in connection with five of 
these properties and partially in connection with the other three properties. As of year-end 2011, the trust account had been 
fully depleted. The tenant entities are variable interest entities because the holder of the equity investment at risk, CTF, lacks 
the ability through voting rights to make key decisions about the entities’ activities that have a significant effect on the success 
of the entities. We do not consolidate the entities because we do not have: (1) the power to direct the activities that most 
significantly impact the entities' economic performance or (2) the obligation to absorb losses of the entities or the right to 
receive benefits from the entities that could potentially be significant. We are liable for rent payments for five of the eight 
hotels if there are cash flow shortfalls. Future minimum lease payments through the end of the lease term for these hotels 
totaled approximately $20 million at year-end 2011. In addition, as of year-end 2011 we are liable for rent payments of up to an 
aggregate cap of $11 million for the three other hotels if there are cash flow shortfalls. Our maximum exposure to loss is 
limited to the rent payments and certain other tenant obligations under the lease, for which we are secondarily liable.
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21. LEASES 

We have summarized our future obligations under operating leases at year-end 2011, below:
 

($ in millions)
Fiscal Year

2012

2013

2014

2015

2016

Thereafter

Total minimum lease payments where we are the primary obligor

Minimum Lease
Payments

$ 136

125

115

115

100

734

$ 1,325

Most leases have initial terms of up to 20 years and contain one or more renewal options, generally for five- or 10-year 
periods. These leases provide for minimum rentals and additional rentals based on our operations of the leased property. The 
total minimum lease payments above include $266 million, representing obligations of consolidated subsidiaries that are non-
recourse to us.

The foregoing table does not reflect the following $31 million in aggregate minimum lease payments relating to the CTF 
leases further discussed in Footnote No. 20, “Variable Interest Entities,” $12 million in 2012; $11 million in 2013; and $8 
million in 2014.

The following table details the composition of rent expense associated with operating leases for the last three years:
 

($ in millions)
Minimum rentals

Additional rentals

2011

$ 240

66

$ 306

2010

$ 252

67

$ 319

2009

$ 262

63

$ 325

We have summarized our future obligations under capital leases at year-end 2011 in the following table:
 

($ in millions)
Fiscal Year
2012

2013

2014

2015

2016

Thereafter

Total minimum lease payments

Less: amount representing interest

Present value of net minimum lease payments

Minimum Lease
Payments

$ 3

3

59

1

1

4

71

(7)

$ 64

The “Long-term debt” caption in the accompanying Balance Sheets includes $64 million for year-end 2011 and $6 
million for year-end 2010 that represents the present value of net minimum lease payments associated with capital leases.

22. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Equity Method Investments

We have equity method investments in entities that own properties for which we provide management and/or franchise 
services and receive fees. In addition, in some cases we provide loans, preferred equity or guarantees to these entities. We 
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generally own between 10 and 49 percent of these equity method investments. Undistributed earnings attributable to our equity 
method investments represented approximately $4 million of our consolidated retained earnings at year-end 2011.

The following tables present financial data resulting from transactions with these related parties:

Income Statement Data
 

($ in millions)
Base management fees

Franchise fees

Incentive management fees

Cost reimbursements

Owned, leased, corporate housing, and other

Total revenue

General, administrative, and other

Reimbursed costs

Gains and other income

Interest expense-capitalized

Interest income

Equity in (losses) earnings

Timeshare strategy-impairment charges (non-operating)

Provision for income taxes

2011

$ 37

—

—

383

8

$ 428

$ (5)

(383)

4

2

3

(13)

—

—

2010

$ 35

—

3

328

4

$ 370

$ (1)

(328)

6

5

3

(18)

—

—

2009

$ 44

—

2

321

—

$ 367

$ (1)

(321)

6

4

8

(66)

(138)

—

Balance Sheet Data
 

($ in millions)
Current assets-accounts and notes receivable

Contract acquisition costs and other

Equity and cost method investments

Notes receivable

Deferred taxes, net asset

Other

Current liabilities:

Other

Other long-term liabilities

At Year-End 2011

$ 12

28

234

2

16

13

(6)

(30)

At Year-End 2010

$ 9

30

190

2

22

—

(25)

(34)

Summarized information for the entities in which we have equity method investments is as follows:

Income Statement Data
 

($ in millions)
Sales

Net (loss) income

2011

$ 1,215

$ (39)

2010

$ 914

$ (77)

2009

$ 850

$ (241)

Balance Sheet Summary
 

($ in millions)
Assets (primarily comprised of hotel real estate managed by us)

Liabilities

At Year-End 2011

$ 3,159

$ 2,532

At Year-End 2010

$ 3,186

$ 2,446
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23. RELATIONSHIP WITH MAJOR CUSTOMER
At year-end 2011 and 2010, Host Hotels & Resorts, Inc., formerly known as Host Marriott Corporation, and its affiliates 

(“Host”) owned or leased 127 and 146 lodging properties that we operated under long-term agreements, respectively. We 
recognized the following revenues (which are included in our North American Full-Service, North American Limited-Service, 
Luxury, and International segments) from lodging properties owned or leased over the last three years: $2,207 million in 2011, 
$2,036 million in 2010, and $2,096 million in 2009.

Host is also a partner in certain unconsolidated partnerships that own lodging properties that we operate under long-term 
agreements. As of year-end 2011 and 2010, Host was affiliated with five such properties. We recognized the following revenues 
(which are included in our North American Full-Service, Luxury, and International segments) from lodging properties 
associated with Host partnerships over the last three years: $106 million in 2011, $112 million in 2010, and $104 million in 
2009.
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SHAREHOLDER RETURN PERFORMANCE GRAPH - UNAUDITED

The following graph compares the performance of the Company’s Class A Common Stock from December 29, 2006 to 
the end of fiscal year 2011 with the performance of the Standard & Poor’s Corporation Composite 500 Index and the Standard 
& Poor’s Hotels, Resorts & Cruise Lines Index. The graph assumes an initial investment of $100 on December 29, 2006, and 
reinvestment of dividends. As discussed in more detail in Footnote No. 17, "Spin-off" of the Notes to our Financial Statements 
in this report, on November 21, 2011 we completed a spin-off of our timeshare operations and timeshare development business 
through a special tax-free dividend to our shareholders of all of the issued and outstanding common stock of our wholly owned 
subsidiary Marriott Vacations Worldwide Corporation (“MVW”). As of the spin-off date, Marriott no longer beneficially owns 
any shares of MVW common stock. In conjunction with the spin-off, our shareholders received one share of MVW common 
stock for every ten shares of our common stock that were held on the record date. The effect of the spin-off is reflected in the 
cumulative total return of our common stock as a reinvested dividend.

Fiscal Year Ended
Marriott International, Inc.
S&P 500 Hotels, Resorts, & Cruise Lines Index
S&P 500 Index

12/29/06
$ 100.00

100.00
100.00

12/28/07
$ 71.98

87.51
106.22

1/2/09
$ 42.90

48.55
68.58

1/1/10
$ 59.23

70.81
84.05

12/31/10
$ 89.60

107.51
95.18

12/30/11
$ 66.84

85.42
96.11

NOTE: At the end of fiscal year 2011, the S&P 500 Hotels, Resorts & Cruise Lines Index consisted of Carnival Corporation, Starwood Hotels & Resorts 
Worldwide Inc., the Company, and Wyndham Worldwide Corporation and is consistent with the index as of the end of the 2010 fiscal year.
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SUPPLEMENTARY DATA
QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA – UNAUDITED

 

($ in millions, except per share
data)

 
Revenues

Operating income (loss)

Net income (loss)

Diluted earnings (losses) per share

Fiscal Year 2011 (1),(2)

First
Quarter

$ 2,778

$ 191

$ 101
$ 0.26

Second
Quarter

$ 2,972

$ 232

$ 135
$ 0.37

Third
Quarter

$ 2,874

$ (144)

$ (179)
$ (0.52)

Fourth
Quarter

$ 3,693

$ 247

$ 141
$ 0.41

Fiscal
Year

$ 12,317

$ 526

$ 198
$ 0.55

 

($ in millions, except per share
data)

 
Revenues

Operating income

Net income

Diluted earnings per share

Fiscal Year 2010 (1)

First
Quarter

$ 2,630

$ 180

$ 83
$ 0.22

Second
Quarter

$ 2,771

$ 226

$ 119
$ 0.31

Third
Quarter

$ 2,648

$ 167

$ 83
$ 0.22

Fourth
Quarter

$ 3,642

$ 122

$ 173
$ 0.46

Fiscal
Year

$ 11,691

$ 695

$ 458
$ 1.21

 
(1) The quarters consisted of 12 weeks, except for the fourth quarters of 2011 and 2010, which consisted of 16 weeks.
(2) The sum of the earnings per share for the four quarters differs from annual earnings per share due to the required method of computing the weighted 

average shares in interim periods.



95

SELECTED HISTORICAL FINANCIAL DATA - UNAUDITED
The following table presents a summary of selected historical financial data for the Company derived from our financial statements as of and for our last ten fiscal years.

Since the information in this table is only a summary and does not provide all of the information contained in our financial statements, including the related notes, you should read 
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and our Financial Statements in our Annual Report for each respective year for more detailed 
information including, among other items, restructuring costs and other charges incurred in 2008 and 2009, timeshare strategy - impairment charges incurred in 2009 and 2011, and the 
spin-off of the timeshare operations and timeshare development business in 2011. For periods prior to the spin-off date, the former Timeshare segment continues to be included in Marriott's 
historical financial results as a component of continuing operations because of Marriott's significant continuing involvement in MVW future operations.
 

 
($ in millions, except per share data)
Income Statement Data:

Revenues (2)

Operating income (loss) (2)

Income (loss) from continuing operations attributable to Marriott
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle (3)

Discontinued operations (4)

Net income (loss) attributable to Marriott
Per Share Data:

Diluted earnings (losses) per share from continuing operations attributable to 
Marriott shareholders (7)

Diluted losses per share from cumulative effect of accounting change (7)

Diluted earnings (losses) per share from discontinued operations attributable to 
Marriott shareholders (7)

Diluted earnings (losses) per share attributable to Marriott shareholders (7)

Cash dividends declared per share (7)

Balance Sheet Data (at year-end):
Total assets
Long-term debt
 Shareholders’ equity

Other Data:
Base management fees
Franchise fees
Incentive management fees

Total fees
Fee Revenue-Source:

North America (5)

Total Outside North America
Total fees

Fiscal Year (1)

2011

$ 12,317
$ 526
$ 198

—
—

$ 198

$ 0.55
—

—
0.55

0.3875

$ 5,910
1,816
(781)

$ 602
506
195

$ 1,303

$ 970
333

$ 1,303

2010

$ 11,691
$ 695
$ 458

—
—

$ 458

$ 1.21
—

—
1.21

0.2075

$ 8,983
2,691
1,585

$ 562
441
182

$ 1,185

$ 878
307

$ 1,185

2009

$ 10,908
$ (152)
$ (346)

—
—

$ (346)

$ (0.97)
—

—
(0.97)

0.0866

$ 7,933
2,234
1,142

$ 530
400
154

$ 1,084

$ 806
278

$ 1,084

2008

$ 12,879
$ 765
$ 359

—
3

$ 362

$ 0.97
—

0.01
0.98

0.3339

$ 8,903
2,975
1,380

$ 635
451
311

$ 1,397

$ 1,038
359

$ 1,397

2007

$ 12,990
$ 1,183
$ 697

—
(1)

$ 696

$ 1.73
—

—
1.73

0.2844

$ 8,942
2,790
1,429

$ 620
439
369

$ 1,428

$ 1,115
313

$ 1,428

2006

$ 11,995
$ 1,089
$ 712

(109)
5

$ 608

$ 1.64
(0.25)

0.01
1.40

0.2374

$ 8,588
1,818
2,618

$ 553
390
281

$ 1,224

$ 955
269

$ 1,224

2005

$ 11,129
$ 671
$ 543

—
126

$ 669

$ 1.16
—

0.27
1.43

0.1979

$ 8,530
1,681
3,252

$ 497
329
201

$ 1,027

$ 809
218

$ 1,027

2004

$ 9,778
$ 579
$ 487

—
109

$ 596

$ 1.01
—

0.22
1.23

0.1632

$ 8,668
836

4,081

$ 435
296
142

$ 873

$ 682
191

$ 873

2003

$ 8,712
$ 476
$ 380

—
122

$ 502

$ 0.76
—

0.25
1.01

0.1459

$ 8,177
1,391
3,838

$ 388
245
109

$ 742

$ 592
150

$ 742

2002

$ 8,222
$ 448
$ 365

—
(88)

$ 277

$ 0.71
—

(0.17)
0.54

0.1360

$ 8,296
1,553
3,573

$ 379
232
162

$ 773

$ 626
147

$ 773
(1) All fiscal years included 52 weeks, except for 2008 and 2002, which each included 53 weeks.
(2) Balances do not reflect the impact of discontinued operations.
(3) We adopted certain provisions of Accounting Standards Certification Topic 978 (previously Statement of Position 04-2, “Accounting for Real Estate Time Sharing Transactions”), in our 2006 first quarter, which we reported 

in our Income Statements as a cumulative effect of change in accounting principle.
(4) In 2002, we announced our intent to sell, and subsequently did sell, our Senior Living Services business and exited our Distribution Services business. In 2007, we exited our synthetic fuel business. These businesses are now 

reflected as discontinued operations.
(5) Includes the continental United States and Canada, except for 2011 which represents the United States and Canada.
(6) Represents fee revenue outside the continental United States and Canada, except for 2011 which represents fee revenue outside the United States and Canada.
(7) For periods prior to the stock dividends issued in the third and fourth quarters of 2009, all per share data have been retroactively adjusted to reflect the stock dividends. Additionally, for periods prior to 2006, all per share data 

have been retroactively adjusted to reflect the June 9, 2006, stock split effected in the form of a stock dividend.



96

NON-GAAP FINANCIAL MEASURES RECONCILIATIONS - UNAUDITED

We report certain financial measures that are not prescribed or authorized by U.S. generally accepted accounting 
principles (“GAAP”).  We discuss management's reasons for reporting these non-GAAP measures below, and the 
accompanying tables reconcile the most directly comparable GAAP measures to the non-GAAP measures (identified by a 
double asterisk) that we refer to.  Although management evaluates and presents these non-GAAP measures for the reasons 
described below, please be aware that these non-GAAP measures are not alternatives to revenue, operating income, income 
from continuing operations, net income, or any other comparable operating measure prescribed by GAAP.  In addition, these 
non-GAAP financial measures may be calculated and/or presented differently than measures with the same or similar names 
that are reported by other companies, and as a result, the non-GAAP measure we report may not be comparable to those 
reported by others.

Earnings Before Interest and Taxes  

Earnings Before Interest and Taxes (“EBIT”) reflects earnings excluding the impact of interest expense and tax expense. 
The calculation of EBIT adds back to income (loss) from continuing operations attributable to Marriott: 1) the provision 
(benefit) for income taxes; 2) the provision for income taxes related to noncontrolling interest in losses of consolidated 
subsidiaries; 3) interest expense; and 4) timeshare interest (for periods prior to the date of our spin-off of our timeshare 
operations and timeshare development business) representing previously capitalized interest that was a component of product 
cost. 

EBIT is used by analysts, lenders, investors and others, as well as by us, to evaluate companies because it excludes certain 
items that can vary widely across different industries or among companies within the same industry.  For example, interest 
expense can be dependent on a company's capital structure, debt levels and credit ratings.  Accordingly, the impact of interest 
expense on earnings can vary significantly among companies.  The tax positions of companies can vary because of their 
differing abilities to take advantage of tax benefits and because of the tax policies of the jurisdictions in which they operate.  As 
a result, effective tax rates and tax expense can vary considerably among companies.  

Return on Invested Capital 
 

Return on Invested Capital (“ROIC”) is calculated as EBIT, divided by average invested capital.  We consider ROIC to be 
a meaningful indicator of our operating performance, and we evaluate this metric because it measures how effectively we use 
the money invested in our lodging operations. 

The calculation of invested capital deducts from total assets: 1) current liabilities as they will be satisfied in the short 
term; 2) assets net of current liabilities associated with discontinued operations because the ROIC metric we analyze is related 
to our core lodging business (continuing operations); 3) deferred tax assets net of current deferred income tax liabilities because 
the numerator of the calculation is a pre-tax number; and 4) timeshare capitalized interest (for periods prior to the date of our 
spin-off of our timeshare operations and timeshare development business) because the numerator of the calculation is a pre-
interest expense number.
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RETURN ON INVESTED CAPITAL** - UNAUDITED
The reconciliations of income (loss) from continuing operations attributable to Marriott to earnings (losses) before interest expense and income taxes are as follows:

($ in millions)
Income (loss) from continuing operations
attributable to Marriott
Add:

Provision (benefit) for income taxes
Provision for income taxes related to
noncontrolling interest in losses of
consolidated subsidiaries
Interest expense
Timeshare interest 1

Earnings (losses) before interest expense and
income taxes **

 Fiscal
Year 2011

$ 198

158

—
164
11

$ 531

4
 Fiscal

Year 2010

$ 458

93

—
180
20

$ 751

 Fiscal
Year 2009

$ (346)

(65)

4
118
24

$ (265)

 Fiscal
Year 2008

$ 359

350

9
163
15

$ 896

 Fiscal
Year 2007

$ 697

441

—
184
24

$ 1,346

 Fiscal
Year 2006

$ 712

380

—
124
21

$ 1,237

 Fiscal
Year 2005

$ 543

284

—
106
24

$ 957

 Fiscal
Year 2004

$ 487

265

—
99
21

$ 872

 Fiscal
Year 2003

$ 380

202

—
110
21

$ 713

 Fiscal
Year 2002

$ 365

240

—
86
17

$ 708

The reconciliations of assets to invested capital are as follows:

($ in millions)
Assets
Add:
Current liabilities - discontinued operations
 Less:

Current liabilities, net of current portion of
long-term debt
Assets - discontinued operations
Deferred tax assets, net 2

Timeshare capitalized interest

Invested capital **

Average invested capital ** 3

Return on invested capital **

 Year-
End 2011
$ 5,910

—

(2,203)
—

(1,142)
—

$ 2,565

$ 3,991

13%

 Year-
End 2010
$ 8,983

—

(2,363)
—

(1,159)
(45)

$ 5,416

$ 5,354

14%

Beginning
of Year

2010
$ 8,903

—

(2,218)
—

(1,348)
(46)

$ 5,291

 Year-
End 2009
$ 7,933

—

(2,223)
—

(1,256)
(46)

$ 4,408

$ 4,970

(5)%

 Year-
End 2008
$ 8,903

3

(2,413)
—

(913)
(49)

$ 5,531

$ 5,425

17%

 Year-
End 2007
$ 8,942

13

(2,701)
(53)

(863)
(19)

$ 5,319

$ 5,240

26%

 Year-
End 2006
$ 8,588

55

(2,507)
(91)

(865)
(19)

$ 5,161

$ 5,390

23%

 Year-
End 2005
$ 8,530

63

(2,086)
(103)
(765)
(20)

$ 5,619

$ 5,831

16%

 Year-
End 2004
$ 8,668

82

(2,011)
(116)
(559)
(21)

$ 6,043

$ 5,943

15%

 Year-
End 2003
$ 8,177

16

(1,779)
(83)

(466)
(22)

$ 5,843

$ 5,695

13%

 Year-
End 2002
$ 8,296

380

(2,043)
(692)
(369)
(26)

$ 5,546

$ 5,948

12%

 Year-
End 2001
$ 9,107

367

(2,042)
(938)
(128)
(17)

$ 6,349

$ 5,955

10%
** Denotes a non-GAAP financial measure.
1 Timeshare interest represents (for periods prior to the date of our spin-off of our timeshare operations and timeshare development business) previously capitalized interest that was a component of product cost.
2  At year-end 2011, 2010, and 2009, “Deferred tax assets, net” was also net of “current deferred income tax liabilities” of $12 million, $19 million, and $19 million respectively.  Current deferred income tax
  liabilities were $0 for each prior year presented.
3 Calculated as "Invested capital" for the current year and prior year, divided by two, with the exception of 2010.  For comparability of beginning and ending 2010 balances, 2010 is the average of: 1) the 2010
  beginning balance (reflecting the impact of the adoption on the first day of fiscal year 2010 of ASU No. 2009-16 and ASU No. 2009-17); and 2) the Year-End 2010 balance. 
4 As discussed in more detail in Footnote No. 17, "Spin-off" of the Notes to our Financial Statements in this report, on November 21, 2011 we completed a spin-off of our timeshare operations and timeshare
  development business through a special tax-free dividend to our shareholders of all of the issued and outstanding common stock of our wholly owned subsidiary Marriott Vacations Worldwide Corporation
  (“MVW”).  As of the spin-off date, Marriott no longer beneficially owns any shares of MVW common stock and does not for periods after the spin-off date consolidate MVW’s financial results as part of Marriott’s
  financial reporting.  However, because of Marriott’s significant continuing involvement in MVW future operations (by virtue of the license and other agreements between Marriott and MVW), we continue to include
 our former Timeshare segment’s historical financial results for periods before the spin-off date in our historical financial results as a component of continuing operations.  The results for 2011 include the results of
 the former Timeshare segment prior to the spin-off date while results for all other fiscal years presented include the former Timeshare segment for those entire fiscal years.
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Adjusted Measures That Reflect The Timeshare Spin-off As If It Had Occurred On The First Day of 2010
(“Timeshare Spin-off Adjustments”)  

See Footnote No. 17, "Spin-off" of the Notes to our Financial Statements in this report for additional information on the 
spin-off of our timeshare operations and timeshare development business. In order to perform year-over-year comparisons on a 
comparable basis, management evaluates non-GAAP measures that, for periods prior to the spin-off date, assume the spin-off 
had occurred on the first day of 2010.  Please see the "Earnings Before Interest Expense, Taxes, Depreciation and Amortization 
(“EBITDA”) and Adjusted EBITDA" caption within the Management's Discussion and Analysis section of this report for 
additional information on the Timeshare Spin-off Adjustments. 

We provide the following adjusted measures that reflect Timeshare Spin-off Adjustments for illustrative and informational 
purposes only.  These adjusted measures are not necessarily indicative of, and do not purport to represent, what our operating 
results would have been had the spin-off actually occurred on the first day of 2010. This information also does not reflect 
certain financial and operating benefits we expect to realize as a result of the spin-off.  For additional information on the nature 
of the Timeshare Spin-off Adjustments, see the Form 8-K we filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on November 
21, 2011 upon completion of the spin-off. 

Adjusted Measures That Exclude Other Charges And Certain Tax items

Management evaluates non-GAAP measures that exclude $28 million of other charges for 2011, $98 million of other 
charges for 2010, and certain tax items including an $85 million benefit recorded for income tax in 2010 because those non-
GAAP measures allow for period-over-period comparisons of our on-going core operations before the impact of material 
charges. These non-GAAP measures also facilitate management's comparison of results from our on-going operations before 
material charges with results from other lodging companies. Please see the "Earnings Before Interest Expense, Taxes, 
Depreciation and Amortization (“EBITDA”) and Adjusted EBITDA" caption within the Management's Discussion and 
Analysis section of this report for additional information on these 2011 and 2010 other charges. Certain tax items reflect the tax 
impact of the other charges of $28 million in 2011 and $98 million in 2010. Additionally, certain tax items in 2010 also reflect 
an $85 million decrease in tax expense we recorded in the 2010 fourth quarter for a settlement with the Appeals Division of the 
IRS that resolved all issues that arose in the audit of tax years 2005 through 2008. This settlement was due to the release of 
previously established tax liabilities for the treatment of funds received from certain non-U.S. subsidiaries. 
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ADJUSTED RESULTS** - UNAUDITED

The reconciliations of our reported results to our adjusted results are as follows:

(in millions, except per share amounts)

REVENUES
Base management fees
Franchise fees
Incentive management fees
Owned, leased, corporate housing and other
revenue
Timeshare sales and services
Cost reimbursements
   Total Revenues

OPERATING COSTS AND EXPENSES
Owned, leased and corporate housing - direct
Timeshare - direct
Timeshare strategy - impairment charges
Reimbursed costs
General, administrative and other
   Total Expenses

OPERATING INCOME (LOSS)

(Losses) gains and other income
Interest expense
Interest income
Equity in losses

INCOME (LOSS) BEFORE INCOME TAXES

(Provision) benefit for income taxes

NET INCOME (LOSS)

EARNINGS (LOSSES) PER SHARE - Diluted
   Earnings (losses) per share 1

Diluted Shares

As Reported
52 Weeks Ended

December 30, 2011

$ 602
506
195

1,083
1,088
8,843

12,317

943
929
324

8,843
752

11,791

526

(7)
(164)

14
(13)

356

(158)

$ 198

$ 0.55

362.3

Timeshare
Spin-off

Adjustments2

$ (56)
60
—

—
(1,088)

(268)
(1,352)

—
(929)
(324)
(268)
(99)

(1,620)

268

(3)
29
10
(4)

300

(40)

$ 260

$ 0.72

362.3

Other Charges
and 

Certain Tax Items

$ —
—
—

—
—
—
—

—
—
—
—

(10)
(10)

10

18
—
—
—

28

(11)

$ 17

$ 0.05

362.3

As Adjusted
52 Weeks Ended

December 30, 2011 **

$ 546
566
195

1,083
—

8,575
10,965

943
—
—

8,575
643

10,161

804

8
(135)

24
(17)

684

(209)

$ 475

$ 1.31

362.3

As Reported
52 Weeks Ended

December 31, 2010

$ 562
441
182

1,046
1,221
8,239

11,691

955
1,022

—
8,239

780
10,996

695

35
(180)

19
(18)

551

(93)

$ 458

$ 1.21

378.3

Timeshare
Spin-off

Adjustments2

$ (60)
64
—

—
(1,221)

(251)
(1,468)

—
(1,022)

—
(251)
(89)

(1,362)

(106)

(20)
43
10
(3)

(76)

29

$ (47)

$ (0.12)

378.3

Other Charges
and 

Certain Tax Items

$ —
—
—

—
—
—
—

—
—
—
—

(98)
(98)

98

—
—
—
—

98

(123)

$ (25)

$ (0.07)

378.3

As Adjusted
52 Weeks Ended

December 31, 2010 **

$ 502
505
182

1,046
—

7,988
10,223

955
—
—

7,988
593

9,536

687

15
(137)

29
(21)

573

(187)

$ 386

$ 1.02

378.3

** Denotes a non-GAAP financial measure.
1   Earnings per share plus adjustment items may not equal earnings per share as adjusted due to rounding.
2   Adjusted results are presented as if the Timeshare spin-off had occurred on January 2, 2010.
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MANAGEMENT'S RESPONSIBILITY FOR FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Management of Marriott International, Inc. is responsible for the integrity and objectivity of the consolidated financial 
statements and other financial information presented in this annual report. In meeting this responsibility, we maintain a highly 
developed system of internal controls, policies and procedures, including an internal auditing function.

The consolidated financial statements have been audited by Ernst & Young LLP, independent registered public accounting 
firm.  Its report expresses an opinion as to whether management's financial statements fairly present, in all material respects, 
our consolidated financial position, results of operations and cash flows in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting 
principles.

 
The Board of Directors fulfills its responsibility for the financial statements through its Audit Committee, composed of 

three directors that are independent of the Company. The committee meets a minimum of four times during the year with the 
independent registered public accounting firm, representatives of management and the internal auditors to review the scope and 
results of the internal and external audits, the accounting principles applied in financial reporting, and financial and operational 
controls. The independent registered public accounting firm and internal auditors have unrestricted access to the Audit 
Committee, with or without the presence of management. 

MANAGEMENT’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

Management of Marriott International, Inc. (the “Company”) is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate 
internal control over financial reporting and for the assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting. 
The Company’s internal control over financial reporting is designed to provide reasonable assurance on the reliability of 
financial reporting and the preparation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with U.S. generally accepted 
accounting principles.

The Company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that: (1) pertain to the 
maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the Company’s transactions and dispositions of 
the Company’s assets; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of the 
consolidated financial statements in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and 
expenditures of the Company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of the Company’s management and 
directors; and (3) provide reasonable assurance on prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition 
of the Company’s assets that could have a material effect on the consolidated financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. 
Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become 
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In connection with the preparation of the Company’s annual consolidated financial statements, management has 
undertaken an assessment of the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 30, 
2011, based on criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring 
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (the “COSO criteria”).

Based on this assessment, management has concluded that, applying the COSO criteria, as of December 30, 2011, the 
Company’s internal control over financial reporting was effective to provide reasonable assurance of the reliability of financial 
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with U.S. generally accepted 
accounting principles.

Ernst & Young LLP, the independent registered public accounting firm that audited the Company’s consolidated financial 
statements included in this report, has issued an attestation report on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over 
financial reporting, a copy of which appears on the next page of this annual report.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Shareholders of Marriott International, Inc.:
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Marriott International, Inc. as of December 30, 2011 

and December 31, 2010, and the related consolidated statements of income, comprehensive income, shareholders’ equity, and 
cash flows for each of the three fiscal years in the period ended December 30, 2011. These financial statements are the 
responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on 
our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United 
States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial 
statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates 
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a 
reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial 
position of Marriott International, Inc. at December 30, 2011 and December 31, 2010, and the consolidated results of its 
operations and its cash flows for each of the three fiscal years in the period ended December 30, 2011, in conformity with U.S. 
generally accepted accounting principles.

As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company changed its method of accounting for its 
qualified special purpose entities associated with past securitization transactions as a result of the adoption of Accounting 
Standards Update No. 2009-16, "Transfers and Servicing (Topic 860): Accounting for Transfers of Financial Assets" and 
Accounting Standards Update No. 2009-17, "Consolidations (Topic 810): Improvements to Financial Reporting by Enterprises 
Involved with Variable Interest Entities," effective January 2, 2010.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United 
States), Marriott International, Inc.’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 30, 2011, based on criteria 
established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway 
Commission and our report dated February 16, 2012, expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.
 

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP
McLean, Virginia
February 16, 2012 
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Shareholders of Marriott International, Inc.:
We have audited Marriott International, Inc.’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 30, 2011, based on 

criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the 
Treadway Commission (the COSO criteria). Marriott International, Inc.’s management is responsible for maintaining effective 
internal control over financial reporting, and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting 
included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to 
express an opinion on the company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United 
States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective 
internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding 
of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design 
and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we 
considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the 
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures 
that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and 
dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit 
preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and 
expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the 
company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or 
disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. 
Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become 
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, Marriott International, Inc. maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial 
reporting as of December 30, 2011, based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United 
States), the consolidated balance sheets of Marriott International, Inc. as of December 30, 2011 and December 31, 2010, and 
the related consolidated statements of income, comprehensive income, shareholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the 
three fiscal years in the period ended December 30, 2011 of Marriott International, Inc. and our report dated February 16, 2012 
expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.
 

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP
McLean, Virginia
February 16, 2012 
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What’s in a name? For us, marriott represents the name of our founders and our 

CEO of the past 40 years — J.W. “Bill” Marriott, Jr. But the name marriott means 

so much more. It represents the standards of excellence and genuine hospitality 

that you’ll find in our 3,700 hotels in 73 countries and territories. The name is 

synonymous with the core values that have propelled our success and innovation 

for nearly 85 years. Values such as putting people first and serving our world. 

marriott is also about embracing change and investing in the future. In 2011, 

we welcomed major transitions in our company, as we announced the spin-off 

of our timeshare business as well as the third CEO in our company’s history. 

We remain marriott to our core. And for us, that means being the world’s best 

hospitality company to our guests, owners and franchisees, shareholders and our 

associates while remaining true to a purpose that we believe will deliver success:  

Opening Doors to a World of Opportunity. 

For more information go to http://www.marriott.com/marriott/aboutmarriott.mi

Marriott® to Our Core
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With our commitment to preserving the environment and all of its natural resources,
this report is printed with soy ink on paper certified to the FSC standards.
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